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THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
Applicant

and

2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN
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(Court seal)

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

TO THE RESPONDENT
A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the applicant. The claim made by the
applicant appears on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing

O In person
[ By telephone conference
X By video conference
before a judge presiding over the Commercial List on August 30, 2022 at 9:30 a.m., or as soon after that
time as the matter can be heard, via Zoom coordinates to be provided.

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in the application or
to be served with any documents in the application, you or an Ontario lawyer acting for you must forthwith

prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, serve it on the
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applicant’s lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it,
with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your lawyer must appear at the hearing.

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE TO THE
COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE APPLICATION, you or
your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of appearance, serve a copy of the evidence on the
applicant’s lawyer or, where the applicant does not have a lawyer, serve it on the applicant, and file it,
with proof of service, in the court office where the application is to be heard as soon as possible, but at
least four days before the hearing.

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN YOUR
ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS
APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID MAY BE AVAILABLE
TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

Digitally signed by

G urwin de rJ It Gurwinderjit Singh Brar
Date: 2022.08.12 15:37:29

Date seegestidmpns Issued by SmghBrar ......... 0400

2022-AUG-12 Local registrar
Address of

court office . 330 University Avenue
Toronto, ON M5G 1R7..

TO 2314251 ONTARIO INC.
81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario M2N 1Y8
Attention: Mohammad Abdul Hafiz

AND TO: MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ
81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario M2N 1Y8

AND TO: KAWSER ZAHAN
81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario
M2N 1Y8
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APPLICATION

1. The applicant, The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD Bank”), makes application for, amongst other
things:

a) if necessary, abridging the time for service and filing of this notice of application and the
application record or, in the alternative, dispensing with and/or validating service of same;

b) the appointment of msi Spergel Inc. (“msi Spergel”) as receiver (in such capacity, the
“Receiver”), without security, of all the assets, properties and undertakings (collectively,
the “Property”) of 2314251 Ontario Inc. (the “Debtor”), including, without limitation, the
real property located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton West, Ontario;

C) Judgments against each of Mohammad Abdul Hafiz (“Hafiz”) and Kawser Zahan
(“Zahan” and, together with Hafiz, the “Guarantors”) in accordance with their joint and
several guarantee obligations to TD Bank for:

i) payment of $2,400,143.52; and

i) pre-judgment interest on the sum in sub-paragraph 1.c)i) from July 11, 2022, and
post-judgment interest, at a rate equal to TD Bank’s Prime Rate plus 1.5% per
annum; or

iii) in the alternative to sub-paragraph 1.c)ii), pre-judgment interest from July 11, 2022,
and post-judgment interest, in accordance with sections 128 and 129 of the Courts
of Justice Act; and

d) such further and other relief as is just.

2. The grounds for the application are:
a) the Debtor is an Ontario corporation with its head office at 81 Churchill Avenue, North
York, Ontario;
b) each Guarantor is a 50% owner, officer and director of the Debtor;

C) the Debtor’s business is the operation of an ESSO gas station at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton
West, Ontario;

d) according to information it supplied, the Debtor has about three employees;

e) Pursuant a letter of agreement dated November 17, 2021 (the “Credit Agreement”), TD
Bank provided the Debtor with a demand operating facility to fund day-to-day working
capital (the “Operating Facility””) and a term loan to refinance existing loans (the “Term
Loan”);

f) as security for the loans to be made by TD Bank, the Debtor delivered, among other things,
the following security documents:
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)} a collateral mortgage in the principal sum of $2,500,000 on the property of the
Debtor located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton West, which mortgage was registered
on title on January 4, 2022; and

i) a General Security Agreement dated December 6, 2021, perfected by registration
under the Personal Property Security Act on December 7, 2021 (the “GSA”);

)] by unlimited guarantees dated December 6, 2021, each of the Guarantors jointly and
severally guaranteed payment of all the obligations of the Debtor to TD Bank plus interest
thereon from the date of demand at a rate equal to the highest rate charged on any of the
guaranteed obligations plus all amounts owed by the Debtor for fees, costs and expenses;

h) the guarantee from Zahan is supported by a Certificate of Independent Legal Advice;

)} pursuant to a Postponement and Assignment of Creditors Claim and Postponement of
Security made December 6, 2021, the Guarantors: (i) agreed to postpone repayment of any
debts owed to them by the Debtor; (ii) subordinated any security held by the Guarantors
over the Debtor or its assets; and (iii) assigned to TD Bank any claims they may have
against the Debtor;

1) the Credit Agreement contains, among others, the following Debtor covenants:
)] to provide prompt notice of any event of default or event that will cause a material
adverse change in the financial condition, business operations or prospects of the
Debtor;

i) to advise within 10 days of the non-renewal of any fuel supply contract;
iii) to maintain all material contracts in good standing; and
iv) to provide annual review engagement financial statements;

k) the Credit Agreement further contains standard events of default which included:

) if any representation, warranty or statement of the Debtor made in connection with
the delivery of the Credit Agreement was false or misleading;

i) if there was a breach or non-performance or non-observance of any term or
condition of the Credit Agreement; and

i) if, in TD Bank’s determination, a material adverse change occurred in the financial
condition, business operations or prospects of the Debtor;

) as required by the Credit Agreement, in the late spring of 2022, the Debtor delivered to TD
Bank review engagement financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021,
purportedly issued by an accounting firm known as Fareed Sheik LLP (the “2021
Financials”);

m) when TD Bank reviewed the 2021 Financials and noted they were missing a cash flow
statement, it contacted the issuing accounting firm who advised that the firm had no record
of the Debtor as a client, or of preparing any financial statements for the Debtor, and that
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the firm had discontinued use of name on the letterhead of the 2021 Financials four or five
years earlier;

n) TD Bank had relied on 2019 and 2020 financial statements on the same firm letterhead for
the Debtor’s loan application and approvals prior to entering into the Credit Agreement;

0) the Debtor had therefore provided to TD Bank false financial reporting in the form of
falsified and misleading accounting firm documents;

p) a subsequent site visit to the Debtor’s gas station revealed that there was no gas being
offered for sale and that a sign was posted stating: “Sorry we don’t have any gas. We have
had no gas since January and we don’t know when we will get it again.”

q) at no time had the Debtor advised TD Bank of the discontinuance of its gas station
operations, or of any termination of any fuel contract, all of which were covenant
obligations of under the Credit Agreement;

r as a result, TD Bank determined that there had been a material adverse change in the
circumstances of the debtor’s business and prospects as well as other events of default
under the terms of the Credit Agreement;

S) accordingly, on July 11, 2022, TD Bank, through its lawyers, delivered a formal demand
for payment upon the Debtor, accompanied by a 10-day notice of intention to enforce the
security in accordance with Section 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act;

t) on the same date TD Bank, through its lawyers, caused to be delivered formal demand
upon each of the Guarantors, which demands triggered the Guarantors’ obligations to pay
TD Bank;

u) as at the date of the demands, $2,400,143.52 plus legal costs was due and owing by the
Debtor to TD Bank;

V) the Operating Facility is repayable upon demand and the Term Loan is repayable upon the
occurrence of an event of default;

w) TD Bank has received no payment on account of the demands;

X) non-payment upon demand constitutes a further event of default under the Credit
Agreement;

y) the business of the Debtor has been compromised and intervention will be necessary in
order to attempt to preserve its business value and the value of TD Bank’s security;

Z) it would be just and convenient to appoint a receiver over the Debtor and the Property in
order to obtain true financial information, potentially restore the gas station operations
through re-establishment of fuel contracts, and maximize the business and enterprise value
for creditors;

aa) under the GSA, TD Bank has the right to appoint or seek the appointment of a receiver
upon the occurrence of an event of default;
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bb)

cC)

dd)

ee)

ff)

99)
hh)

i)

in

under the terms of each of the Guarantees, TD Bank is not obligated to exhaust its recourses
against the Debtor or the other Guarantor, or in respect of any security TD Bank holds,
before being entitled payment from a Guarantor

the Debtor was referred to TD Bank, along with financing of a number of other gas stations,
by a real estate broker who claimed to specialize in gas stations;

TD Bank has identified five other separate corporate borrowers involved with the same
real estate broker where the accountant identified on the financial statements of the
borrower has advised that they did not prepare such statements;

accordingly TD Bank expects to bring forward five more receivership applications
involving different parties but sharing similar circumstances and businesses;

the other grounds set out in the affidavit of Amanda Bezner, sworn on or about July 28,
2022 in support of the within application (the “Bezner Affidavit”);

subsection 243(1) of the BIA;
section 101 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, as amended:;

rules 1.04, 2.01, 2.03, 3.02, 16, 38 and 41 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990,
Reg. 194, as amended; and

such further grounds as are required and this Court may permit.

3. The following documentary evidence will be used at the hearing of the application:

a) the Bezner Affidavit;

b) the consent of msi Spergel to act as the Receiver; and

C) such other material as is required and this Court may permit.
August 11, 2022 AIRD & BERLIS LLP

Barristers & Solicitors
Brookfield Place

181 Bay Street, Suite 1800
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2T9

Kyle Plunkett (LSO # 61044N)
Tel: (416) 865-3406

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com

D. Robb English (LSO # 19862F)
Tel: (416) 865-4748

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: renglish@airdberlis.com

Lawyers for The Toronto-Dominion Bank
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Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
Applicant

-and -

2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN
Respondents
APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND

INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE
COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

AFFIDAVIT OF AMANDA BEZNER
(SWORN JULY 28, 2022)

I, AMANDA BEZNER, of the City of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario do make oath

and say as follows:

1. I am an account manager in the employ of The Toronto Dominion Bank (“TD Bank™) in
its Financial Restructuring Group and | am the person at TD Bank currently having the primary
responsibility for the management of its loan to the Respondent 2314251 Ontario Inc. (“231”).

2. I make this affidavit in good faith and based upon my information knowledge and belief,
or where indicated based upon the information of others which information I do believe.
The Loan

3. Now shown to me and marked as Exhibit A to this my affidavit is a true copy of a corporate

profile report of 231 reflecting that 231 is a company incorporated pursuant to the laws of the
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Province of Ontario with its head office at 81 Churchill Avenue, North York, Ontario, and for
which the officers and directors are Mohammad Abdul Hafiz (“Hafiz”) and Kawser Zahan
(“Zahan”).

4, The business of 231 was and is the operation of a gas station at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton,
Ontario. This gas station sold gasoline and other products under the Esso banner, and has an

associated convenience store.

5. In late 2021, 231 approached TD Bank for the purpose of securing the refinancing of its
business. This ultimately resulted in the establishment of credit facilities by TD Bank for 231
pursuant to a letter of agreement between TD Bank and 231, as well as Eglinton Petroleum Limited
and 2470291 Ontario Inc. dated November 17, 2021, a true copy of which, with customer account

numbers redacted, is appended as Exhibit B hereto.

6. Although Eglinton Petroleum Limited was meant to be a party to the loan agreement, it
never fulfilled the conditions precedent to its credit facilities, and ultimately no loans were made
to that entity. The loan facilities which were established in favour of 2470291 Ontario Inc. were
subsequently repaid in full and terminated, and accordingly, the sole remaining borrower under

the letter of agreement is 231.

7. The letter of agreement between TD Bank and 231 contains inter alia, the following

relevant terms:

@ a covenant of the borrower to provide notice of any material events to the Lender;

(b) a covenant of the borrower to advise the Bank within 10 days of the non-renewal
of any fuel supply contract;

(©) the requirement to provide annual review engagement financial statements;
(d) a requirement to maintain all material contracts in good standing; and

(e the obligation to provide prompt advice to TD Bank of any material adverse change
in its business.

8. The letter of agreement further contains standard events of default which included:
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@ if any representation, warranty or statement made in connection with the delivery
of the loan agreement was false or misleading;

(b) if there was a breach or non-performance or non-observance of any term or
condition of the loan agreement; and

(©) in the Bank’s determination a material adverse change occurred in the financial
condition, business operations or prospects of the borrower.

The Security
9. As security for the loans to be made by TD Bank to 231, 231 delivered, inter alia, the

following security documents:

@ Collateral Mortgage in the principal sum of $2,500,000 upon the property of 231 at
26233 Highway 48, Sutton West, registered on January 4, 2022 as Instrument No.
YR3362192, a copy of which is appended as Exhibit C hereto;

(b) a General Assignment of Rents upon the same property registered on January 4,
2022 as YR3362193, a copy of which is appended as Exhibit D hereto;

(©) a General Security Agreement dated December 6, 2021, a copy of which is
appended as Exhibit E hereto.

10.  The General Security Agreement held by the Toronto Dominion Bank, as well as the
Assignment of Rents, were perfected through registration under the Personal Property Security
Act by registrations made December 7, 2021, which is reflected by a certified PPSA search report
with a file currency dated June 26, 2022 appended as Exhibit F hereto.

11.  The PPSA report discloses that there are also registrations in favour of Bank of Montreal,
which was a prior lender of 231. It is my understanding, that Bank of Montreal’s registrations
were to be discharged and that there is not expected to be any amount outstanding and owing to
Bank of Montreal under this security, but this has to be confirmed, accordingly, they will receive

notice of these proceedings.

12.  Shown to me and marked as Exhibit G is a true copy of the parcel register for the lands and
premises and known municipally as 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario. The parcel register
reflects the registration of TD Bank’s mortgage and assignment of rents. The parcel register also

discloses that there exists a prior charge in favour of Parkland Fuel Corporation, in the face amount
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of $300,000. It was my understanding that the Bank’s mortgage was intended to be a first
mortgage, and enquiries are being made as to whether there is any balance remaining outstanding

under this prior charge.

13. In connection with the loan facilities in favour of 231, TD Bank received two guarantees
being:

@ an unlimited guarantee dated December 6, 2021 from Hafiz, a copy of which is
appended as Exhibit H hereto; and

(b) an unlimited guarantee dated December 6, 2021 granted by Zahan, a copy of which
is appended as Exhibit | hereto.

The Defaults

14.  Asrequired by the letter of agreement, in the late spring of 2022, 231 delivered to TD Bank
its review engagement financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021. These financial
statements were purported to have been issued by an accounting firm known as Fareed Sheik LLP,

and a copy of these financial statements is appended as Exhibit J hereto (the “2021 financials”).

15.  When TD Bank reviewed the 2021 financials provided, it was noted that there was no cash
flow statement contained within the document. Accordingly, Matteo Crispino, an employee of the
Vaughan Commercial Bank Centre of TD Bank, contacted the issuing accounting firm. The
principal of this firm, Mr. Fareed Sheik, advised that bank representative that his accounting firm
had no record of 231 being a client, or of preparing any financial statements for that entity. Mr.
Sheik further advised that the name used on the financial statements of Fareed Sheik LLP was a
name that had discontinued some four or five years earlier, and that the accounting firm was now
known as Fareed Sheik & Co. TD Bank had relied on 2019 and 2020 financial statements on the
same letterhead of Fareed Sheik LLP for the loan application and approvals.

16. It thus appears that the financial information that was provided were false and misleading
documents and that the bank was being presented with false financial reporting as the accounting

firm denied issuing such statements or having 231 as a client.

17. Following this discovery, on June 23, 2022, a bank representative, Syed Qasim Barakat,
attended for a site visit at the business premises of 231 at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario. At
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that time it was confirmed by Mr. Barakat that there was no gas being offered for sale at the gas
station. A sign had been placed in the window of the premises stating “Sorry we don’t have any
gas. We have had no gas since January and we don’t know when we will get it again.” A
photograph of that sign is attached as Exhibit K hereto.

18. At the time of the site visit, Mr. Barakat did confirm that the convenience store operations

were open and continuing although no gas was being sold.

19.  Atnotime had 231 advised TD Bank of the discontinuance of its gas station operations, or
of any termination of any fuel contract, all of which were obligations of under the loan agreement.

20.  As aresult, TD Bank determined that there had been a material adverse change in the
circumstances of the debtor’s business and prospects as well as other events of default under the
terms of the letter agreement respecting its loans with 231. Accordingly, on July 11, 2022, TD
Bank, through its solicitors, delivered a formal demand for payment upon 231, and a 10 day notice
of intention to enforce the security granted to the bank by 231 in accordance with Section 244(1)
of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. Now shown to me and marked Exhibit L hereto is a true

copy of the aforesaid demand and notice of intention to enforce security.

21.  On the same date of July 11, 2022 the Bank, through its solicitors, caused to be delivered
formal demand upon each of the guarantors, Hafiz and Zahan, and copies of those demands are

appended as Exhibits M and N, respectively, hereto.

The Demands

22.  AsatJuly 11, 2022, the amount outstanding due and owing from 231 to TD Bank was in
the amount $2,400,143.52 as set forth in the demands aforesaid. TD Bank has received no payment

on account of these demands as of the date hereof, and no response from the debtors.

23. Based upon the information in its credit application | believe that 231 has about three

employees, and that there is no union contract relating to its business operations.

24, It is worthwhile to note that the 231 re-financing was referred to TD Bank, along with a
number of other gas stations, by a real estate broker who claims to specialize in gas stations. TD
Bank has identified five other borrowers, being separate corporate borrowers, involved with the
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same person, where the accountant identified on the financial statements of the borrower has
advised that they did not prepare such statements. Accordingly TD Bank expects to bring forward -
5 more receivership applications involving different parties but sharing similar circumstances and

businesses.

The Request for a Receiver

25.  Itis apparent that the business of the debtor is and has been compromised, and intervention
will be necessary in order to attempt to preserve its business value and the value of the Bank’s
security. It is the bank’s belief that it would be just and convenient to appoint a receiver over the
business and affairs of the debtor in order to obtain true financial information, to potentially restore
the gas station operations through re-establishment of fuel contracts, and to maximize the business

and enterprise value for creditors.

26.  msi Spergel Inc. is qualified to act as receiver, is familiar with the debtor’s business, and

has consented to act as receiver if so appointed by the Court.

27. ALL OF WHICH IS SWORN BY ME in good faith.

SWORN remotely by Amanda Bezner at the City )
of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, before me )
on July 28,2022 in accordance with O. Reg. )
431/20, Administering Oath or Declaration )
Remotely. )

)

HABy

. Amanda Béznér

N S’

Signature of Commissioner (or as may be)
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This is Exhibit “A” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
Sworn July 28 , 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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Ontario @

Profile Report

2314251 ONTARIO INC. as of June 27, 2022

Act

Type

Name

Ontario Corporation Number (OCN)
Governing Jurisdiction

Status

Date of Incorporation

Registered or Head Office Address

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

15

Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Ministry of Government and
Consumer Services

Business Corporations Act

Ontario Business Corporation

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2314251

Canada - Ontario

Active

January 24, 2012

81 Churchill Avenue, North York, Ontario, Canada, M2N 1Y8

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 1 of 7
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Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Active Director(s)

Minimum Number of Directors 1

Maximum Number of Directors 10

Name Mohammad Abdul HAFIZ

Address for Service 81 Churchill Avenue, North York, Ontario, Canada, M2N 1Y8
Resident Canadian Yes

Date Began April 19, 2018

Name Kawser ZAHAN

Address for Service 81 Churchill Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M2N 1Y8
Resident Canadian Yes

Date Began May 27, 2016

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 2 of 7



Active Officer(s)
Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Name

Position

Address for Service
Date Began

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar
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Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Mohammad Abdul HAFIZ

President

81 Churchill Avenue, North York, Ontario, Canada, M2N 1Y8
April 19, 2018

Kawser ZAHAN

Secretary

81 Churchill Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M2N 1Y8
May 27, 2016

Kawser ZAHAN

Treasurer

81 Churchill Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M2N 1Y8
May 27, 2016

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.

Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 3 of 7



18

Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Corporate Name History
Name 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Effective Date January 24, 2012

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 4 of 7



19

Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Active Business Names
This corporation does not have any active business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 5 of 7
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Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Expired or Cancelled Business Names
This corporation does not have any expired or cancelled business names registered under the Business Names Act in Ontario.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quoimoniatlo- W)
Director/Registrar
This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 6 of 7
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Transaction Number: APP-903749717413
Report Generated on June 27, 2022, 18:40

Document List
Filing Name Effective Date

CIA - Notice of Change April 19, 2018
PAF: JOEL HENRY MIXA - OTHER

CIA - Notice of Change May 27, 2016
PAF: NOREEN ASGHAR - DIRECTOR

CIA - Notice of Change May 12, 2016
PAF: NOREEN ASGHAR - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2015 May 08, 2016
PAF: FARZAD AFSHAR - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2014 July 18, 2015
PAF: FARZAD AFSHAR - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2013 September 06, 2014
PAF: FARZAD AFSHAR - DIRECTOR

Annual Return - 2012 July 06, 2013
PAF: FARZAD AFSHAR - DIRECTOR

CIA - Initial Return January 24, 2012
PAF: FARZAD AFSHAR - DIRECTOR

BCA - Articles of Incorporation January 24, 2012

All “PAF" (person authorizing filing) information is displayed exactly as recorded in the Ontario Business Registry. Where PAF is
not shown against a document, the information has not been recorded in the Ontario Business Registry.

Certified a true copy of the record of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services.

V. Quimfonidhe- W) -

Director/Registrar

This report sets out the most recent information filed on or after june 27, 1992 in respect of corporations and April 1, 1994 in respect of Business Names Act and Limited Partnerships Act filings
and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry as of the date and time the report is generated, unless the report is generated for a previous date. If this report is generated
for a previous date, the report sets out the most recent information filed and recorded in the electronic records maintained by the Ministry up to the “as of” date indicated on the report.
Additional historical information may exist in paper or microfiche format.

Page 7 of 7
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This is Exhibit “B” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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TEL E Commercial Banking

VAUGHAN COMMERCIAL BANKING CENTRE
2300 STEELES AVE WEST 2 FLOOR SUITE
200

VAUGHAN, ON

L4K 5X6

Tel: (905) 660-6529
Fax: (905) 660-5942

November 17, 2021

EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED
2871 EGLINTON AVE E

NORTH YORK ON

M1J 2E3

Attention: Mohammad Hafiz

Dear Mr. Hafiz

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

We are pleased to offer the Borrower the following credit facilities (the "Facilities"), subject to the following
terms and conditions.

BORROWER(S):
EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED Borrower (A)
2314251 ONTARIO INC. Borrower (B)
2470291 ONTARIO INC. Borrower (C)

EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED, 2314251 ONTARIO INC. and 2470291 ONTARIO INC. (collectively
referred to herein as the 'Borrower")

LENDER

The Toronto-Dominion Bank (the "Bank"), through its VAUGHAN COMMERCIAL BANKING CENTRE
in VAUGHAN, ONTARIO

CREDIT LIMIT

/
1) CAD $125,000 (Borrower A) @\LK
J

'N
1
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2) CAD $7,400,000 (Borrower A)
3) CAD $75,000 (Borrower B)
4) CAD $2,500,000 (Borrower B)
5) CAD $1,700,000 (Borrower C)
8) CAD $60,000 (Borrower C)

TYPE OF CREDIT AND BORROWING QPTIONS

1, 3,6) Operating Loan available at the Borrower's option by way of.
s Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ('Prime Based Loans")
2,4,5) Committed Reducing Term Facility Single Draw available at the Borrower's option by way

of:
o Fixed Rate Term Loan in CAD$
o Floating Rate Term Loan available by way of:
o Prime Rate Based Loans in CAD$ ('Prime Based Loans')
PURPOSE

1) To provide day-to-day working capital financing for Borrower A

2) To refinance the Esso Gasoline Station located at 2871 Eglinton Avenue East Toronto,
ON.

3) To provide day-to-day working capital financing for Borrower B

4) To refinance the Esso Gasoline Station located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, ON.

5) To refinance the Pioneer Gas Station located at 2 Matthew Street, Marmora, ON.

8) To provide day-to-day working capital financing for Borrower C

,B8)  Uncommitted
5) Committed

CONTRACTUAL TERM

1,3,6) NoTerm
2,4,5) Upon Drawdown, the lesser of 5 years or the Rate Term as selected by the Borrower

RATE TERM (FIXED RATE TERM LOAN)

2,4, Fixed Rate: 6 months to 5 years but never to exceed the Contractual Term Maturity Date
5) Floating Rate: No Term
AMORTIZATION

2) 20 years from Drawdown Date
4) 10 years from Drawdown Date

24
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5) 12 years from Drawdown Date

INTEREST RATES AND FEES

Advances shall bear interest and fees as follows:

1,3,8) Operating Loan:
e Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate +1.500% per annum
2,4,5) Committed Reducing Term Facility:
o Fixed Rate Term Loans: As determined by the Bank, in its sole discretion, for the Rate
Term selected by the Borrower, and as set out in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice
applicable to that Fixed Rate Term Loan.
o Floating Rate Term Loans available by way of:
o Prime Based Loans: Prime Rate +1.500% per anhum

For all Facilities, interest payments will be made in accordance with Schedule 'A' attached hereto unless
otherwise stated in this Letter or in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice applicable for a particular
drawdown. Information on interest rate and fee definitions, interest rate calculations and payment are set
out in the Schedule ‘A" attached hereto.

ARRANGEMENT FEE

1) The Borrower has paid or will pay prior to the Drawdown a non-refundable
arrangement fee of CAD $60:808 $70,000 upon the completion of Sutton Esso and Marmora Pioneer.
$30,000 will be paid upon the completion of Eglinton Esso.%

ADMINISTRATION FEE @

1)  CAD $200 Monthly

REVIEWAL FEE

$5,000 per annum
EXCESS MONITORING FEE

The Borrower may, at the Bank’s discretion, be charged an Excess Monitoring Fee of $350.00 payable in
the currency of the Facility, each time that the Credit Limit of a Facility is exceeded. Any extension of
credit above the Credit Limit will be at the Bank’s sole and absolute discretion,

LATE REPORTING FEE

The Borrower may, at the Bank's e charged an Excess Monitoring Fee of $250 payable in the currency of
the facility, each time that the reporting covenants herein are not met.

qh

3 %
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DRAWDOWN

Assigned Description
Facilities
1,3,8)  On a revolving basis, upon satisfaction of disbursement conditions.

2) One time drawdown upon satisfaction of disbursements conditions prior to March 31, 2022,
after which time any amount not drawn is cancelled. Drawdown to be limited to payout RBC 1st
mortgage {current balance at funding and closing costs verified via BMO payout statement)
subject to 62% of lower of appraisal & EMV, as reduced pursuant to the Repayment and
Reduction of Amount of Credit Facility Section.

4) One time drawdown upon satisfaction of disbursements conditions prior to December 31, 2021,
after which time any amount not drawn is cancelled. Drawdown to be limited to payout RBC 1st
mortgage (current balance at funding and closing costs verified via RBC payout statement)
subject to 50% of lower of appraisal & EMV, as reduced pursuant to the Repayment and
Reduction of Amount of Credit Facility Section.

5) One time drawdown upon satisfaction of disbursements conditions prior to December 31, 2021,
after which time any amount not drawn is cancelled. Drawdown to be limited to payout RBC 1st
mortgage (current balance at funding and closing costs verified via BMO payout statement)
subject to 33% of lower of appraisal & EMV, as reduced pursuant to the Repayment and
Reduction of Amount of Credit Facility Section.

OVERDRAFTS

1) The Borrower will have access to Prime Based Loans under the Operating Loan via
overdraft from Account Number |l at Branch 1482 (the "Account”) up to the Credit
Limit.

3) The Borrower will have access to Prime Based Loans under the Operating Loan via
overdraft from Account Number |l at Branch 1482 (the "Account") up to the Credit
Limit.

6) The Borrower will have access to Prime Based Loans under the Operating Loan via
overdraft from Account Number |l at Branch 1482 (the "Account") up to the Credit
Limit.

REPAYMENT AND REDUCTION OF AMOUNT OF CREDIT FACILITY

1,3,8) On demand. If the Bank demands repayment, the Borrower will pay to the Bank all
amounts outstanding under the Facility, including without limitation, as applicable, the
amount of all unmatured B/As and the amount of all drawn and undrawn L/Gs and L/Cs.
All costs to the Bank and all loss suffered by the Bank in re-employing the amounts so
repaid will be paid by the Borrower.

2,4, 5) All amounts outstanding will be repaid on or before the Contractual Term Maturity Date.
The drawdown will be repaid in equal monthly payments. The details of repayment and
interest rate applicable to such drawdown will be set out in the" Rate and Payment
Terms Notice" applicable to that drawdown. Any amounts repaid may not be
reborrowed.

Internal
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PREPAYMENT

2,4, Floating Rate: Permitted in whole or in part at any time, without notice or bonus provided that
5) an Event of Default has not occurred.

Fixed Rate: Permitted in whole or in part at any time, provided that an Event of Default has
not occurred, subject to payment of a prepayment penalty. The Borrower has the option of
selecting the 10% Prepayment Option in accordance with Section 4a) of Schedule A.

SECURITY

The following security shall be provided, shall, unless otherwise indicated, support all present and future
indebtedness and liability of the Borrower and the grantor of the security to the Bank including without
limitation indebtedness and liability under guarantees, foreign exchange contracts, cash management
products, and derivative contracts, shall be registered in first position, and shall be on the Bank's standard
form, supported by resolutions and solicitor's opinion, all acceptable to the Bank:

a) General Security Agreement ('GSA") from EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED representing
a First charge on all its present and after acquired personal property with Solicitor's Letter of
Opinion.

b) General Security Agreement ('GSA') from 2314251 ONTARIO INC. representing a First
charge on all its present and after acquired personal property with Solicitor's Letter of
Opinion.

c) General Security Agreement ('GSA'") from 2470291 ONTARIO INC. representing a First
charge on all its present and after acquired personal propeity with Solicitor's Letter of
Opinion.

d) General Assignment of Rents and Leases representing a First Charge for the property
located at 2871 Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, Ontario issued by EGLINTON
PETROLEUM LIMITED.

e) General Assignment of Rents and Leases resenting a First Charge for the property located
at 2 Matthew Street, Marmora, Ontario issued by 2470291 ONTARIO INC.
f) General Assignment of Rents and Leases resenting a First Charge for the property located

at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario issued by 2314251 ONTARIO INC,

a) Unlimited Corporate Guarantee of Advances executed by EGLINTON PETROLEUM
LIMITED (the 'Guarantor') in support of 2314251 ONTARIO INC. and 2470291 ONTARIO
INC.

h) Evidence of Business Insurance issued by EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED in an
amount satisfactory to the Bank.

i) Evidence of Business Insurance from 2470291 ONTARIO INC in an amount satisfactory to
the Bank.

) Evidence of Business Insurance from 2314251 ONTARIO INC in an amount satisfactory to
the Bank.

k) Assignment of Fire Insurance, business interruption, and boiler and machinery insurance

with TD as a First Loss Payee for the property located at 2871 Eglinton Avenue East,
Toronto, Ontario issued by EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED in an amount satisfactory to
the Bank.

)] Assighment of Fire Insurance, business interruption, and boiler and machinery insurance
with TD as a First Loss Payee for the property located at 2 Matthew Street, Marmora,
Ontario issued by 2470291 ONTARIO INC in an amount satisfactory to the Bank.

m) Assignment of Fire insurance, business interruption, and boiler and machinery insurance
with TD as a First Loss Payee for the property located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton,
Ontario issued by 2314251 ONTARIO INC in an amount satisfactory to the Bank.

@k
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28

Assignments of Motor Fuel Supply Agreement for Pioneer Branded Motor Fuels between
Parkland Fuel Corporation and 2470291 ONTARIO INC.

Assignments of Motor Fuel Supply Agreement for Esso Branded Motor Fuels between
McDougall Energy Inc. and 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Assignments of Motor Fuel Supply Agreement for Esso Branded Motor Fuels between
McDougall Energy Inc. and EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED

Continuing Collateral Mortgage, representing a First charge, on real property located at 2
Matthew Street, Marmora, Ontario in the principal amount of CAD $1,700,000 beneficially
owned by and registered in the name of 2470281 ONTARIO INC.

Continuing Collateral Mortgage, representing a First charge, on real property located at
26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario in the principal amount of CAD $2,500,000 beneficially
owned by and registered in the name of 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Continuing Collateral Mortgage, representing a First charge, on real property located at
2871 Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, Ontario in the principal amount of CAD $7,400,000
beneficially owned by and registered in the name of EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED.
Paostponement and Assignment of Creditor's Claim executed by MOHAMMAD ABDUL
HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN in support of EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED, 2314251
ONTARIO INC. and 2470291 ONTARIO INC.

Environmental Indemnity Agreement issued by MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ for real
property located at 2871 Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, Ontario owned by EGLINTON
PETROLEUM LIMITED.

Environmental Indemnity Agreement issued by MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ for real
property located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario owned by 2314251 ONTARIO INC.
Environmental Indemnity Agreement issued by MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ for real
property located at 2 Matthew Street, Marmora, Ontario owned by 2470291 ONTARIO INC.
Unlimited Personal Guarantee of Advances executed by MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ (the
'Guarantor') in support of 2314251 ONTARIO INC., 2470291 ONTARIO INC., EGLINTON
PETROLEUM LIMITED.

General Security Agreement ('GSA') from 2667313 ONTARIO INC. representing a First
charge on all its present and after acquired personal property with Solicitor's Letter of
Opinion.

Unlimited Corporate Guarantee of Advances executed by 2314251 ONTARIO INC. (the
‘Guarantor') in support of 2470291 ONTARIO INC., and EGLINTON PETROLEUM
LIMITED.

Unlimited Corporate Guarantee of Advances executed by 2470291 ONTARIO INC. (the
‘Guarantor') in support of 2314251 ONTARIO INC. and EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED.

Unlimited Personal Guarantee of Advances executed by KAWSER ZAHAN (the 'Guarantor')
in support of 2314251 ONTARIO INC., 2470291 ONTARIO INC., and EGLINTON
PETROLEUM LIMITED with Independent Legal Advice (ILA).

Unlimited Corporate Guarantee of Advances executed by 2667313 ONTARIO INC. (the
'Guarantor') in support of EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED, 2314251 ONTARIO INC.,
and 2470291 ONTARIO INC.

Environmental Indemnity Agreement issued by KAWSER ZAHAN for real property located
at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario owned by 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

All persons and entities required to provide a guarantee shall be referred to in this Agreement individually
as a "Surety" and/or "Guarantor" and collectively as the "Guarantors";

All of the above security and guarantees shall be referred to collectively in this Agreement as "Bank
Security".



Internal

DISBURSEMENT CONDITIONS

29

The abligation of the Bank to permit any drawdown hereunder is subject to the Standard Disbursement
Conditions contained in Schedule 'A' and the following additional drawdown conditions:

requirements and beneficiary of same.

Seq # Description Facility #
1) Satisfactory loan documentation, including all documentation to satisfy the Bank's | 1,2, 7
regulatory requirements (KYC/AML), credit agreement, security, legal opinions,
etc., in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender and its counsel.;
2) Updated appraisal report from the licensed AACI appraiser satisfactory to the Bank | 1, 2,7
along with the Reliance Letter addressed to TD Bank. Bank to arrange the update
appraisals on all properties.
3) Updated Phase Il for the property located at 2871 Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, | 1,2, 7
ON satisfactory to the Bank along with the Reliance Letter addressed to TD Bank.
4) Legal counsel to confirm that property taxes for the property located at 2871 1,2, 7
Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, ON are current and paid to date
5) Third party environmental/pollution liability insurance review, satisfactory to the 1,2, 7
Bank
8) Executed Tim Horton's Express Self-Serve Agreement to be on hand prior to 1,2, 7
funding.
7) Satisfactory review of the Fuel Supply Agreement by Eglinton Petroleum Limited | 1, 2,7
(Borrower A). Such confirmation to be found satisfactory by the Bank. Term to not
exceed the expiration date of the fuel supply agreement.
8) Satisfactory completion of the Site Visit Form and Property Inspection Reportfor | 1,2,7
the property located at 2871 Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, ON.
9) Finalized September 30, 2021 review engagement financial statement with 1,2, 7
compliance certificate on hand for covenant compliance.
10) Updated joint TD Personal Net Worth statements to be on hand for both ALL
Mohammad Abdul and Kawser Zahan.
11) Letter from Esso-Branded Motor Fuels confirming minimum fuel volume sold 1,2, 7
during the term of the lease since September 1, 2014.
12) Evidence that the fire insurance satisfies the fuel agreement (Esso - Borrower A) | 1,2,7
‘ requirements ($3MM insurance policy) and beneficiary of same.
13) Satisfactory loan documentation, including all documentation to satisfy the Bank's | 3, 4, 8
regulatory requirements (KYC/AML), credit agreement, security, legal opinions,
etc., in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender and its counsel.;
14) Updated appraisal report from the licensed AACI appraiser satisfactory to the Bank | 3, 4, 8
along with the Reliance Letter addressed to TD Bank. Bank to arrange the update
appraisals on all propetties.
15) Updated Phase Il for the property located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, ON 3,4,8
satisfactory to the Bank along with the Reliance Letter addressed to TD Bank.
16) Legal counsel to confirm that property taxes for the property located at 26233 3,4,8
Highway 48, Sutton, ON are current and paid to date
17) Third party environmental/pollution liability insurance review, satisfactory to the 3,4,8
Bank
18) Satisfactory completion of the Site Visit Form and Property Inspection Report for | 3,4, 8
the property located at 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, ON.
19) Letter from Esso-Branded Motor Fuels confirming minimum fuel volume sold 3,4,8
during the term of the lease since September 2017
20) Satisfactory review of the Fuel Supply Agreement by 2314251 Ontario Inc. 3,4,8
(Borrower B). Such confirmation to be found satisfactory by the Bank.
21) Evidence that the fire insurance satisfies the fuel agreement (Esso- Borrower B) | 3, 4, 8

Qe
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22) Satisfactory loan documentation, including all documentation to satisfy the Bank's | 5,6, 9
regulatory requirements (KYC/AML), credit agreement, security, legal opinions,
etc., in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender and its counsel.;
23) Updated appraisal report from the licensed AACI appraiser satisfactory to the Bank | 5, 6, 9
along with the Reliance Letter addressed to TD Bank. Bank to arrange the update
appraisals on all properties.
24) Updated Phase |l for the property located at 2 Matthew Street, Marmora, ON 56,9
satisfactory to the Bank along with the Reliance Letter addressed to TD Bank.
25) Legal counsel to confirm that property taxes for the property located at 2 Matthew | 5, 6, 9
Street, Marmora, ON are current and paid to date
26) Third party environmental/poliution liability insurance review, satisfactory to the 5,6,9
Bank
27) Satisfactory completion of the Site Visit Form and Property Inspection Report for | 5,6, 9
the property located at 2 Matthew Street, Marmora, ON. :
28) Letter from Parkland Fuel Corporation confirming minimum fuel volume sold during | 5, 6, 9
the term of the lease since September 2017.
29) Evidence that the fire insurance satisfies the fuel agreement (Pioneer - Borrower | 5,6, 9
C) requirements ($5MM insurance policy) and beneficiary of same.
30) Visa indemnity to be on hand. 7
31) Visa indemnity to be on hand. 8
32) Visa indemnity to be on hand. 9

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

All representations and warranties shall be deemed to be continually repeated so long as any amounts

remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any commitment under this

Agreement remains in effect. The Borrower makes the Representations and Warranties set out in
Schedule 'A'.

POSITIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any
commitment under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will and will ensure that its subsidiaries
and each of the Guarantors will observe the Standard Positive Covenants set out in Schedule 'A' and in

addition:
Seq # Description Facility #
1) The Borrowers to maintain Bank account with TD and to use the accounts for their | ALL
day-to-day bhaking operations.
2) Borrower to immediately inform the Bank of any equipment failure with ALL
environmental impact which may require repair and/or remediation, for all
Borrowers.
3) Borrowers to provide any Notice of material events (environmental, litigation, etc.) | ALL
to the Lender
4) Borrower to permit the Bank to visit the permit the premise at least once every ALL
year or as applicable.
5) Borrowers to advise the Bank within 10 days of non-renewal of the fuel supplier | ALL
contract and other material change in tenancy/rent income.
8 Q Jr
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REPORTING COVENANTS
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Seq #

Description

Facility #

1)

Provide confirmation to the Bank on an annual basis that property taxes
for the all of the below subject properties are current, such confirmation to
be in a format acceptable to the Bank:

- 2871 Eglinton Avenue East, Toronto, Ontario
- 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario
- 2 Matthew Sftreet, Marmora, Ontario

ALL

Annual Notice to Reader Financial Statements for 2470291 Ontario Inc.
to be provided within 120 calendar days of fiscal year
end

ALL

Annual Review Engagement Financial Statements (including income
statement, balance sheet, and cash flow statement) for Eglinton
Petroleum Limited to be provided within 120 calendar days of fiscal year
end.

ALL

4)

Annual Review Engagement Financial Statements (including income
statement, balance sheet, and cash flow statement) for 2314251 Ontario
inc. to be provided within 120 calendar days of fiscal year end.

ALL

5)

Combined annual Notice to Reader Financial Statements for Borrower A,
B, and C (with Balance Sheet date of September and Income Statement
showing 12 month results to September) to be provided within 120
calendar days of each September month end."

ALL

6)

Annual confirmation of insurance policy to be "in-force" for properties
located at 2871 Eglinton
Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, and 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario, and 2
Matthew Street, Marmora, Ontario, and coverage deemed adequate by
the Bank.

ALL

Delivery of Personal Financial Statement and Privacy Agreement from
Mohammad Hafeez and such supporting document and the Bank may
reasonably request, at a minimum every 3 years.

ALL

8)

Renewed Ontario Fuel Safety License provided by TSSA to be provided
within 120 days of fiscal year end for the below entities:
EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED
2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2470291 ONTARIO INC.

ALL

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any
commitment under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will and will ensure that its subsidiaries
and each of the Guarantors will observe the Negative Covenants set out in Schedule 'A' and in addition:

Seq # Description Facility #
1) No changes to the fuel agreement all be permitted without prior written consent of | ALL
the Bank.
2) No further encumbrances on the subject properties. ALL
3) No Distributions permitted without prior consent of the Bank ALL
Distributions are defined as dividends, share redemptions, repayment of
shareholder
or related party loans, advances to shareholders or related parties.
9
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PERMITTED LIENS

Permitted Liens as referred to in Schedule ‘A’ are:
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Seq # Description Facility #
1) Purchase Money Security Interests in equipment which Purchase Money Security | ALL
Interests exist on the date of this Agreement ("Existing PMSIs") which are known
to the Bank and all future Purchase Money Security Interests on equipment
acquired to replace the equipment under Existing PMSIs, provided that the cost of
such replacement equipment may not exceed the cost of the equipment subject to
the Existing PMSI| by more than 10%
FINANCIAL COVENANTS
The Borrower agrees at all times to:
Seq # Description Facility #
1) The Borrower agrees to maintain a minimum combined* Debt Service Coverage | ALL

(DSC) of 120% at all
times, calculated as follows, to be tested on an annual basis;

EBITDA** — Unfinanced CAPEX*** - Cash Taxes/Principal and Interest

*Combined meaning Borrower's A, B, and C.
**EBITDA is Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization for
Borrower A, B, and C on a combined basis.
**Unfinanced Capex shall be calculated as total capital expenditures net of debt
advanced in support of such expenditures and proceeds from the sale of fixed
assets.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Bank may accelerate the payment of principal and interest under any committed credit facility

hereunder and cancel any undrawn portion of any committed credit facility hereunder, at any time after
the occurrence of any one of the Standard Events of Default contained in Schedule 'A" attached hereto
and after any one of the following additional Events of Default:

Seq # Description Facility #

1) Expiry or cancellation of TSSA License or any other certification required to ALL
operate a gas station.

2) Cancellation of Environmental liability insurance. ALL




Internal

33

ANCILLARY FACILITIES

As at the date of this Agreement, the following uncommitted ancillary products are made available. These
products may be subject to other agreements.

Borrower A 7) TD Visa Business card (or cards) for an aggregate amount CAD $50,000
Borrower B 8) TD Visa Business card (or cards) for an aggregate amount CAD $25,000
Borrower C 9) TD Visa Business card (or cards) for an aggregate amount CAD $25,000

AVAILABILITY OF OPERATING LOAN

The Operating Loan is uncommitted, made available at the Bank's discretion, and is not automatically
available upon satisfaction of the terms and conditions, conditions precedent, or financial tests set out

herein.
The occurrence of an Event of Default is not a precondition to the Bank's right to accelerate repayment
and cancel the availability of the Operating Loan.

SCHEDULE "A" - STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Schedule "A" sets out the Standard Terms and Conditions ("Standard Terms and Conditions") which
apply to these credit facilities. The Standard Terms and Conditions, including the defined terms set out
therein, form part of this Agreement, unless this letter states specifically that one or more of the Standard
Terms and Conditions do not apply or are modified.

We trust you will find these facilities helpful in meeting your ongoing financing requirements. We ask that
if you wish to accept this offer of financing (which includes the Standard Terms and Conditions), please
do so by signing and returning the attached duplicate copy of this letter to the undersigned. This offer will
expire if not accepted in writing and received by the Bank on or before November 30, 2021.

Yours truly,

THE TORONTQ-DOMINION BANK

7= Tt 8-

Zeeshan Haider Jaspreet Randhawa

Relationship Manager Senior Manager, Commercial Credit



TO THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK:

EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED hereby accepts the foregoing offer this 17 day of
_November __, 2021 . The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit
facility(ies) detailed herein shall not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

o, P

Signature Signature
Mohammad Hafiz, President Kawser Zahan, Secretary
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
17 November 2021 17 November 2021
Date: Date:
2314251 ONTARIO INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this __17 day of _ November

2021 . The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed
herein shall not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

i ¥

Signature Signature
Mohammad Hafiz, President Kawser Zahan, Secretary
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position

Internal
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17 November 2021 17 November 2021

Date: Date:

2470291 ONTARIO INC. hereby accepts the foregoing offer this ___17 day of __November
2021 . The Borrower confirms that, except as may be set out above, the credit facility(ies) detailed
herein shall not be used by or on behalf of any third party.

ki, P

Signature Signature
Mohammad Hafiz, President Kawser Zahan, Secretary
Print Name & Position Print Name & Position
17 November 2021 17 November 2021
Date: Date:

cc. Guarantoi(s)

The Bank is providing the Guarantor(s) with a copy of this Letter as a courtesy only. The delivery of a
copy of this Letter does not create any obligation of the Bank to provide the Guarantor(s) with notice of
any changes to the credit facilities, including without limitation, changes to the terms and conditions,
increases or decreases in the amount of the credit facilities, the establishment of new credit facilities or
otherwise. The Bank may, or may not, at its option, provide the Guarantor(s) with such information,
provided that the Bank will provide such information upon the written request of the Guarantor.

13
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SCHEDULE A
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. INTEREST RATE DEFINITIONS

Prime Rate means the rate of interest per annum (based on a 365 day year) established and reported
by the Bank to the Bank of Canada from time to time as the reference rate of interest for determination
of interest rates that the Bank charges to customers of varying degrees of creditworthiness in Canada
for Canadian dollar loans made by it in Canada.

The Stamping Fee rate per annum for CAD$ B/As is based on a 365 day year and the Stamping Fee is
calculated on the Face Amount of each B/A presented to the Bank for acceptance. The Stamping Fee
rate per annum for USD$ B/As is based on a 360 day year and the Stamping Fee is calculated on the
Face Amount of each B/A presented to the Bank for acceptance.

CDOR means, for any day, the annual rate for B/As denominated in Canadian Dollars for a specified
term that appears on the Reuters Screen CDOR Page as of 10:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on such day (or,
if such day is not a Business Day, then on the immediately preceding Business Day).

LIBOR means the rate of interest per annum (based on a 360 day year) as determined by the Bank
(rounded upwards, if necessary to the nearest whole multiple of 1/16th of 1%) at which the Bank may
make available United States dollars which are obtained by the Bank in the Interbank Euro Currency
Market, London, England at approximately 11:00 a.m. (Toronto time) on the second Business Day
before the first day of, and in an amount similar to, and for the period similar to the interest period of,
such advance.

USBR means the rate of interest per annum (based on a 365 day year) established by the Bank from
time to time as the reference rate of interest for the determination of interest rates that the Bank
charges to customers of varying degrees of creditworthiness for US dollar loans made by it in Canada.

Interest rates will never be less than zero. If Prime Rate, CDOR, LIBOR, USBR or any other applicable
base rate changes, resulting in a variable or floating annual interest rate that is a negative number, the
interest rate will be 0.00%.

Any interest rate based on a period less than a year expressed as an annual rate for the purposes of
the Interest Act (Canada) is equivalent to such determined rate multiplied by the actual number of days
in the calendar year in which the same is to be ascertained and divided by the number of days in the
period upon which it was based.

2. INTEREST CALCULATION AND PAYMENT

Interest on Prime Based Loans and USBR Loans is calculated daily (including February 29 in a leap
year) and payable monthly in arrears based on the number of days the subject loan is outstanding
unless otherwise provided in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice. Interest is charged on February 29
in a leap year.

The Stamping Fee is calculated based on the amount and the term of the B/A and is payable upon
acceptance by the Bank of the B/A. The net proceeds received by the Borrower on a B/A advance will
be equal to the Face Amount of the B/A discounted at the Bank's then prevailing B/A discount rate for
CAD$ B/As or USD$ B/As as the case may be, for the specified term of the B/A less the B/A Stamping
Fee. If the B/A discount rate (or the rate used to determine the B/A discount rate) is less than zero, it
shall instead be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.
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Interest on LIBOR Loans and CDOR Loans is calculated and payable on the earlier of contract maturity
or quarterly in arrears, for the number of days in the LIBOR or CDOR interest period, as applicable.

L/C and L/G fees are payable at the time set out in the Letter of Credit Indemnity Agreement applicable
to the issued L/C or L/G.

Interest on Fixed Rate Term Loans is compounded monthly and payable monthly in arrears unless
otherwise provided in the Rate and Payment Terms Notice.

Interest is payable both before and after maturity or demand, defauit and judgment.

Each payment under this Agreement shall be applied first in payment of costs and expenses, then
interest and fees and the balance, if any, shall be applied in reduction of principal.

For loans not secured by real property, all overdue amounts of principal and interest and all amounts

outstanding in excess of the Credit Limit shall bear interest from the date on which the same became

due or from when the excess was incurred, as the case may be, until the date of payment or until the

date the excess is repaid at the Bank's standard rate charged from time to time for overdrafts, or such
lower interest rate if the Bank agrees to a lower interest rate in writing. Nothing in this clause shall be
deemed to authorize the Borrower to incur loans in excess of the Credit Limit.

If any provision of this Agreement would oblige the Borrower to make any payment of interest or other
amount payable to the Bank in an amount or calculated at a rate which would be prohibited by law or
would result in a receipt by the Bank of “interest” at a “criminal rate” (as such terms are construed
under the Criminal Code (Canada)), then, notwithstanding such provision, such amount or rate shall be
deemed to have been adjusted with retroactive effect to the maximum amount or rate of interest, as the
case may be, as would not be so prohibited by applicable law or so result in a receipt by the Bank of
“interest” at a “criminal rate”, such adjustment to be effected, to the extent necessary (but only to the
extent necessary), as follows: first, by reducing the amount or rate of interest, and, thereafter, by
reducing any fees, commissions, costs, expenses, premiums and other amounts required to be paid to
the Bank which would constitute interest for purposes of section 347 of the Criminal Code (Canada).

3. DRAWDOWN PROVISIONS

Prime Based and USBR Loans

There is no minimum amount of drawdown by way of Prime Based Loans and USBR Loans, except as
stated in this Agreement. The Borrower shall provide the Bank with 3 Business Days' notice of a
requested Prime Based Loan or USBR Loan over $1,000,000.

B/As

The Borrower shall advise the Bank of the requested term or maturity date for B/As issued hereunder.
The Bank shall have the discretion to restrict the term or maturity dates of B/As. In no event shall the
term of the B/A exceed the Contractual Term Maturity Date or Maturity Date, as applicable. Except as
otherwise stated in this Agreement, the minimum amount of a drawdown by way of B/As is $1,000,000
and in multiples of $100,000 thereafter. The Borrower shall provide the Bank with 3 Business Days'
notice of a requested B/A drawdown.

The Borrower shall pay to the Bank the full amount of the B/A at the maturity date of the B/A.

The Borrower appoints the Bank as its attorney to and authorizes the Bank to (i) complete, sign,
endorse, negotiate and deliver B/As on behalf of the Borrower in handwritten form, or by facsimile or
mechanical signature or otherwise, (ii) accept such B/As, and (iii) purchase, discount, and/or negotiate
B/As.

i
-
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LIBOR and CDOR

The Borrower shall advise the Bank of the requested LIBOR or CDOR contract maturity or interest
period. The Bank shall have the discretion to restrict the LIBOR or CDOR contract maturity. In no
event shall the term of the LIBOR or CDOR contract exceed the Contractual Term Maturity Date or
Maturity Date, as applicable. Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, the minimum amount of a
drawdown by way of a LIBOR Loan or a CDOR Loan is $1,000,000, and shall be in multiples of
$100,000 thereafter. The Borrower will provide the Bank with 3 Business Days' notice of a requested
LIBOR Loan or CDOR Loan.

L/C and/or L/G

The Bank shall have the discretion to restrict the maturity date of L/Gs or L/Cs.

B/A, LIBOR and CDOR - Conversion

Any portion of any B/A, LIBOR or CDOR Loan that is not repaid, rolled over or converted in
accordance with the applicable notice requirements hereunder shall be converted by the Bank to a
Prime Based Loan effective as of the maturity date of the B/A or the last day in the interest period of
the LIBOR or CDOR contract, as applicable. The Bank may charge interest on the amount of the Prime
Based Loan at the rate of 115% of the rate applicable to Prime Based Loans for the 3 Business Day
period immediately following such maturity. Thereafter, the rate shall revert to the rate applicable to
Prime Based Loans.

B/A, LIBOR and CDOR — Market Disruption

If the Bank determines, in its sole discretion, that a normal market in Canada for the purchase and sale
of B/As or the making of CDOR or LIBOR Loans does not exist, any right of the Borrower to request a
drawdown under the applicable borrowing option shall be suspended until the Bank advises otherwise.
Any drawdown request for B/As, LIBOR or CDOR Loans, as applicable, during the suspension period
shall be deemed to be a drawdown notice requesting a Prime Based Loan in an equivalent amount.

LIBOR Discontinuation
On the earliest of:

(@) the date that the administrator of LIBOR has permanently or
indefinitely ceased to make LIBOR available;

(a) the governmental authority having jurisdiction over the
administrator of LIBOR has made a public statement or
publication of information announcing LIBOR is nho longer
representative; and

(b) the Early Opt-in Effective Date,

the LIBOR Successor Rate will replace LIBOR for all purposes hereunder and under any other documents
(other than any swap agreement, but including any other Bank Security) required in connection herewith,
in respect of any interest period and contract maturity of such benchmark on such day and all subsequent
interest periods and contract maturities without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any party
to this Agreement. If the LIBOR Successor Rate is Daily Simple SOFR, all interest payments will be payable
on a monthly basis unless otherwise agreed by the Bank. Notwithstanding anything else herein, any
definition of the LIBOR Successor Rate (exclusive of any margin) shall provide that in no event shall such
LIBOR Successor Rate be less than zero for the purposes of this Agreement.
4

Internal



39

The Bank does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to,
the administration, submission or any other matter related to LIBOR or the LIBOR Successor Rate including
without limitation, whether the composition or characteristics of the LIBOR Successor Rate, will be similar
to, or produce the same value or economic equivalence of, LIBOR or have the same volume or liquidity as
did LIBOR prior to its discontinuance or unavailability.

In connection with the implementation and administration of the LIBOR Successor Rate, the Bank will have
the right to make LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any Bank Security or other document provided in connection
herewith, any amendments implementing such LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes will become
effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement.

The Bank will promptly notify the Borrower of (i) the occurrence of an Early Opt-in Election, (i) the
implementation of the LIBOR Successor Rate and (iii) the effectiveness of any LIBOR Replacement
Conforming Changes. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Bank pursuant

to this Section, including any determination with respect to a interest period, rate or adjustment or of

the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain
from taking any action, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its

sole discretion and without consent from any other party hereto, except, in each case, as expressly
required pursuant to this Section.

Cash Management

The Bank may, and the Borrower hereby authorizes the Bank to, drawdown under the Operating Loan,
Agriculture Operating Line or Farm Property Line of Credit to satisfy any obligations of the Borrower to
the Bank in connection with any cash management service provided by the Bank to the Borrower. The
Bank may drawdown under the Operating Loan, Agriculture Operating Line or Farm Property Line of
Credit even if the drawdown results in amounts outstanding in excess of the Credit Limit.

Notice

Prior to each drawdown under a Fixed Rate Term Loan, other than a Long Term Farm Loan, an
Agriculture Term Loan, a Canadian Agricultural Loans Act Loan, a Dairy Term Loan or a Poultry Term
Loan and at least 10 days prior to the maturity of each Rate Term, the Borrower will advise the Bank of
its selection of drawdown options from those made available by the Bank. The Bank will, after each
drawdown, other than drawdowns by way of BA, CDOR, or LIBOR Loan or under the operating loan,
send a Rate and Payment Terms Notice to the Borrower.

4, PREPAYMENT

Fixed Rate Term Loans

10% Prepayment Option Chosen.

(a) Once, each calendar year, ("Year"), the Borrower may, provided that an Event of Default has not
occurred, prepay in one lump sum, an amount of principal outstanding under a Fixed Rate Term
Loan not exceeding 10% of the original amount of the Fixed Rate Term Loan, upon payment of all
interest accrued to the date of prepayment without paying any prepayment charge. [f the
prepayment privilege is not used in one Year, it cannot be carried forward and used in a later
Year.

(b) Provided that an Event of Default has not occurred, the Borrower may prepay more than 10%
of the original amount of a Fixed Rate Term Loan in any Year, upon payment of all interest
accrued to the date of prepayment and an amount equal to the greater of:

a
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iy  three months' interest on the amount of the prepayment (the amount of prepayment is
the amount of prepayment exceeding the 10% limit described in Section 4(a)) using
the interest rate applicable to the Fixed Rate Term Loan being prepaid; and

ii) the Yield Maintenance, being the difference between:

a. the current outstanding principal balance of the Fixed Rate Term Loan; and

b. the sum of the present values as of the date of the prepayment of the future payments
to be made on the Fixed Rate Term Loan until the last day of a Rate Term, plus the
present value of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Term Loan that would have
been due on the maturity of the Rate Term, when discounted at the Government of
Canada bond yield rate with a term which has the closest maturity to the unexpired
term of the Fixed Rate Term Loan.

10% Prepayment Option Not Chosen.

(c) The Borrower may, provided that an Event of Default has not occurred, prepay all or any part
of the principal then outstanding under a Fixed Rate Term Loan upon payment of all interest
accrued to the date of prepayment and an amount equal to the greater of:

iy  three months' interest on the amount of the prepayment using the interest rate applicable
to the Fixed Rate Term Loan being prepaid; and
i)  the Yield Maintenance, being the difference between:
a. the current outstanding principal balance of the Fixed Rate Term Loan; and
b. the sum of the present values as of the date of the prepayment of the future payments to
be made on the Fixed Rate Term Loan until the last day of the Rate Term, plus the
present value of the principal amount of the Fixed Rate Term Loan that would have been
due on the maturity of the Rate Term when discounted at the Government of Canada
bond yield rate with a term which has the closest maturity to the unexpired term of the
Fixed Rate Term Loan.

Floating Rate Term Loans

The Borrower may prepay the whole or any part of the principal outstanding under a Floating Rate
Term Loan, at any time without the payment of prepayment charges.

5. STANDARD DISBURSEMENT CONDITIONS

The obligation of the Bank to permit any drawdowns hereunder at any time is subject to the following
conditions precedent:

a) The Bank shall have received the following documents which shall be in form and
substance satisfactory to the Bank:

i) A copy of a duly executed resolution of the Board of Directors of the Borrower
empowering the Borrower to enter into this Agreement;

i) A copy of any necessary government approvals authorizing the Borrower to enter into
this Agreement;

iy All of the Bank Security and supporting resolutions and solicitors' letter of opinion
required hereunder;

iv) The Borrower's compliance certificate certifying compliance with all terms and
conditions hereunder;

A
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v) All operation of account documentation; and

vi) For drawdowns under the Facility by way of L/C or L/G, the Bank’s standard form
Letter of Credit Indemnity Agreement

The representations and warranties contained in this Agreement are correct.

No event has occurred and is continuing which constitutes an Event of Default or would
constitute an Event of Default, but for the requirement that notice be given or time elapse
or both.

The Bank has received the arrangement fee payable hereunder (if any) and the Borrower
has paid all legal and other expenses incurred by the Bank in connection with the
Agreement or the Bank Security.

6. STANDARD REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower hereby represents and warrants, which representations and warranties shall be deemed
to be continually repeated so long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this
Agreement or so long as any commitment under this Agreement remains in effect, that:

a)

d)

The Borrower is a duly incorporated corporation, a limited partnership, partnership, or sole
proprietorship, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction where the Branch/Centre is located and each other jurisdiction where the
Borrower has property or assets or carries on business and the Borrower has adequate
corporate power and autharity to carry on its business, own property, borrow monies and
enter into agreements therefore, execute and deliver the Agreement, the Bank Security,
and documents required hereunder, and observe and perform the terms and provisions of
this Agreement.

There are no laws, statutes or regulations applicable to or binding upon the Borrower and
no provisions in its charter documents or in any by-laws, resolutions, contracts,
agreements, or arrangements which would be contravened, breached, violated as a result
of the execution, delivery, performance, observance, of any terms of this Agreement.

No Event of Default has occurred nor has any event occurred which, with the passage of
time or the giving of notice, would constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement or
which would constitute a default under any other agreement.

There are no actions, suits or proceedings, including appeals or applications for review, or
any knowledge of pending actions, suits, or proceedings against the Borrower and its
subsidiaries, before any court or administrative agency which would result in any material
adverse change in the property, assets, tinancial condition, business or operations of the
Borrower.

All material authorizations, approvals, consents, licenses, exemptions, filings, registrations
and other requirements of governmental, judicial and public bodies and authorities
required to carry on its business have been or will be obtained or effected and are or will
be in full force and effect.

The financial statements and forecasts delivered to the Bank fairly present the present
financial position of the Borrower, and have been prepared by the Borrower and its
auditors in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards or GAAP for
Private Enterprises.



Internal

42

a) All of the remittances required to be made by the Borrower to the federal government and
all provincial and municipal governments have been made, are currently up to date and
there are no outstanding arrears. Without limiting the foregoing, all employee source
deductions (including income taxes, Employment Insurance and Canada Pension Plan),
sales taxes (both provincial and federal), corporate income taxes, corporate capital taxes,
payroll taxes and workers' compensation dues are currently paid and up to date.

h) If the Bank Security includes a charge on real property, the Borrower or Guarantor, as
applicable, is the legal and beneficial owner of the real property with good and marketable
title in fee simple thereto, free from all easements, rights-of-way, agreements, restrictions,
mortgages, liens, executions and other encumbrances, save and except for those
approved by the Bank in writing.

i) All information that the Borrower has provided to the Bank is accurate and complete
respecting, where applicable:

iy  the names of the Borrower’s directors and the names and addresses of the
Borrower's beneficial owners;

ii) the names and addresses of the Borrower’s trustees, known beneficiaries and/or
settlors; and

iy  the Borrower's ownership, control and structure.

7. STANDARD POSITIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any
commitment under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will, and will ensure that its
subsidiaries and each of the Guarantors will;

a) Pay all amounts of principal, interest and fees on the dates, times and place specified
herein, under the Rate and Payment Terms Notice, and under any other agreement
between the Bank and the Borrower.

b) Advise the Bank of any change in the amount and the terms of any credit arrangement
made with other lenders or any action taken by another lender to recover amounts
outstanding with such other lender.

) Advise promptly after the happening of any event which will result in a material adverse
change in the financial condition, business, operations, or prospects of the Borrower or
the occurrence of any Event of Default or default under this Agreement or under any other
agreement for borrowed money.

d) Do all things necessary to maintain in good standing its corporate existence and preserve
and keep all material agreements, rights, franchises, licenses, operations, contracts or
other arrangements in full force and effect.

e) Take all necessary actions to ensure that the Bank Security and its obligations hereunder
will rank ahead of all other indebtedness of and all other security granted by the Borrower.

f) Pay all taxes, assessments and government charges unless such taxes, assessments, or
charges are being contested in good faith and appropriate reserves shall be made with
funds set aside in a separate trust fund.

g) Provide the Bank with information and financial data as it may request from time to time,
including, without limitation, such updated information and/or additional supporting
information as the Bank may require with respect to any or all the matters in the
Borrower's representation and warranty in Section 6(i).

R
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Maintain property, plant and equipment in good repair and working condition.

Inform the Bank of any actual or probable litigation and furnish the Bank with copies of
details of any litigation or other proceedings, which might affect the financial condition,
business, operations, or prospects of the Borrower.,

Provide such additional security and documentation as may be required from time to time
by the Bank or its solicitors.

Continue to carry on the business currently being carried on by the Borrower its
subsidiaries and each of the Guarantors at the date hereof.

Maintain adequate insurance on all of its assets, undertakings, and business risks.

Permit the Bank or its authorized representatives full and reasonable access to its
premises, business, financial and computer records and allow the duplication or extraction
of pertinent information therefrom.

Comply with all applicable laws.

8. STANDARD NEGATIVE COVENANTS

So long as any amounts remain outstanding and unpaid under this Agreement or so long as any
commitment under this Agreement remains in effect, the Borrower will not and will ensure that its
subsidiaries and each of the Guarantors will not:

a)

b)

Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist, any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, lien, security
interest, assighment, charge, or encumbrance (including without limitation, any conditional
sale, or other title retention agreement, or finance lease) of any nature, upon or with
respect to any of its assets or undertakings, how owned or hereafter acquired, except for
those Permitted Liens, if any, set out in the Letter.

Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any other indebtedness for borrowed money
(except for indebtedness resulting from Permitted Liens, if any) or guarantee or act as
surety or agree to indemnify the debts of any other Person.

Merge or consolidate with any other Person, or acquire all or substantially all of the
shares, assets or business of any other Person.

Sell, lease, assign, transfer, convey or otherwise dispose of any of its now owned or
hereafter acquired assets (including, without limitation, shares of stock and indebtedness
of subsidiaries, receivables and leasehold interests), except for inventory disposed of in
the ordinary course of business.

Terminate or enter into a surrender of any lease of any property mortgaged under the
Bank Security.

Cease to carry on the business currently being carried on by each of the Borrower, its
subsidiaries, and the Guarantors at the date hereof.

Permit any change of ownership or change in the capital structure of the Borrower.
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Borrower represents and warrants (which representation and warranty shall continue throughouit
the term of this Agreement) that the business of the Borrower, its subsidiaries and each of the
Guarantors is being operated in compliance with applicable laws and regulations respecting the
discharge, omission, spill or disposal of any hazardous materials and that any and all enforcement
actions in respect thereto have been clearly conveyed to the Bank.

The Borrower shall, at the request of the Bank from time to time, and at the Borrower's expense, obtain
and provide to the Bank an environmental audit or inspection report of the property from auditors or
inspectors acceptable to the Bank.

The Borrower hereby indemnifies the Bank, its officers, directors, employees, agents and
shareholders, and agrees to hold each of them harmless from all loss, claims, damages and expenses
(including legal and audit expenses) which may be suffered or incurred in connection with the
indebtedness under this Agreement or in connection with the Bank Security.

10. STANDARD EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Bank may accelerate the payment of principal and interest under any committed credit facility
hereunder and cancel any undrawn portion of any committed credit facility hereunder, at any time after
the occurrence of any one of the following Events of Default:

a) Non-payment of principal outstanding under this Agreement when due or non-payment of
interest or fees outstanding under this Agreement within 3 Business Days of when due.

b) If any representation, warranty or statement made hereunder or made in connection with
the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Bank Security is false or misleading at
any time.

c) If any representation or warranty made or information provided by the Guarantor to the

Bank from time to time, including without limitation, under or in connection with the
Personal Financial Statement and Privacy Agreement provided by the Guarantor, is false
or misleading at any time.

d) If there is a breach or non-performance or non-observance of any term or condition of this
Agreement or the Bank Security and, if such default is capable to being remedied, the
default continues unremedied for 5 Business Days after the occurrence.

e) If the Borrower, any one of its subsidiaries, or, if any of the Guarantors makes a general
assignment for the benefit of creditors, files or presents a petition, makes a proposal or
commits any act of bankruptcy, or if any action is taken for the winding up, liquidation or
the appointment of a liquidator, trustee in bankruptcy, custodian, curator, sequestrator,
receiver or any other officer with similar powers or if a judgment or order shall be entered
by any court approving a petition for reorganization, arrangement or compaosition of or in
respect of the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors or if the
Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors is insolvent or declared
bankrupt.

f) If there exists a voluntary or involuntary suspension of business of the Borrower, any of its
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.

g) If action is taken by an encumbrancer against the Borrower, any of its subsidiaries, or any
of the Guarantors to take possession of property or enforce proceedings against any
assets,

A
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h) If any final judgment for the payment of monies is made against the Borrower, any of its
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors and it is not discharged within 30 days from the
imposition of such judgment.

i) If there exists an event, the effect of which with lapse of time or the giving of notice, will
constitute an event of default or a default under any other agreement for borrowed money
in excess of the Cross Default Threshold entered into by the Borrower, any of its
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.

i) If the Borrower, any one of its subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors default under any
other present or future agreement with the Bank or any of the Bank’s subsidiaries,
including without limitation, any other loan agreement, forward foreign exchange
transactions, interest rate and currency and/or commodity swaps.

k) If the Bank Security is not enforceable or if any party to the Bank Security shall dispute or
deny any liability or any of its obligations under the Bank Security, or if any Guarantor
terminates a guarantee in respect of future advances.

)] If, in the Bank's determination, a material adverse change occurs in the financial
condition, business operations or prospects of the Borrower, any of the Borrower's
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.

m) If the Borrower or a Guarantor is an individual, the Borrower or such Guarantor dies or is
found by a court to be incapable of managing his or her affairs.

11, ACCELERATION

If the Bank accelerates the payment of principal and interest hereunder, the Borrower shall
immediately pay to the Bank all amounts outstanding hereunder, including without limitation, the
amount of unmatured B/As, CDOR and LIBOR Loans and the amount of all drawn and undrawn L/Gs
and L/Cs. All cost to the Bank of unwinding CDOR and LIBOR Loans and all loss suffered by the
Bank in re-employing amounts repaid will be paid by the Borrower.

The Bank may demand the payment of principal and interest under the Operating Loan, Agriculture
Operating Line or Farm Property Line of Credit (and any other uncommitted facility) hereunder and
cancel any undrawn portion of the Operating Loan, Agriculture Operating Line or Farm Property Line of
Credit (and any other uncommitted facility) hereunder, at any time whether or not an Event of Default
has occurred.

12. INDEMNITY

The Borrower agrees to indemnify the Bank from and against any and all claims, losses and liabilities
arising or resulting from this Agreement. USD$ loans must be repaid with USD$ and CAD$ loans must
be repaid with CAD$ and the Borrower shall indemnify the Bank for any loss suffered by the Bank if
USDS$ loans are repaid with CAD$ or vice versa, whether such payment is made pursuant to an order
of a court or otherwise. In no event will the Bank be liable to the Borrower for any direct, indirect or
consequential damages arising in connection with this Agreement.

Q%8
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13. TAXATION ON PAYMENTS

All payments made by the Borrower to the Bank will be made free and clear of all present and future
taxes (excluding the Bank's income taxes), withhoidings or deductions of whatever nature. If these
taxes, withholdings or deductions are required by applicable law and are made, the Borrower, shall, as
a separate and independent obligation, pay to the Bank all additional amounts as shall fully indemnify
the Bank from any such taxes, withholdings or deductions.

14. REPRESENTATION

No representation or warranty or other statement made by the Bank concerning any of the Facilities
shall be binding on the Bank unless made by it in writing as a specific amendment to this Agreement.

15. CHANGING THE AGREEMENT

a) The Bank may, from time to time, unilaterally change the provisions of this Agreement
where (i) the provisions of the Agreement relate to the Operating Loan, Agriculture
Operating Line or Farm Property Line of Credit (and any other uncommitted facility) or (ii)
such change is for the benefit of the Borrower, or made at the Borrower’s request,
including without limitation, decreases to fees or interest payable hereunder or (iii) where
such change makes compliance with this Agreement less onerous to the Borrower,
including without limitation, release of security. These changes can be made by the Bank
providing written notice to the Borrower of such changes in the form of a specific waiver or
a document constituting an amending agreement. The Borrower is not required to execute
such waiver or amending agreement, unless the Bank requests the Borrower to sign such
waiver or amending agreement. A change in the Prime Rate and USBR is not an
amendment to the terms of this Agreement that requires notification to be provided to the
Borrower.

b) Changes to the Agreement, other than as described in a) above, including changes to
covenants and fees payable by the Borrower, are required to be agreed to by the Bank
and the Borrower in writing, by the Bank and the Borrower each signing an amending
agreement.

c) The Bank is not required to notify a Guarantor of any change in the Agreement, including
any increase in the Credit Limit.

16. ADDED COST

If the introduction of or any change in any present or future law, regulation, treaty, official or unofficial
directive, or regulatory requirement, (whether or not having the force of law) or in the interpretation or
application thereof, relates to:

i) the imposition or exemption of taxation of payments due to the Bank or on reserves or
deemed reserves in respect of the undrawn portion of any Facility or loan made available
hereunder; or,

ii) any reserve, special deposit, regulatory or similar requirement against assets, deposits, or
loans or other acquisition of funds for loans by the Bank; or,

iii) the amount of capital required or expected to be maintained by the Bank as a result of the
existence of the advances or the commitment made hereunder;
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and the result of such occurrence is, in the sole determination of the Bank, to increase the cost of the
Bank or to reduce the income received or receivable by the Bank hereunder, the Borrower shall, on
demand by the Bank, pay to the Bank that amount which the Bank estimates will compensate it for
such additional cost or reduction in income and the Bank's estimate shall be conclusive, absent
manifest error.

17. EXPENSES

The Borrower shall pay, within 5 Business Days following notification, all fees and expenses (including
but not limited to all legal fees) incurred by the Bank in connection with the preparation, registration
and ongoing administration of this Agreement and the Bank Security and with the enforcement of the
Bank's rights and remedies under this Agreement and the Bank Security whether or not any amounts
are advanced under the Agreement. These fees and expenses shall include, but not be limited, to all
outside counsel fees and expenses and all in-house legal fees and expenses, if in-house counsel are
used, and all outside professional advisory fees and expenses. The Borrower shall pay interest on
unpaid amounts due pursuant to this paragraph at the All-In Rate plus 2% per annum.

Without limiting the generality of Section 25, the Bank or the Bank’s agent, is authorized to debit any of
the Borrower’s accounts with the amount of the fees and expenses owed by the Borrower hereunder,
including the registration fee in connection with the Bank Security, even if that debiting creates an
overdraft in any such account. if there are insufficient funds in the Borrower's accounts to reimburse
the Bank or it’s agent for payment of the fees and expenses owed by the Borrower hereunder, the
amount debited to the Borrower’s accounts shall be deemed to be a Prime Based Loan under the
Operating lLoan, the Agriculture Operating Line or Farm Property Line of Credit.

The Borrower will, if requested by the Bank, sign a Pre-Authorized Payment Authorization in a format
acceptable to the Bank to permit the Bank’s agent to debit the Borrower’s accounts as contemplated in
this Section.

18. NON WAIVER

Any failure by the Bank to object to or take action with respect to a breach of this Agreement or any
Bank Security or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default shall not constitute a waiver of the Bank's
right to take action at a later date on that breach. No course of conduct by the Bank will give rise to any
reasonable expectation which is in any way inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement and the Bank Security or the Bank's rights thereunder.

19. EVIDENCE OF INDEBTEDNESS

The Bank shall record on its records the amount of all loans made hereunder, payments made in
respect thereto, and all other amounts becoming due to the Bank under this Agreement. The Bank's
records constitute, in the absence of manifest error, conclusive evidence of the indebtedness of the
Borrower to the Bank pursuant to this Agreement.

The Borrower will sigh the Bank’s standard form Letter of Credit Indemnity Agreement for all L/Cs and
L/Gs issued by the Bank.

With respect to chattel mortgages taken as Bank Security, this Agreement is the Promissory Note
referred to in same chattel mortgage, and the indebtedness incurred hereunder is the true
indebtedness secured by the chattel mortgage.

20. ENTIRE AGREEMENTS

This Agreement replaces any previous letter agreements dealing specifically with terms and conditions
of the credit facilities described in the Letter. Agreements relating to other credit facilities made
available by the Bank continue to apply for those other credit facilities. This Agreement, and if
applicable, the Letter of Credit Indemnity Agreement, are the entire agreements relating to the
Facilities described in this Agreement.
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21. NON-MERGER

Notwithstanding the execution, delivery or registration of the Bank Security and notwithstanding any
advances made pursuant thereto, this Agreement shall continue to be valid, binding and enforceable
and shall not merge as a result thereof. Any default under this Agreement shall constitute concurrent
default under the Bank Security. Any default under the Bank Security shall constitute concurrent
default under this Agreement. In the event of an inconsistency between the terms of this Agreement
and the terms of the Bank Security, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail and the inclusion of any
term in the Bank Security that is not dealt with in this Agreement shall not be an inconsistency.

22, ASSIGNMENT

The Bank may assign or grant participation in all or part of this Agreement or in any loan made
hereunder without notice to and without the Borrower's consent.

The Borrower may not assign or transfer all or any part of its rights or obligations under this
Agreement.

23. RELEASE OF INFORMATION

The Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs the Borrower's accountant, (the "Accountant")
to deliver all financial statements and other financial information concerning the Borrower to the Bank
and agrees that the Bank and the Accountant may communicate directly with each other.

24. FX CLOSE OUT

The Borrower hereby acknowledges and agrees that in the event any of the following occur: (i) Default
by the Borrower under any forward foreign exchange contract ("FX Contract"); (ii) Default by the
Borrower in payment of monies owing by it to anyone, including the Bank; (iii) Default in the
performance of any other obligation of the Borrower under any agreement to which it is subject; or (iv)
the Borrower is adjudged to be or voluntarily becomes bankrupt or insolvent or admits in writing to its
inability to pay its debts as they come due or has a receiver appointed over its assets, the Bank shall
be entitled without advance notice to the Borrower to close out and terminate all of the outstanding FX
Contracts entered into hereunder, using hormal commercial practices employed by the Bank, to
determine the gain or loss for each terminated FX contract. The Bank shall then be entitled to
calculate a net termination value for all of the terminated FX Contracts which shall be the net sum of all
the losses and gains arising from the termination of the FX Contracts which net sum shall be the
“Close Out Value" of the terminated FX Contracts. The Borrower acknowledges that it shall be
required to forthwith pay any positive Close Out Value owing to the Bank and the Bank shall be
required to pay any negative Close Out Value owing to the Borrower, subject to any rights of set-off to
which the Bank is entitled or subject.

25, SET-OFF.

In addition to and not in limitation of any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law, the Bank
may at any time and from time to time without notice to the Borrower or any other Person, any notice
being expressly waived by the Borrower, set-off and compensate and apply any and all deposits,
general or special, time or demand, provisional or final, matured or unmatured, in any currency, and
any other indebtedness or amount payable by the Bank (irrespective of the place of payment or
booking office of the obligation), to or for the credit of or for the Borrower's account, including without
limitation, any amount owed by the Bank to the Borrower under any FX Contract or other treasury or
derivative product, against and on account of the indebtedness and liability under this Agreement
notwithstanding that any of them are contingent or unmatured or in a different currency than the
indebtedness and liability under this Agreement.
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When applying a deposit or other obligation in a different currency than the indebtedness and liability
under this Agreement to the indebtedness and liability under this Agreement, the Bank will convert the
deposit or other obligation to the currency of the indebtedness and liability under this Agreement using
the exchange rate determined by the Bank at the time of the conversion.

26, SEVERABILITY

In the event any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason, including under
any applicable statute or rule of law, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that part will be
severed from this Agreement and will not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions of this
Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

27. MISCELLANEOUS

i) The Borrower has received a signed copy of this Agreement;

ii) if more than one Person, firm or corporation signs this Agreement as the Borrower, each
party is jointly and severally liable hereunder, and the Bank may require payment of alll
amounts payable under this Agreement from any one of them, or a portion from each, but
the Bank is released from any of its obligations by performing that obligation to any one of
them;

iii) Accounting terms will (to the extent not defined in this Agreement) be interpreted in
accordance with accounting principles established from time to time by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants (or any successor) consistently applied, and all
financial statements and information provided to the Bank will be prepared in accordance
with those principles;

iv) This Agreement is governed by the law of the Province or Territory where the
Branch/Centre is located;

) Unless stated otherwise, all amounts referred to herein are in Canadian dollars.

28. DEFINITIONS

Capitalized Terms used in this Agreement shall have the following meanings:

"Agreement” means the agreement between the Bank and the Borrower set out in the Letter and this
Schedule "A" - Standard Terms and Conditions.

"All-In Rate" means the greater of the interest rates that the Borrower pays for Floating Rate Loans or
the highest fixed rate paid for Fixed Rate Term Loans.

‘Business Day" means any day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) that the Branch/Centre is open for
business.

"Branch/Centre"” means The Toronto-Dominion Bank branch or banking centre noted on the first page
of the Letter, or such other branch or centre as may from time to time be designated by the Bank.

“Contractual Term Maturity Date" means the last day of the Contractual Term period. If the Letter does
not set out a specific Contractual Term period but rather refers to a period of time up to which the
Contractual Term Maturity Date can occur, the Bank and the Borrower must agree on a Contractual
Term Maturity Date before first drawdown, which Contractual Term Maturity Date will be set out in the
Rate and Payments Terms Notice.

“Cross Default Threshold” means the cross default threshold set out in the Letter. If no such cross
default threshold is set out in the Letter it will be deemed to be zero.

"Face Amount” means, in respect of:
%
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0 a B/A, the amount payable to the holder thereof on its maturity;

(i) A L/C or L/G, the maximum amount payable to the beneficiary specified therein or any
other Person to whom payments may be required to be made pursuant to such L/C or
L/G.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a
lookback being established by the Bank in accordance with the conventions for this rate recommended
by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York,
or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto, for determining “Daily
Simple SOFR” for bilateral business loans; provided, that if the Bank decides that any such convention
is not administratively feasible for the Bank, then the Bank may establish another convention in its
reasonable discretion.

“Early Opt-in Effective Date” means, with respect to any Early Opt-in Election, the sixth (6th) Business
Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Borrower.

“Early Opt-in Election” means the occurrence of:

) a determination by the Bank that at least five currently outstanding U.S. dollar-denominated
syndicated or bilateral credit facilities at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as
originally executed) a SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate
based upon SOFR) as a benchmark rate, and

(i) the election by the Bank to trigger a fallback from LIBOR and the provision by the Bank of
written notice of such election to the Borrower.

"Fixed Rate Term Loan" means any drawdown in Canadian dollars under a Facility at an interest rate
which is fixed for a Rate Term at such rate as is determined by the Bank at its sole discretion.

"Floating Rate Loan" means any loan drawn down, converted or extended under a Facility at an
interest rate which is referenced to a variable rate of interest, such as the Prime Rate.

"Inventory Value" means, at any time of determination, the total value (based on the lower of cost or
market) of the Borrower's inventories that are subject to the Bank Security (other than (i) those
inventories supplied by trade creditors who at that time have not been fully paid and would have a right
to repossess all or part of such inventories if the Borrower were then either bankrupt or in receivership,
(ii) those inventories comprising work in process and (iii) those inventories that the Bank may from time
to time designate in its sole discretion) minus the total amount of any claims, liens or encumbrances on
those inventories having or purporting to have priority over the Bank.

"L etter" means the letter from the Bank to the Borrower to which this Schedule "A" - Standard Terms
and Conditions is attached.

“Letter of Credit" or "L/C" means a documentary letter of credit or similar instrument in form and
substance satisfactory to the Bank.

"Letter of Guarantee” or "L/G" means a stand-by letter of guarantee or similar instrument in form and
substance satisfactory to the Bank.
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"LIBOR Replacement Conforming Changes” means any technical, administrative or operational
changes (including changes to applicable definitions, timing and frequency of determining rates and
making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation
notices, the applicability and length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, and
other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the Bank decides may be appropriate to
reflect the adoption and implementation of the LIBOR Successor Rate and the Bank's administration
thereof in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Bank decides that adoption
of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or determines that ho market
practice for the administration of the LIBOR Successor Rate exists, in such other manner of
administration as the Bank decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of
this Agreement and the other documents required hereunder).

"LIBOR Successor Rate" means, for any interest period as of the applicable date of determination, the
first alternative set forth below that can be determined by the Bank:

(D) the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) 0.11448% (11.448 basis points) for an interest period
of 1 month, 0.26161% (26.161 basis points) for an interest period of 3 months, and
0.42826% (42.826 basis points) for an interest period of 6 months, or

(i) the sum of: (x) Daily Simple SOFR and (y) the spread adjustment selected or
recommended by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or
any successor thereto, for the replacement of the contract maturity of LIBOR with a SOFR-
based rate having approximately the same length as the interest payment period specified
in the "LIBOR Discontinuation" clause in Section 3 of this Schedule A.

"Maturity Date" for a Facility, means the date on which all amounts outstanding under such Facility are
due and payable to the Bank.

"Person” includes any individual, sole proprietorship, corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust,
unincorporated association, association, institution, entity, party, or government (whether national,
federal, provincial, state, municipal, city, county, or otherwise and including any instrumentality,
division, agency, body, or department thereof).

"Purchase Money Securily Interest” means a security interest on an asset which is granted to a lender
or to the seller of such asset in order to secure the purchase price of such asset or a loan incurred to
acquire such asset, provided that the amount secured by the security interest does not exceed the cost
of the asset and provided that the Borrower provides written notice to the Bank prior to the creation of
the security interest, and the creditor under the security interest has, if requested by the Bank, entered
into an inter-creditor agreement with the Bank, in a format acceptable to the Bank.

‘Rate Term" means that period of time as selected by the Borrower from the options offered to it by the
Bank, during which a Fixed Rate Term Loan will bear a particular interest rate. If no Rate Term is
selected, the Borrower will be deemed to have selected a Rate Term of 1 year.

‘Rate and Payment Terms Notice" means the written notice sent by the Bank to the Borrower setting
out the interest rate and payment terms for a particular drawdown.

"Receivable Value" means, at any time of determination, the total value of those of the Borrower's
trade accounts receivable that are subject to the Bank Security other than (i) those accounts then
outstanding for 90 days, (i) those accounts owing by Persons, firms or corporations affiliated with the
Borrower, (iii) those accounts that the Bank may from time to time designate in its sole discretion, (iv)
those accounts subject to any claim, liens, or encumbrance having or purporting to have priority over
the Bank, (v) those accounts which are subject to a claim of set-off by the obligor under such account,
MINUS the total amount of all claims, liens, or encumbrances on those receivables having or
purporting to have priority over the Bank.
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"Receivables/Inventory Summary"” means a summary of the Borrower's trade account receivables and
inventories, in form as the Bank may require and certified by a senior officer/representative of the
Borrower.

“SOFR” means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight
financing rate for such Business Day published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a
successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate) on the website of the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York, currently at http:/Avww.newyorkfed.org (or any successor source for the secured
overnight financing rate identified as such by the administrator of the secured financing rate from time
to time), on the immediately succeeding Business Day.

“Term SOFR” means, for the applicable corresponding interest period, the forward-looking term rate
based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Federal Reserve System or the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any
successor thereto.

"US$" or "USD Equivalent” means, on any date, the equivalent amount in United States Dollars after
giving effect to a conversion of a specified amount of Canadian Dollars to United States Dollars at the
exchange rate determined by the Bank at the time of the conversion.
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LRO# 6o Charge/Mortgage Receipted as YR3362192 on 20220104 at13:38

Thé applicant(s) hereby applies to the Land Registrar. yyyymmdd Page1 of 3

I Properties

PIN 03543-0333 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple
Description PT LT 3 CON'6, GEORGINA, PT 1, 65R14491; TOWN OF GEORGINA

Address 26233 HIGHWAY 48
SUTTON WEST

Chargor(s) J
The chargor(s) hereby charges the land to the chargee(s). The chargor(s) acknowledges the receipt of the charge and the standard
charge terms, if any.

Name 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Address for Service 81 Churchill Ave.,
Toronto, ON M2N 1Y8
A person or persons with authority to bind the corporation has/have consented to the registration of this document.

This document is not authorized under Power of Attorney by this party.

| Chargee(s) Capacity Share I

Name THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

Address for Service 2300 Steeles Avenue West, Suite 200
Vaughan, ON L4K 5X6

Statements

Schedule: See Schedules

I Provisions

Principal $2,500,000.00 Currency CDN
Calculation Period See Schedule 1

Balance Due Date OOOOXOKKHHKK
Interest Rate See Schedule 1

Payments

Interest Adjustment Date

Payment Date ON DEMAND

First Payment Date

Last Payment Date

Standard Charge Terms 8520

Insurance Amount See standard charge terms
Guarantor

Signed By

Terrilee Ruth Elaine Walek 900-3 Robert Speck Pkwy acting for Signed 20211230
Mississauga Chargor(s)
147 2G5

Tel 905-276-9111

Fax 905-276-2298
I have the authority to sign and register the document on behalf of the Chargor(s).

Submitted By ]
KEYSER MASON BALL LLP 900-3 Robert Speck Pkwy . 2022 0104
Mississauga
L4Z 2G5
Tel 905-276-9111
Fax 905-276-2298
Fees/Taxes/Payment
Statutory Registration Fee $66.30

Total Paid $66.30



LRO # 65° Charge/Mortgage
The applicant(s) hereby applies to the Land Registrar.

Receipted as YR3362192 on 20220104  at 13:38
yyyy mmdd Page?2 of 3

File Number

Chargee Client Fife Number : DDG/TW 22800-25



m - B Schedule 1 -
= O Form 5 - Land Registration Reform Act, 1984 S
Page 20of

(A dditional Property Identifier(s) and/or Other Information

Thds is 2 Schedule to 2 Charge made between 2314251 Ontazio Inc.

and THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK.

Box (9)(h)  The Chargor hereby agrees to pay interest on the Principal Amount at the following Interest Rate:

+ the Bank's Prime Rate plus 3.0 % per annum. "Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum established
and reported by the Bank to the Bank of Canada from time to time as a reference rate of interest for the determination
of interest rates that the Bank charges to customers of varying degrees of credit worthiness in Canada for Canadian
dollar Joans made by itin Canada,

Bax (9)(c)  Interest at the Interest Rate aforesaid is calculated and payable monthly, not in advance, before and after demand,
default and judgment. Interest is payable on overdue interest and on Indebtedness payable under this Charge at the
aforesaid Interest Rate. Any payment appropriated as a penmanent reduction of this Charge shall be first applied against
interest accrued herennder.

FOR OFFICE!
USE ONLY:

Collateral Alt Purposs Charge 511964 (04(3)
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This is Exhibit “D” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022
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LRO# 65 Notice Of Assignment Of Rents-General Receipted as YR3362193 on 20220104 at 13:38
The applicant(s} hereby applies to the Land Registrar. yyyymmdd Page 1 of 4

I Properties
PIN 03543 -0333 LT
Description  PT LT 3 CON 6, GEORGINA, PT 1, 65R14491; TOWN OF GEORGINA

Address 26233 HIGHWAY 48
SUTTON WEST

Applicant(s)

The assignor(s) hereby assigns their interest in the rens of the above described land. The nofice is based on or affects a valid and
existing estate, right, interest or equity in land.

Name 2314251 ONTARIO INC.
Addrass for Service 81 Churchill Ave,
Toronto, ON M2N 1Y8
A person or persons with authority fo bind the corporation has/have consented to the registration of this document.

‘This document is not authorized under Power of Attamey by this party.

Party To(s) Capacity Share

Name THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

Address for Service 2300 Steeles Avenue West, Suite 200
Vaughan, ON L4K 5X6

Statements J

The applicant applies for the entry of a notice of general assignment of rents.

This notice may be deleted by the Land Registrar when the registered instrument, YR3362192 registered on 2022/01/04 to which this
nofice relates is deleted

Schedule: See Schedules

Signed By

Termilee Ruth Elaine Walek 900-3 Robert Speck Pkwy acting for Signed 2021 12 30
Mississauga Applicant(s)
LAZ 2G5 :

Tel 905-276-9111

Fax 905-276-2298

| have the authority to sign and register the document on behalf of all parties to the document.

Terrilee Ruth Elaine Walek 900-3 Robert Speck Pkwy acting for Signed 2021 1230
Mississauga Party To(s)
L4Z 2G5

Tel 905-276-9111

Fax 905-276-2298
| have the authority to sign and register the document on behalf of all parties to the document. -

Submitted By
KEYSER MASON BALL LLP 900-3 Robert Speck Pkwy 2022 01 04
Mississauga
L4Z 2G5
Tel 905-276-9111
Fax 905-276-2298
Fees/Taxes/Payment
Statutory Registration Fee $66.30
Total Paid $66.30
File Number

Party To Client File Number : DDG/TW 22800-25



TD Canada Trust
General Assignment of Rents & Leases

» 4
“Chis agreement and assigrmestls made a¢ ofthe (o - day of Degemmber 2021
BETWEEN:

231425} %NI ARIDING, N—
« acorporation Incorporatedimder the faws of Ontanio , (Hereimaiter called thée "A3signor™) of the first part,
«and -

The Toronto-Dominton Bank, 2 Canadian chartersd Bank (hereinafter talled the M Assignes”) of the swondp:i;
‘Whoveas the Assigoor s the swosr of tho Lands subjeot 1o the Mortgage;

And_:/ggrwmmorda 16 secure payment of the Obligations, the Assignor has agreed to assign the Leases and Rents to the Assignee as
provided hereln;

Nov thereforathls agresment and 4$31; ¢ witn thatin consideration of o promises and the covenangs and agreements hereln
contained and for ofher good and valuable consideration, tho xeceipt and sufficiency of Whith ao hereby acknowledged by cach of the
parties, the parties hereto agres as follows: R

1. Interpyetation

Ta this agresment and assi; unless thero s somothing i the subjeot matter or context incousistent thecowith,
8 g‘:&fd:;“‘ means {'fﬂan and premlses desoribed fa Scheduls A attached to this agreement and assjgnment.
s .

means;

cvery existing znd future lease or subleass of, and agresment to Jease or sublease, the whole orany portion of the Assignor's
jntegest in the Lands; .

(i) every existing and future tenancy, 38 to use or accupation and licence in respeet of the whole or any portion of the

N ;, whether or not pursuant o axry witten lease, a eat op Heence; "

(i) every existing and future ndemnity or guarantes ofall or any of the obligations of any existing oz firhine Tegant of the whole
or aay porton ofthe Lands; and L

@) ;‘\;n éxisting and futare ase] &nd agr to assume the obligations of Tenants of the whole or suy portion ofthe

Ia cach case, as amend 4, modlie, rpplemseated, jiaced orestated from thno 1o time,
. () 'Morlgage" means azegistered charge/mortpage of Lands, in the amovnt of TWO MILLION FIVB HUNDRED

THOUS,
S2 X ) Rom ths A To the Assignes, whichvwas signed, or for which an Acknowledgoment snd
Directionwas signed, on. Decs 202; and any amendments or modifications therets and sy mortgage or morgages
eo that is securs dylx

made or take in substifution thereof.
"Obligations” means the indebtedness and lishility of the Assignor to the Assl  the Mortgage.
Je and the benofit of'all

& 3

8 Rents" means allrents and other monles now dus and payeble or hereafior to glccome due and pay
covenands of Tenanls, Indemnitors and guarantors, undet or inxespest of the Leases,

) "“Tenant” mexas any lesses, sublesses, Ticonsea or graniee of e xight ofuse or ccsupationunder 4 Least sad that parson's

suceessors and permitted assigns,
: 2. Asstgninent
As continuing collaterat security for p t of the Obligations, the Assignor hereby assigns 10 (e Assignee and creates o seourity intorest
msuofmzmmrsﬂgﬁt,ﬁ e,hmeﬁzmdintmsmggt:’&ofcuowgf“ ki i
@ thc‘L&'“;mdA bcueﬁts,povg:%oyﬁan'sandagvmgﬁesofma fetor to be derived therofrom xnd all s, abligations,
22

ng: enits, 5
(®)  the Rents, with full power and authosity to dsmand, collect, sue for, recover, receivo and glvs receipts fir tho Reats aad to enforss
‘payment of the Rents and performance of the obligations of the Tenants, fademuitors and guarantors underthe Lesses in the pame
of tho Assignor or the owner fiom time to tims of the Lands,

3. Representations and Covenants of the Assignox .

Tho Assignoc herely zepretents (6, and covenants and agrees with, the Assigace that:
() mons of the Rents has bezn ot will be pald more than one month in advancs (sxeept, if 36 provided in the Lease, far payment of et
for the lastmonth of the term);
()  there has beenxo default of 2 meterial nature uoder my of the existing Leases which has not been xerodicd by any of the parties

thereto;
(6) itwill observe and perform all of its obligations under exoh of the Leasts and will not do o permit to be done zuything that conld
senzbly be expected 16 ad ly affect the bility of any Leass; »

(d) it will not surrender or materially modify, alter or amiend any Leass ar consent to an asslgnment of the Tenant's interest vder any
Lease without first obtaining the consent In writing of thie 5

(&) itwillnotatany tims assign, grant a securily intetest in or othervwiss encunber its jatersst vader any Lease ox the Rexnts dus ot to
becoms due fhéreimder, or any part thezeof, other then to fhe Assignes; and

6 itwillnotlesse oragxes toleascany of the ‘Lands axcept at A rent and on terms and conditions which a prudent landlord would
expect 1o receive for such premises, and except 16 Tenants 10 whom a prodent landlord would reat the partivular premises,

£3355240418)
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4, Dealing with Rents by the Assignor

Subject to paragraph 3() above, the Assignor shall be permitted to collect and recaive the Rents as and when they shall become oo and

payable according to the fexms ofthe particwiar Lease toloss and wnti] the Assigoor Is in default in payment of any of the Obligations ax i

observing ot pexforming sny covenant, obligation or candition under this tand sssignment or sy other t collataral

hereto, AReritie oconmence and during the coutinuation of 2 defanlt, the Assignes may deliver a written notics to any Tenant under any of

%u Leases dmg it 10 pay Lhe Rents payable wnder its Lesse to the Assignes, and such notics shall bs good and safficient authoxity for the
enantn so dofng.

8, Righls and Duties of the Assignes

Nothing conlalnied heroln or in any statuts shall have the effect of making the Assignes, its of assigns, responsible for the
collscton of any Rents or for the absecvance or parformance of any covensay, obligation or condition under any of the Leascs to e
observed or performed by the Assi and the Assignes shsll not, by vidue of this agzesment and assignment ox ts receipt of any Rents,
becomms or be desmed n moxtgageo in possession of the Lands, and the Assignes shall not be under any obligation 10 take any action oz
exeroiss any remedy for the collection or recavery ofanniRenk or o enforce the performance of the ¢bligations of any person wuder or fn
respect of amy of the Leases; and the Asslgnee shall be Mzbie te acoount only for uch Rents s it shall acnially xecelve; less all costs and
«xpenses Incaxred by the Assignes in the colleotion thereof.

6, Further Assurancss

The Assignor herchy agrees to execute such further desuments and Instrumeats sud to do alf such forther acts and things s msy be
Teasonably required by the Assigues from Himé to time to parfeot and fo cry out 1hs purpose aud infent of this agreement and assignment.

7. Ad3itionsl Continulng Seouxity *
This agréement end asslenmentis belng tken as additions! collateral seeurity forp ¢ of the Obligations, 2ad none of the rights or
dies of the Assignes under the Mortgag oranzothersecuﬁtyhcldbythe Assignes shall bo delayed orinmywaygejudlced by the ,
cnkering into of this t and ass] and following delivery by the Assignes to the Assignor of a discharge of the Mortgage this
agreement and sssignment shall bs ofno further force of effech
8, Indeninity

The Assignor shall yalmburso, indemnify and hold haymiess tre Asslgnes for and from any and 2ll ¢xpenses, losses, damages and labilities
whith the Assignes mymsénzbly incur by reasen of s agreement and assignmeat :1:3' the exerolse by of om behalf of the Assignes of
any rights under this agreement and assigoment.

5. Benefit of this Agresment

This sgreement and asslgnment shall enuze te the beaefit of the suceessors and assigns of the Assignes and Assignor,
This %zament snd asslgnment has been executed by the Assignor by its duly anthorized officers 24 of the dats first above written.

254 Ontario ine.
o .
Per Zides
Name; Mohammad A, Hafiz Office: President
Per:
Name; Offies: )
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Seliedute A

PTLT 3 CON 6, GEORGINA, PT 1, 65R14491; TOWN OF GBORGINA being the whols of PIN 03543-0333 1497

20d munidipally known ns 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontardo
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This is Exhibit “E” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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General Security Agreement

TO: The Toronte-Dominion Bank (the "Bank")

Branch of tho Banlct 2300 Steeles Ave, W, 2nd Floor, Vaughan, ON L4K 5%6

Qranted By:

2314251 ONTARIO INC,

(ths "Grantor")

Yor good and valuable consideration, the racelpt and suffielency of whieh is hereby acknowledged, the Grantor agrees with the Bank as follows!

1. Seeurity Inferest

The Grantot hereby gronts to the Bauk a seourity Intereat In, and asslgns (other than with respect to ttade-marks), moxtgages, charges aind pledges
{collectlvely, the "Securlty lnterost") to the Bank, all properly of the Grattor, inoluding all present and after acquired personal property and all other
property, assets and wndertakdng of the kind hereluafior desotibed bolow, in which the Grantor now has, or hereafter acquires, any tight, title or Interest, and
acoretions and accessions thereto (collectively called the "Collateral"):

®

(b

©

@

©

®

(®

Q)
@

0
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Intnnglbles, All Intanglble propetty not oltherwise described In this Seetlon 1, lucluding all contrastual righis and insurance claims, options,
permits, Hoences, quotas, subsidies, fanchises, orders, Judgients, patests, tradeinaks, trade names, teade seorets and know-how, hiventions,
goadwill, copyrights and other intellestual property of the Grantor, Including any rdght or lleence to use lutelleotual property belonging to a
third party fogether with any specified collateral desoribed In Sohedulo A" hereto (collestively anlled "Intangibles");

Chattol Paper and Documents of Title, All chattel paper and afl warehouse receipts, bills of lading and other doouments of title, whether
negotinble or not;

Deposiis and Credit Balances, All monles and oredit balanoes, Inefuding interest due thereon, whioh are no\s'( ot Inay heteafter from tine to
{ime bo on deposit with or standing to the eredit of the Grantor with the Bank or any ather bank, finanolal institutlon or other Person;

Books and Records. All deeds, docutments, wrltings, papers, books of account and other books and records in any form, electronle or
othenwise, relating to or ovidencing any of the Collateral

Accounts and Book Debts, Al debts, accounty, clalins snd choses ln aotlon for moneys now due or owlng or acoruing due or which may
hereafler become due or owliig te the Grantor, Ineluding olalins against the Crown jn kight of Canada or of any province, moneys which may
become payable wnder any poliey of insurance (collestively called "Accounts and Book Dehts"), together with all contracts, securitics, bills,
notes, lion noles, judgments, mortgagos, letters of credit and advices of eredit, and ail other rights, benefits and docurients swhieh ate now or
which may be taken, vested i or hold by the Grantor In respest of oz as securlty fot the Accounts and Book Debts or any part thereof, and the
full benefit and advaitage thereof and all rights of actlons, olaltnis or demands which the Grantot now has or may horoafier have In respeat of
the foregolng)

Lguipmont, All fools, machinery, apparatus, equipment, vehicles, fumiture, plants, fixtures, and othor tangible personal propetty, other than
Tnventory, wherever situate, inoluding the assets, If any, described In Schedulo *A" hereto (colleatlvely onlled "Bquipment");

Intventory. Al goods forming the fnventory of the Grantor, of whatever kind and wherever loonted, whether raw matetlal, wotk in prooess or
finished goods held for snle, loaso or resale, or futnished or to be furnished utder contracts for service or used or consumed In the business of
the Grantor, goods used in or procured for packing or packaging, timber cut ot to be cut, ofl, gag and minerals exiracted or to be exiracted, all
livestock and the young thereof nfter conception aid all crops which becone such within one year after the date of execution of this
Agreement (collectivoly called "Inventory");

Instruments, Al bills, nolos, oheques, lelters of eredit and othex instruments, whether negotiable or not {colleotively ealled "lustrumonts");

Securitles, All shares, stocks, wattants, options, bonds, debettures, debenture stock and all other seeurltios and Investmont property of ay
kind and all instruments, whether negotiable of non-negotlable, and Jnterest theeon and dividends, whether i’ shates, money or propetty,
recoived or gecelvable upon or In respact of any securities and other Investment propetty aud all money ot ather properly pald ot payabls on
account of aty rehurn on, o ropayment of, capltal in respeot of any zecuiltles or othenwvise distrdbuted or distributable In respect thereof or that
wiil in any way be oharged fo, of be payable out of or in respeot of, the capital of the lasuer of the securitios (colleatively called "Seourities");

Real Property, Al real and lmmovable property, both freshold and leasehold, (ogother with alf buildings and fixtures (collectively called
"Real Property"), and all rights undot any l¢nse ot agreement relating to Real Property;

512426 (0218)
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() Proceeds, All proceads of the property desctlbed above, inoluding any property In any form detived direetly or Jndiveotly from any vse or
denling with the property desoribed above or the proceeds thotofromn or that indemnlfies or compensates for damage of loss to suol property ot
the proceeds therefrom, Inoluding the money held In banks, financial institutions ot any othet Person (collectively calted "Praceeds");

+ provided that (1) the Securlty Interest docy not and will not extond to, and the Collaternl will not inolude, any agreement, lease, right, franchise, licence ot
permit (the "contractual rights") to which the Grantor js a patty or of which the Grantor has the benefit, to the extent that the Securlty Intorost would pormit
any persoit to terminate the contractual rights unless the conseit of one or more Porsons has been obtnined nud unttl such consent has been obtalned, which
the Grantor agrees It will use comtuerolally reasonablo efforts to obtain If requested by the Bank, the Grantor agrees to hold its Intorest therel In trust foe
the Bank, and notwithstanding the foregolng, eonttactual rlghts shall not Include any account or chattel paper; and (i) with respect to Real Property, (A) the
Seoutity Iuterest granted horeby is constituted by way of n floating charge, bt will become a fixed chatge upon the earller of the Obligations bacoming
immedlately payable, and the occurrenco of any other event that by operation of law wonld result Ju such floating ohatge becoming a fixed ohatge; and (B)
the nssignimont, motigage and charge granted hereby will not extend to the last day of the temn of any lease or agreement rolating to Real Property, but the

Grantor will hold such last day In trust for the Bank and, wpon the enforcomont by the Bank of its Security Interest, will assign such last day as ditected by
the Bank, :

2, Obligations Secured

The Sceutlty Interest secures the payment and performancs of alt prosent and future obligations of the Granter to the Banlk, inoluding all debts and
liabilitles, direot or Inditeet, absoluts or conlingent, matured or not, wheresogver and howsosver inourred, whether nourted bofors, ot the time of, or afler
the execution of this Agreement, whetlier the indebledness and liabjlity is from time to time reduced and thereafier Inerensed or entlrely extinguished and
thereafter inoutred again, whether arlsing fror dealings between the Buitk and the Grantor or from other dealings or pmceedmgs by whioh the Bank may be
or become In any manner whatsoever a ereditor of the Grantor, and i any cutretiey, whothet incurred by the Grantor alone or with another or others and
whether as a prinelpal or surety, loluding all Interest thereon and all amounts owed by the Grantox under this Agteement for fees, costs and oxpenses and In
raspeot of indemnities granted under this Agresment (collectively called the "Obligations®).

3. Deflnitlons

(8) Ay word or letnt that Is not atherwiss defined in this Agseoment shalt have the monning glven to it in the Personal Proporty Securtty Aci of
the province in which the Branch of the Bank Is located, as amended from time to time, and bolng reforrod to in this Agresment as the "PPSAY,

Aty reference lierein to "Collateral" shall, uiless tha contexi requiras othexwxse, be deenied to bo a reforence to "Collateral or any part
thersof?,

(b)  The following terms shall have the respeotive maanings set out helow:
"Branch of the Bank" imeans the branch of the Bank looated at the address speolfied above,

"Bushioss Day" means any day other than s Saturday, Sunday ot statutory holiday in the province In which the Branch of the Bank is located,

"Conirol Agreement” means:
(&) with respect to any uneetificated scourlty, at agresment between the issuer of such uncertiticated secutity and any Pexson whereby such

Issuer agress to comply with Instructions that are origlnated by such Porson I respect of such uncertificated securlty, wilhout the further
congent of the Grantoy; and

(b)  with respeot to anty securitles account or securlty entitlement, an agreement between the seonritics intermed!iory which malntains the
pattientar gecurliies account to which seoutlty entitlements included in the Collateral relate and any Person wheteby such seouritics
Intermediaty agreos (o comply with any entitlenont orders with respect to such seourfties accounts or seourity entitlements that are
originatod by such Person, without the fusther eonsont of the Grattor,

"Persan teans any Indlvidual, sote propristorship, Joint venture, paritorship, corporation, company, fitm, asscelation, so-operative, estate,
government, govemnment agency, regulatory authority, tust, or any eatity of pny nature,

4,  Ropresentationy & Wnrrantles

The Grantot hereby reprozents and warratits with the Bonk and g0 tong as this Agreement romalns iit effeot shall be deemed to continmously represent
and warrant that;

(8)  Loeatton of Hond Office, The nddress of the Grantor's chief oxecutive office and the office where It keeps its records respecting the Accounls
and Book Debts (the "Head Office") Is set out below (Lo nama of the Grantor on the signaturs page of this Agreerent;
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Loeallon of Colintoxal, The Collateral which is goods Is or will be located at the address set out on the slgnature page of this Agresiment or at
the locations specifiod In Sehedute "A" hereto or such other locations as have been agreed to by the Bank ln Writlig, except for (I} goods In
tratssit to suoh focations and (H) Inventory on lense or consignntent, but Inoluding all fixtures, orops, oll, gas or other minecals to bo oxiracted
and all thinber to be out which forms pert of the Collateral;

Colinteral Tree and Clonr, The Collateral (othet than Real Property) is the sole proporty of the Grantor free and olent of alf security Interests,
liens, charges, morigages, hypotheos, leases, licenses, Infringements by thied partles, ensumbrances, statutory lens or trusts, ollier adverse

claims or Juterests, or any Hphis of others, except for those seourlty interosts whioh ato expressly approved by the Bank in wrlting prior to thele
oteatlon or assuniption;

Anmount of Aceounts, Bach Account and Book Debt, Chattel Paper and Instramsent constituting Collateral Is enforcoable it aseordanco with its
torms ngalnst the party obligated to pay the same (the "Account Debtor") and the amount represented by the Grantor to tha Baik from time to
tirme ng owing by each Account Dobtor or by all Account Deblors will bs thie correot minount unconditionally owing by such Account Debtor of
Account Debtots, nnd ne Acoount Debtor will have any dofence, set-off, elnlm of connterclaii agninst the Grantor which can be assented
against the Bank, whether In any proceeding to enfotes Collateral or otherwise; '

Status and Binding Obligation, The Grantor (f) if a corporation or company, has beon duly Incorporated, amalgamated or conlinued, as the
oase 1may be, and Is valldly existing as a corporation or company, as the case may be, under the laws of its jurlsdiction of Incotporation,
amalgamatlon or conthiance, as the case may bo, (H) 1€ not & corporation or company, has been duly created or established as a partmership,
liited parinership or other entity and validly existe under the laws of the jurisdictlon In whioh It hns been oreated or established, and (i) is
duly qualified to carry on business and own property in each jurisdlotion where it oartles on buslness or where,any of Its property s looated.
The Gratitor hus adequate power, capacity and authorty to carry on lts business, own prapsity, borcow monios and enter lto agrestnshils
therefor, exectte and dellver this Agreement, and perform Iis obligations under this Agresment, which Agreement constitutes s legally valld
and binding cbligation of the Graitor enforceable In accordance with Its termis, The making of this Agreoment will not result In the breach of,
constltute a defanlt wuder, contraveite auny provislon of; or result in the eteatlon of; any hen, charge, seoutlty Interest, enoumbrance or any other
tlghts of othets upon any property of the Grantor pursusit to any agreement, Indenture ot oflter instrumont to whioh the Grantor Is a party of by
witich the Grantor or any of its property may be bound or affeoted; and

Inteliectun) Proporty, All lntellectual prapetty applicntions and teglstrations are valid, subsisting, unoxplred, enforceable, In good standing
and have not been abandoned and the Grantor is the owner of the applications and reglstrations,

5 Cavennnts

The Grantor covenants and agrees with the Bank that:

(a)

®

©

@
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Pluce of Bustness and Loeation of Collateral, The Grantot shall hot change Its name or the lacation of its Head Office, amalgamate with miy
olher Person, or move any of the Collatoral from the addtess set out on the sigtature page of this Agreement ar the locatlons specified in
Schedule "A" hereto other than In accordance with elause 5(g), without the prlor written consent of the Bank:

Notifieation The Grantor shall nolify the Bank proniptly oft (i) any change in the infonnation contained herein ot in Schedulo "A" hereto
relating to the Grantoy, the Grantor's buslniess ot Collaternl; (H) the delalls of any significant nequisition of Collateral; (1) the details of any
olaims or litigation affecting the Grantor or the Collatoral and witl furnish tho Bank with coples of the details of suoh claims or littgation; (iv)
any Joss or damage to Collateral or any fmaterinl adverse change ki the value of Collateral; and (v) any defuult by any Account Iebtor it
payment or other performance of its obligations with respect to Cotlateral;

Porformmice of Ohligations, The Grantor shell observe and perform all its obligations under all matetial leases, lcenses, undertakings and
ageeemenls to which It is a party, oblain and presesve its rights, powers, ficences, privileges, frauchises and gopdwill lhorounder, and comply
with all appticable laws, by-laws, rules, regulations and ordinances In a proper and effletent mannor so as to preserve and protect the Collateral
and the businass and undertaking of the Grantor In all materlal respects. The Guantor shall also pay all rents, taxes, rates, levies, assessments
and govenunent foes or dues levied, assessed or Imiposed I respect of the Collateral and other charges or any part thereof ag and whets the
same becomo dus and payable, and shall provide to the Bank, when requested, the recelpts and vouchers evidenolng payient;

Limltations on Discosmts, Extonslons of Accounts and Comprowmlses, The Gramtor shall not grant any extenston of tits for payment of nny
Accounts or Book Debts, or compromise, compound or seitle sy Accounts or Book Debis for less thati the fill amount, ot release, whoily or
partlally, any Person iabls for the paywent of any Accounts or Book Dabts, ot allow any oredit or discount of any Account or Book Debt,
other than i the ordinaty course of business of the Grantor und consistent with Industry praclices;




()

®

(®)

(h)

)

)
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Payment of Feos aued Exponses, The Grautor will pay the Bank on demand all oosts, fees and expenses (inoluding legal fees on a solieitor and
his own client basis) Inourred by the Bank In the prepavation, excentlon, reglstratlon and porfeotlon of thls Agresment aud the carrylug out of
any of Uiie provistons of this Apreement, Includlng, protesting and preserving the Seourity Interest and enforcing by Iopal process ot otherwise
the remedles provided herotn. All such costs and oxpenses payable by the Gratitot to the Bank shall bear Interest from time to time st the

highest interast rate then applicable to any of the Obligations, caleulaled and compounded nionthly, and shall be added to and form part of the
Obligations seouted hereundsr;

Malntenanes and Protecton of Collaten¥/No Fixturos, The Grantor shall care for, proteot and preéserve the Collateral and not permit ifs
value to be Impalred and will not pormit the Collateral to be affixed to real o psrsonal property so as to becone a fixturs or aceesslon without
the priok writlett consent of the Bank, Tho Grantor shall keep the Collateral In good order, condition and repaiv and shall not wse the Collateral
Inviolalion of the provisions of this Agreenient or any other ngreomont relating to the Collateral ot any policy insurlng the Colluteral ot any
applicable statute, law, by-lnw, rule, regulatlon or ordinance. The Grantor will keep all fleences, ponmits, agreements, reglateatlons and
appliontions relatlig to Intelleotunl property wsed by Grautor In its busliess ln good standing, wnless otherwlseragreed to In writing by the
Banlk, The Grantor shall apply to register all existing and futuro copyrlglits, trade-inarks, patonts, Integrated elreult topographies and industrial
dosigns whenever it s commeroinily reasonable to do so. The Grantor shall defend titls to the Collateral against all claims and demands of all
other Parsons claiming the satne or an Interest thereln and shall diligently inltlate and prosecute legal aotion agalst every Person who infringes
upott the Grantor's rights in Intellectual propetty;

Denting wlth Collatern), (I) The Grantor will not sell, lease, traisfer, assign, dellver ot atherwise dispose of the Collateral or any Interest
thereln without the prior wrltten consent of the Bauk, except that the Grantor may, watll st event of default as herolnaftet provided ocours, deal
with any Inventory or Real Property (other than fixtures financed by the Bauk and any replacements or substitutions therefor) n tho oedlnary
course of business so that the purchaser thereof takes title thereto free and elear of ihe Security Interest; (1) All Proceeds shafl continue to be
subjeot to the Seourity Interest, granted heroby and all monoy recetved by the Geantor as Proceeds, other than from the sale of Inventory, shail
be recelyed as trustes for the Bank and shall be held separate and apatt from othot money of the Grantor, and shail be pald over to the Bank
upon requast; (ilf) All money collected or recstved by tho Bank In respeot of the Collateral may be applisd o nocount of such parts of the
Obligations as the Bank In its sole diseretion determines, or may be held unappropriated In a collateral account, or in the diserotion of the Bank
may bo roleased {o the Grantor, all without projudice to the Bank's rlghts against the Grantor; (iv) Bofore at svent of default oeours hereundor,
the Bank may glve notice of this Agreement and the Security Interest to any Account Debtor who is obligaied fo the Grantor under any of the
Accounta and Book Debts and, after the acourrence of an event of default hereunder, may give notlce to any sueh Account Debtor to make afl
fugther payments to the Bank, and aty payment or other Procseds recoived by the Grantor from an Account Debtor after an event of default
whether before or afler any notlee s glven by the Bank, shall be leld by the Grantor in trust for the Bank and pald ovet to the Bank on request,
The Bauk shall have the tight at any thne and from time to tine to verify the existence and state of the Collateral In any manner the Bank may
consider appropriate and the Grantor agrees to furnish all assistance and Information and to perform all suoh acts as the Bank may reasonably

request in connection. therewlth and for such purpose to grant to the Bank or Its agents access to all places where Collateral gy be located and
to all pretises ocoupied by the Grantor;

Mslintenance of Records, The Grantor will keop proper books of account in accordance with sound accounting practice and mark any and all
such records and the Collateral at the Bank's request so a3 to indicate the Securlty Interest, 'The Grantor shall fumish to the Bank such
finanolel Information and staterents and suoh Information and statements relating to the Collatoral as the Bank may from time fo thine require
and shall permit the Bank or its agents at any thine af the expenge of the Grantor to examine the books of account and other finanolal records
and reports relating to the Collateral and to make copies thereof and take extracts thorefrom and to make Inquiries of third parties for the
purposa of verificatlon of sush Information. The Grantor authotizes any Person holding any Baoks and Records to make them avallable, in a
roadable form, upon the request of the Bank. The Grantor will defiver to the Bank any Dacuinents of Title, Instrumonts, Securities and Chattel
Paper conslituting, representing or relating to Collatoral;

Nogntlve Plodge, The Grantor will ot create, inour, assume or suffer to exist, any morigage, deod of irust, pledge, lien, seourity Interest,
assigoment, charge, hypothee, enoumbrance or statutory Hen ot trust (including any conditional sale, or other title retention agreensent or
finanee tease) of any nature, on any of the Collateral (other that Real Property, but not including any fixtures financed by the Bank and any
replacemnents o substitutions therefor) without the expross prior written consent of the Bank;

Insurance, The Grantor will keep the Collateral insured wnder polleies with such goverage, for such amownts and with suoh insurers ag ate
satisfactory fo the Bank from thme to thtme, with loss thereunder, payable to the Bank and shall furnish the Bank with a copy of any policy of
Insutance, certificnie of insurance oy other evidanco satisfactory to the Bank that such nsutancs covetags Is in effect:

Further Assurances, The Grantor will from {me to time forthwith, at the expense of the Grantoy, duly authorlze, exeoute and deliver such
further Instruments and doouments, and take such further actlon, as tho Bauk may request for the purpose of oblainitig of presetving the
benefits of, and the righis and powers granted by, this Agreeiment (Ineluding the flling of any financing statements or finanoing chonge
staterments under any applicable leglslation with respest to the Collateral) and for the purpose of correoting any deficlencies ot olexieal errors In
this Agreemont; and ’ :
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() Londlord Agreement. The Grantor will, at the request of the Bank, oblafn & wrltten agresinent froim each Jandlord of premises whers any of
the Collateral s looated, In favour of the Bank and In form and substance satlsfactory to the Bank, whereby such lundlord agreds to give notico
{0 thoe Bank of any defaull by the Orantor undet the leass and a reasonable opportunity 1o cute suol defauit prior to the exerolse of any
ronedles by the laudlord and acknowledges thie Seourity Interost crealed by this Agreoment and the right of the Bank to enforee the Security

Interest oreated by this Agreement In priority to any olaln of suoh latdlod, inotuding the right of the landlord to distrain on the Collateral for
acrears of rent,

Survlval of Roprasontations and Warsantlos and Covonants ,
All agreements, representations, warrantios and covenants muds by the Grantor in (his Agresment are material, will bo considered to have been relied
o by the Bank and will survive the exeoution and delivery of this Agreement or any Investigation made at any time by or on belalf of the Bank and
any dlsposition or payment of the Obligations until the indefeasiblo repayment and performance fn full of the Obligntions,

Performnanee of Covenants by Tho Bank

{a)  The Bank tmmy, in its sole discretion and upon notlce to the Grantor, perform any covenant of the Grantor under this Agresment that the
Grantor falls to perform ineludlig any covenaut the performance of which requires the payment of money, provided that the Bank will not be
obligated to perform such covenant on behalf of the Grantol, The perforanco by the Bank of any swoh sovena shall ot oblige the Bank fo
continue to porform any such covenant or ather covenants not xellevo the Grantor from any default or derogate from the rlghis and roraedies of
the Bank under this Agreement, The Grantor agrees lo indemnify and to relniburse the Bank for all costs and expenses Incurred by the Bank In
contsetion with the performance by it of any such covenant, and all suoh costs and expenses shall be payable by the Grantor to the Bank on

demand, shall bear interest at the highest rate per ananm appllcabls to any of the Obligations, calenlated and compownded monthly, and shall
be added to and fotm part of the Obligations,

(b))  Inholding any Collateral, the Bank and any agent ot notinoe on lts behalf is only bound to exetclse the saine degree of oars as If would
exerolse with respect to similar property of lts own or of similar vatue held In the same or similar fooatlon, The Bank and any agent or hominee
on s behalf will bs desmed to have exerolsed reasonable care with respeot to the custody and preservation of the Collateral 1£ 1 takes such

nction for that purposc as fiie Orantor reasonably requests In writing, but failurs of the Bank or its nominees to comply with any such request
will not of ltself be deemed a fallure to exerclse reasonable care,

Securitles, Investnient Propesty ,
If Collateral at any time includes Seouritles, the Grantor authorlzes the Bank fo transfor alt or any of such Sesuritios lito Its own namo or that of lts
nomiiee(s) so that the Bank or s nominee(s) may appear on record as the sole owner thereof} provided that, wntl defauls, the Batk shall deliver
prompily to the Grantor all notlees ot other comtnuntoations recetved by it or its nomiitee(s) as such registeted owner and, upon demand and secoipt
of puyment of any neeossary expenses thereof, shall issue to the Grantor or its order a proxy to vote and take all actlon with respeot to such Securities.
Aftor defhult, the Grantor walves all rights to recetve any notices or conununications recelved by the Bank or its nominee(s) as such reglstered owner
atd agrees that no proxy lssued by the Bank to the Grantor or its order as aforesald shall theroafier be effective,

Whege any Invesient Propetty is held in of oredited to an Rcoounst that has beent established with a scourlties intermedlary, the Bank may, at any time
glve a nollse of excluslve control to any such securitles intermedary with respect to such Tnvestment Property.

The Grartor lias nol consented to and covenants that it will not consent to, the entering tnto of a Control Agrosment by: (a) any lssuor of any
uncertificated seoucltles included in or relating to the Collatexal; ox (b) any seouritlos intermedlary for any securities accounts or secwrity entitlements
Included In or relating to the Collateral, other than, In elther case, a Control Agreement to swhich the Bank is a patty,

Promptly upon requost from time to time by the Bank, the Grantor shall:

(a)  enter into and use reasonable commercial offorts to causs atty seourities Intermedlary for any seeurties accounts or seouritles entitlements
Included i or relating to the Collateral to enter into a Control Agresment with the Bauk with respeot to such securl([es aceounts or securitles
entltlements as tha Bank requires i forin and substance satisfactory (o tho Bank; and

(b)  enter into and uge reasonable commeroin! efforts to cause any lsswet of any uncenlﬂcaled geawrities fneluded In or relating to the Collateral to
enter Into a Control Agreemontt with the Bank with rospeet to such nncertifioated securities in form and substance satfsfactory to the Bank,

Dealing with Seeurity Interest

The Batik titay geant extensions of time and othet indulgettoes, glve up any of the Seourity Interest, abstain from petfecting any of the Seewlty
Interest, accept compasitions, grant releases and discharges and waive rights agalbst aud otherwige dea! with the Grantor, Accotint Deblots of the
Grantor, suretfes and others and with any of the Collaterat and any other seourdty as the Bank may see fit withont prejudice to the Hablity of the
Grantor ot the Banlds tight to hold and realizo atry of the Security Infetest. The Bank shell not be accountable to the Qrantor for the valus of any of
the Securlty Interest released oxcept for any moneys aotuatly recetved by the Bank,
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10, Doposlts and Credit Balancos

Without Himitlug any other tlghts or remedles of the Bank, the Bank may, without notice to the Grantoy ot any other Potson, any notlce being
expressly walved by the Grantor, set-off and apply sll or any of the nmounta standing to or for the credlt of ihe Grantor at the Bunk ot aity of the
Bank's affiliates, In any currency, agehist nad on account of all or any part of the Obtigations, all as the Bank may see fit, whether o 1ot the
Obligations ot the amounts standing {o ot for {he credit of the Grntor e due and payable, The Bank Is authotized and shall be entltled to make such
deblts, credits, correctlng entrles, and other entrles to tho Grantor's accovnts and the Bank's records relating to the Grantor as the Bestk regards as
deslrable In order to glve effect to the Bank's rights horeunder and the Grantor agrees to be bound by such enttles abgent manifest error, When
applylng a deposit or other obligatlon In a different currency than the Obligations to the Obligatlons, the Bani will convert the deposit o other

obiigation to the cutrency of the Obligations using the rate of exchange for the conversion of such currenoy as detarmined by the Bank or its agents
and the Bank ot its agent may earn revenue on such conversion,

1{, Ivenis of Default

Obligations not payable on demand shall, a the optlon of the Bank, become immedlately due and payabls upon the ocourrence of one or more of the
followlng events (cach, an “event of defanlt™):

(a)  the Grantor fails to pay when due, whethes by acceloration or otherwise, any of the Obligatlons;

() the Grantor falls to perform any provision of this Agteement or of any other agreemont to which the Grantor and the Bank are parties;

()  Ifany certifioate, statentent, representation, wartanty, audit seport or financial statement horelofore of heteaRer furittehed by or on hehalf of tha
Grantor pursuant to ox In conneotion with this Agreement, or ag an inducement to the Bank to extend any oredit to or to enter ito this or any
other agreement with the Grantor, is shown to have been false lu any malerlal respect or to have omlitted any materlal faot; or If upon the date
of exacution of this Agreement, there shall have been any material adverse change i1 nny of the facts disolosed by any such certificate,

ropresentation, statement, wasranty, sudit report or financial statement, which chauge shall not have been discfosed to the Bank at or prior to
the time of such execution;

(d)  the Grantor canses or threatens fo cease to carry on buslness, commits an act of bankruptoy, becomes Insolvent, proceedings ot othet actions
are taken by ot agalust the Grantor under the Bankruptey and Insolvency det (Canada), the Compuanies' Creditors Arrangement det (Canada)
or similar legislation whether in Canada ot elsewhers, or the Grantor transfors all or substantially all of s assets to another Person

(®)  arccelver, trusteo, custodian or olher slmilar official is appointed in respeet of the Grantor ot any of the Grantor's propetty;

()  the institution by or against the Grantor of any formal or informal proceeding for the disselution or Hquldation ox settlement of claling agalnst
or winding up of affairs of the Grantor;

(2)  anchoumbtaticer takes pogsossion of any of the Collateral or any process of execution or distress is levied or enforced upon or against any of
the Collatoral; ‘

() any indebtednoss or liabitity of the Graitor, other than to the Bank, becomes due and payable, or capable of being decluted due and payablo,
before the stated muaturlty thereof or any such Indebtedness or lirbility shall not be pald at the matutity theteof ot upon the expiration of any
stated applicable gtace petlod thereof, or the Grautor falls to make paytitent when due under any guataittee glven by the Grantor;

{y  ifthe Qrantor Is an individual, the Grantor dles or I3 found by a coutt fo be incapable of managing his or her affalrs;

{)  anexeoutlon or shy other process of any court shall beeconme enforceable against the Grantor;

(k)  ifthe Grantor is a pattnership, the death of a partuier; ot

()  any othor event which causes the Bank, in good faitly, to deerm Itself Inseoure;

and the Bank shall not be required to make any further advances or other extension of ¢redit that constitutos an Obllgatlon,

12,  Remedles

{8)  Upon the acovtrence of ah event of default that has not been cured or walved, the Bank, In addition to auy right ot remedy otherwise provided
herefn or by law ar in equity, will have the rights and temedies set out betow, which may be ettforced successively or soncutrently:

() o take such sleps as the Bank considers desivable to malutain, preserve or proteot the Collateral or its value;
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() to tnke possosslon of the Collateral and require the Granlot to nssemble the Collateral and deliver or make the Collaleral available to the

Bank at such place as may be specified by the Bank, and the Bauk will not be or be deemed to be a mortgagee In possossion by virtue of
any such actions;

(1H) 1o exercise and enforco all rights and remedtes of the Grautor with respect to the Collateral, Including colleotlng and realizing upon atl
Accounis and Book Debts;

(v) o carry on or concur In carrylng on alf or any part of the business of the Grantor;

(v)  for the malntenance, presetvation ox protection of the Collaternl or for garrying on anty of the business of the Grantor, to borrow nionoy
on the securlty of the Collajeral, which seourity will rank In priority to the Security Interest, or on an unsecutod basts;

(vi) to the exclusion of all others, Including the Grantor, to enter upon, occupy and use all or any of the premises, bulldings and plants
owned or acoupled by the Grantor and use all or any of the Collatora) of the Qrantor for suoh {itne as the Bank requires to faoilitate the
preservation and realization of the Collateral, free of charge, and the Bank wilt niot be liable to the Grantor for any negleet In o doing ox
in respect of any yont, charges, depreclation or damages in connection with such aotions;

(vil) to sell, Jease, Jiconse or otherwlise dispose of or coneur in selling, leasing, liconsing or otlierwlse disposing of the Collateral upon such
terms and condittons as the Bank nyay delermine;

{vlli) to dispose of any of the Collatexal In the condltion in which it was al the date possossion of it was taken, ot after any convinerclally
reasonable repal, processing o preparation thereof for disposition;

(Ix)  1f any part of the Collateral is perishable or will decline speedily 1 value, to sell or otherwise dlspose of same without giving uny notice
of suoh disposition;

(x)  to ke any arfatigement or cotnpromise which the Bank shall think expedlent in the interests of the Bank, inoluding comptomising
any Accounts and Book Debts, and giving time for payment theteof with or without seenrity;

(x) to appoint a consultant or monitor, al the Grantor's expenss, to evaluate the Qrantor's business and (he value of the Collateral, and fo
review the optlons availablo to the Bank; and

(xi1) toappoint or reappoint by Instrument in writing any petson or persons, whether an officer or officers or employes or employees of the
Bank ot not, to be a receiver of recclvors or a recelver and manager of the Collateral and retnove or replace any petson of persons so
appointed of apply 1o any coutt for the appolntment of a reselver or recoiver and manager (¢ach herelnafter called & "Recelver™).

Any Recelver so appolnted shall be deemed to be the agent of the Grantor and sot the Bank, and the Grantor and not the Bank, shall be solely
responsible for the Receiver's acls or dofaults and for the Receiver's remuneration and expenses, The Bank shall not be in any way responsible
for any misconduot, neglgence or failuro to got on the pait of any such Recolver, its servants, agents or emplayees,

The Gratitor agteos o pay alt costs, chatges and expenses lnousred by the Bank or any Recolver appolnted by the Bank, whethet direotly or for
services rendered (inoluding reasonablo logal and auditors' cosis and expenses aud Recelver remutieration), In operating the Grantor's aceounts,
in propating or enforcing thiy Agreement, taking and maintalnitig oustody of, proserving, repalring, processing, prepacing for disposition and
disposing of Collateral and lu enforeing or collecting the Obligatlons, and all such costs, charges and expenses, together with any amounts
owlng as a result of mny borrowing by the Baok or any Recelver appoluted by the Bank, ss permitted hereby, shall be a first charge on the
Collateral and shall be sscured beteby,

The Bank will give the Grantor such nollee, If any, of the date, time and place of any publie sale o of the date after whiosk any private
digpositlon of Collaters! is to bo mado as may bo requlred by the PPSA,

Upon default and recetving wiitton demand from the Bank, the Grantor agrees to take such flurthor aotion as tnay be necsssary to evidence and
effect nu assigtiment of liesnsing of intelleotual property to whomevet the Bank dixeots, lneluding to the Bank, The Grantor appolnts any
officer or employeo of the Bank to bo lts attorney In accordnnce with applleable leglstation with full power of substitution, to do on the
Grantor's behalf anything that js required fo assig, license or transfer, and to record any assignment, license or transfer of the Collatexal. This
power of attomey, which ls coupled with an interest, Is lrrevocable uniil the tolease ot discharge of the Securlty Interest,

The Grantor authorlzes the Bank lo file such financlng statements, financlng change statemonts and other docuntents and do suich acts, matters
and things (ineluding completing and adding schedules hiereto identifylug any Collateral ar identifying the looatlons at which the Collateral iy
located and cotrecting any clerical etrors ot deficiencles in this Apreement) as the Bank may decin appropriate to perfect on an ongolug basis
and continue the Securlty Intorest, fo protect and preserve Collateral and to reallze upon the Secutity Interast, The Grantor hereby Irrevocably
constitutes and appolnts the Bank and any of lts officets or employees from time to Hime as the true snd lawful attomay of the Grantor, with

"Paga7oflz full power of substitutlon, to do any of the foregoing In the name of the Grantor whenaver and wherever It may be deemed nesessary of
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ogpedient, This power of attarney, which Is couplod with an Intevest, Is lerovosable until the release or discharge of the Securlty Interest,

1£ the dlposition of the Collnteral fails to satisfy the Obligations secured by this Agteement inoluding the expenses lnourred by the Bank fun.

conneetion whh the preservatlon and realization of the Collateral as described above, the Grantor shall be liable to pay any deficlenoy to he Bank
forthwith on dermand.

13, Envivenmental Liceuse and Indemmity

The Grantor hereby grants ¢o the Batk and its officors, employees and agents an Irrevocable and not-exclustve license, subject to the rights of
letants, to entet any Real Propetty to conduot investigations, inspeotions, audits, lesting and monitoring with respect to any contaminants or
hazardous substatices and to remove and analyze saiples of any contaminents or hazardous snbstances at the cost and exponse of the Grantox (whioh
sost and expense witl form part of the Obligations and will be payable immediately on domand and secured hoteby). The Grantor hereby indemnifies
atd will lndemnify the Bank and tigrees to hold the Bank harmless agalnst and frotn all loases, fines, penalifes, costs, damages snd expenses whlsh
the Bahk fny sustaln, incur or bs held lo be or for which it may become liable, at any time whatsosver for ot by reason of o arging from the past,
prosont or future presence of of, cleat-up, removal or disposal of any containants oy hazardous substances from, ony under or adjacent to any Real
Praperly owned by the Grantor or which may become owned or occupied by the Bank or as a tesult of the Bank's cotupliance with envitonmental
laws or environinental ordets reluting thereto, Including any olean-up, decommissioning, restoration or romediation of any Real Property ownad of

ocoupled by the Grantor or other affected or adjacent Iands or praporty, This indemnification will survive the sattsfaction, release or extinpuishment
of the Obligations created hetsby

14, Miscellnneous

(8)  Interprotation. The divisloa of this Agreement Into Sections and the insertlon of headings are for convenience of reference onty and sholl not
affect the construstlon or Interpretation of this Agreement, The terms "this Agreement”, *hereof", "hereundor” and similar exprassions refer to
this Agreoment (ncluding any schedule now or horeafter annexed herolo) and tiet to any partieular Sectton or othor postlon hereof, Unless
utherwlso speeliled, any reforence hereitt to a Sectlon or Schedule refers ta the speoclfied Section of or Schedule to this Agreement, In this
Agreement; (1) words importing the singulor sumber only shall include the plural and vics versa and words Importing the masculine gender
shall Inolirde the feminine and neuter genders and viee versa; (i) the words "lnelude”, “includes” and "inoluditg" mean "include®, "inoludes” or
"including", In sach case, "without Hmiation; ({ll) reference to any agreoment or other lnstrument I wrlting means such agteement or other
Instrutnent i wrlting as amended, modifted, replaced ot supplemented from tiime to time; (iv) unless otherwise indicated, time perlods within
which a payment Is to b made ot any other action Is fo be taken hereunder shall be caleulated excluding the day on which the period
cominences and including the day on which the petlod ends; and (v) whehever any payment to be made ot actlon to be taken herenndot is
required to be mads ot laken on a dsy other than a Business Day, such payment shatl be made or actlon taken on the next followg Business
Day, )

(b)  Successors aud Assigns, This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be bindlng upon the parties hereto and thelr respective heirs,
exeoutors, administeators, suecessors and pertnitted assigns, In any action brought by my assignee of this Agreotont and the Seoutlty Interest
ot any patt thereof to onforee nay rights hereunder, the Grantor shall not assert against the asslgnee any claim or defence whicl the Grantor
now hag or hercafter may have agalnst the Bank,

(o  Amalgamation, The Grantor acknowledges and agrees that in the event It atnalgamates with any other company or compantes it Is the
Intention of the parties liereto that the tern "Grantor" whon used hexehn shall apply to each ofthe amalgamating compnnies and to the
amgigamated company, such thet the Seoutlty Intéxest granted hereby (1) shall extend to "Collateral” (as that term is hereln defined) in which
any amelgamating company has auy riglts at the time of amalgamation and fo any "Collateral" In whioh the amalgamated cotnpany thereafter
has any rights, and (Il) shall seours the "Obligatlons" (s that term {s horein dofined) of each of the amalgamating compantes and the
athalgamated company to the Bank at the time of amalgamatlon and any "Obligations” of the amalgamated company fo the Bank thereafler
arlsing,

(&)  Jolnt and Sevoral: 1f there Is moto than one Grantor named herein, (he term "Grantor” shall mean all and each of them, thelr obligations under
this Agtesment shall be jolnt and several, the Obligations shall ineludas those af all or any one of them and tio Grantor shall havs the rlght of
subsogation, exonesation, relmbursement or Indemulty whatsoever and no right of recourse to the Collateral for the Oblipations hereunder
unless and uitif all of the Obligations have been paid or performed In full, notwithstanding any change for any cause or in any manner
whatsoevet I the composition of or membership of any firn or company which ¢ a party herata,

(&)  Aflachmont of Seeurity Inforest, The Graniot acknowledgoes that value has beon glven and that the Secutlty Interest geanted hersby will
attacit when the Grantor slgns this Agteement and will attach to Collnteral in which the Grantor subsequetitly acquires any xights, immedintely
upon the Grantor acqulring such rights, The parties do not intend to postpone the attachinent of any Securty Lntorest sreated by this
Agreement,
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No Obligatlon fo Advance, Nelther the executlon of this Agreement or any advance of funds shiall oblige the Bauk to advance any funds of

atiy additlona) funds or entor Into atly transnclion or renew any note ot extend any time for paymont of any of the Obligations of the Grantot to
tho Bank.

Informntion, The Bank may provide any financial and other information 1t has sbout the Grantor, the Seourity Interost and the Collateral to

any one acquldug ot who miay acqulre an Interest i the Security literost of the Collateral from the Bank ox anyoite acting on behalCof the
Bank,

Asslgment, The Bank may asslgn or transfor any of Its rights under this Agresment without the consent of the Grantor, The Grantor may sot
assign Its obl{gations under this Agreement without the prlor writton consettt of the Bank,

Auiondment. Subject to Seotlon 12(f) of this Agreoment, no amendment to this Agreement will be valid or binding unless sot fosth i writing
aind duly executed by all of the patties herelo, No cowrse of conduot by the Bank will be deemed to result In an amendiment of this Agreement.

Term, This Agreament shall bo a contluulng agreement in svery respeot for the payinent of the Obligations and it shall romain in full force and
effect wntil all of the Obligations shall be indefeaslbly pald In full or discharged by the Bank and until thie Bank shall o longer have any
commitment to the Grantor or any othor Person, the falfillment of which, might result In the creation of Obligations of the Grantor,

Severabillty, If any provislon of this Agresment is determitted by a court of competent jurlsdiotlon to be invalid o unenforceable i any
respest, such Invalldity or unenforceabiiity will not affect the validity or enforesability of the remalning provisions of this Agreement,

Governlng Law, This Agreenent will be gavotiied by and constrted in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction whete the Branch of the
Bank Js located,

Walver by the Bank, No delry or omlsslon by the Bank lu exorcislag any right or retnedy hersunder or with respeot to aiy Obligations shall
aperate as a watver thereof or of any olher right or remedy, and 110 slngle or patilal ¢xercise thereof shall preolude any other o further exeteise
thercof or of any othep rlght ot retedy. Furthernors, the Bank may remedy any defanlt by the Granfor hereunder or with respect to any
Obligations in any rensonable manner whhout walving the default remedied and without walving any other prior or subsequennt default by the
Grantor, No cotirse of conduct of the Bank will give rise (o any reazonable expectation whiolt Is in aty way inconsistent with the tertns and
contditions of this Agreoment or the Bank's tights hersunder. All tlghts and remedies of ihe Bank granted or recognized hereln ate cuntulative
aind imay be exsrcised at any timo and from Ume to time jndependsntly ot in combination,

‘Walver by the Grantor, The Grantor waives protest of any Instruthent constituting Collateral at any time lield by the Bank on which the
Grantor is n any way lable and, subject to clause 12(d) hereof, notice of any other action taken by the Bank,

Nou-Substltution. The Seoutky Interest Is in addition to and not In substitution for any other seowrlty now or hereafter held by the Bank,
Bathre Agreonont, This Ageement inoluding any schedule now or hereaRer antexed hereto, conatitutes the entire agresinent between the
Grantot and the Bank with respeot to the subject matter hereof, There ate no ropresentations, warranties, terns aud conditons, undertakings or
oolluteral agreements, express, implicd or statutory, between the patties except as expressly aet forth In this Agreemont,

Acknowledgment. The Grantor scknawledges recelipt of a fully sxceuted copy of this Agreemont and, to the extent poumnitied by applloable
law, waives the right to recelve a capy of any financlug statement, financing change statement or verificatlon statement in respeot of any

reglstered financing statement ot financing changs statement prepated, vegistered or fssued In connection with this Agreement.

Exeoution. The Grantor agreas that this Agreetnent iy be executed elecironically and in counterparis,




IN WITNESS WHERBOF the Grantor iag excouted this Agreement this

d Ry of Decetnber

, 2021

2314251 ONTARIO INC,

. ¥
Per: équj)/

72

{authorized éiéunﬁl}e)

Pe;

(authorized signature)

Signature:

Witness ag to excoution

Imran Akram, Barrister & Solicitor
1300 Hurontarlo Street
Mississauga, ON L5G 3H3 Canada
Phone: +1-289-814.2844
Fax; +1-289-814-2942
Emall! Imran@akrarm.pre

Page 10 0f 12

Naing:

[Address of Grantor)

Signature:

Nante;

[Address of Grantor]

Signature:

Nare;

[Addross of Grantor]

Signature;

Name:

[Address of Grantor]

Signature:

Naine:

[Address of Graniot]

Stgnature:

Name!

[Address of Grantor]

Stgnnture:

Name!

[Address of Grantox]
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SCHEDULE "AM
DESCRIPTION OF EQUIPMENT/SERIAL NUMBERED GOODS

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION SERIAL NUMBER

LOCATION OF COLLATERAL

The Collatetal Is now and swill hereaftor be located al the following address(es) (inolude Street/Town/Clty and Province):

81 Churehlll Ave,, Toronto, ON M2N 1Y8
26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontarlo LOE 1RO

SPECITIED COLLATERAL (Ontarlo only)

Quoto/Licenco No, isaued by {Including auy successor markotlng board or Heenelng nuthority In
vospect of marketing or setling prices for the snme conunodity, thelr successors and assigns, In each ense called the "Baard™) and procceds
therefront,

Additional Covenants of Customer Applicable to Above Collaterals

1, By exoentiug this Agresmont, Grantor has grantad an assignment to the Baul of nny nnd alt rights of the Grantor In and to the phaye
quota/licence, any amendments, substitutions, ndditions or supplements theret, and any proceeds thereof, ,

2, Grontor agrees to sunlntaln nll of the nbove gueta/licence xights In good sinnding and to comply swith all af tho vulos, regulations and orders of
tlie Bonrd fssulng such quotn/iicence.

3, Grautor ngrees ot to apply fo the Board fox the trausfer of the above quota/lleence, in whote or In part, withowud Oie priox writton consent of the
Bank,

4, The securlty and/ox rights hereby granted shall extond to nnd Inelude all presont and futurs aequlred quotndizones rights ssued by tio Board
to the Grantor, whothor lssued under thoe above quotadicence nwmber of nnder any other sueh numbeor,

t

Pago 1} of 12
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RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING BXECUTION OF OGENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT

"RESOLVED THAT:

®

()

The_President and the are hereby authorized for
aind on behalf of the Cotporation to oxconte and dellver to The Toronte-Dominton Bank & Goneral Securlty Agreoment substantiatly Jn the
forin of the Genoral Seourity Agteement (attached hereto and initiniled by the Searatary for IdentHfication) pregented 1o the direstors, with such
alterations, amendments, deletions or ndditions as may be approved by the persons executing the same and their sxecutlon shall be coneluslve

evidence of suoh approval and that the General Security Agrecment so exeouted Is the General Security Agresment anthorlzed by this
Resolutlon,

Any officer or diraotar by and Is hereby authotized to exseute and deliver on belalf of the Carporation all suol other docuinents and writhvgs

and to do such other aots and things ns may bo necessary or desltable for fulfilling tha Corporation's obligations under the General Sceurity
Agreement,” ¢

CERTIFICATE

Thereby certify that the forogoing s a true and correct copy of a Resolution duly passed by the Ditcotors of 23§4251 ONTARIO INC,

s ol

onthe & 17 day of December , 2021 and that the said Resolutlon is now {1 fall force and effeot,

Pago 12 0f 12

B
Crs

Seerelaly  Kawser Zahan
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This is Exhibit “F” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
Sworn July 28 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE : 1

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4555)
CERTIFICATE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT A SEARCH HAS BEEN MADE IN THE RECORDS OF THE CENTRAL OFFICE
OF THE PERSONAIL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM IN RESPECT OF THE FOLLOWING:

TYPE OF SEARCH : BUSINESS DEBTOR

SEARCH CONDUCTED ON : 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

FILE CURRENCY ' 26JUN 2022

.

ENQUIRY NUMBER 20220627184123.13 CONTAINS 14 PAGE(S), 5 FAMILY (IES) .

THE SEARCH RESULTS MAY INDICATE THAT THERE ARE SOME REGISTRATIONS WHICH SET OUT A BUSINESS DEBTOR NAME
WHICH IS SIMILAR TO THE NAME IN WHICH YOUR ENQUIRY WAS MADE. IF YOU DETERMINE THAT THERE ARE OTHER
SIMILAR BUSINESS DEBTOR NAMES, YOU MAY REQUEST THAT ADDITIONAL ENQUIRIES BE MADE AGAINST THOSE NAMES.

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
ATRD & BERLIS LLP. REGISTRAR OF

ATTN: JENAYA MCLEAN PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
REGISTRA

HOLD FOR PICKUP DES SURETES MOBILIERES

TORONTO ON M5J2T9

(crfje  05/2022)

Ontario @

CONTINUED.. . 2
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060
RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL: PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE : 2
ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4556)
CERTIFICATE
BUSINESS DEBTOR

2314253 ONTARIO INC.
26JUN 2022

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2314251

81 CHURCHILL AVE. TORONTO

2470291 ONTARIO INC.

81 CHURCHILL AVE. TORONTO

08 THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
09 2300 STEELES AVE. W., SUITE 200 VAUGHAN ON L4L 5X6
10

RELATING TO POSTPONEMENT AND ASSIGNMENT OF CREDITORS CLAIM BETWEEN
THE DEBTORS TO THE SECURED PARTY.

KEYSER MASON BALL, MISSISSAUGA LAWYERS

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF

3 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

{criifv 05/2022)

Ontario @

900-3 ROBERT SPECK PARKWAY MISSISSAUGA ON L4Z 2G5

THERINEORMATLO HE: SECURED. PART
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 3

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4557)
CERTIFICATE

. BUSTNESS DEBTOR

81 CHURCHILL AVE. TORONTO 1Y8

81 CHURCHILL AVE. TORONTO: 1v8

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF
CONTINUED . 4 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/

LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

{crj1fv 05/2022)

Ontario @
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE : 4

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE { 4558)
CERTIFICATE

! BUSINESS DEBTOR

01

02

03 2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2314251

04 26233 HIGHWAY 48 SUTTON

05
06

07

08

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

09 2300 STEELES AVE. W., SUITE 200 VAUGHAN, ON ON L4L 5X6

10

RELATING TO GENERAL ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS AND LEASES. FOR PROPERTY
LOCATED AT 26233 HIGHWAY 48, SUTTON, ONTARIO

KEYSER MASON BALL, MISSISSAUGA LAWYERS

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF
CONTINUED 5 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/

LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(crittv 05/2022)

Ontario @

900-3 ROBERT SPECK PARKWAY MISSISSAUGA ON L4Z 2G5

RITHE; FORMATIEON: THE: SECURED:PAR
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 5

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE { 4559)
CERTIFICATE

BUSINESS DEBTOR

314251 ONTARIO INC.

01
02
03 2314251 ONTARIO INC.
2314251
04 81 CHURCHILL AVE. TORONTO
05
06 2314251 ONTARIO INC.
2314251
07 26233 HIGHWAY 48 SUTTON
08 THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
0 2300 STEELES AVE. W., SUITE 200 VAUGHAN, ON ON L4L 5X6
10

KEYSER MASON BALL, MISSISSAUGA LAWYERS

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
REGISTRAR OF
CONTINUED. .. 6 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES
(critfv 05/2022)

Ontario @

900-3 ROBERT SPECK PARKWAY

MISSISSAUGA .47 2G5
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 6

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4560)
CERTIFICATE

. BUSINESS DEBTOR

03 2667313 ONTARIO INC.
04 81 CHURCHILL AVE TORONTO
05
06 2667313 ONTARIO INC.
2667313
07 2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST -TORONTO 2E3
08 BANK OF MONTREAL
09 475 QUEEN STREET SOUTH BOLTON ON L7E 2BS
10
11
12
13 GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT OVER ALL PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED
14 PERSONAL PROPERTY .
15
16 MANN LAW, BARRISTERS & SOLICITORS -
CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
17 920 DERRY ROAD EAST MISSISSAUGA L5T 2X6 \j @)MQ"W\I\M&)\S
REGISTRAR OF
CONTINUED. . . 7 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(crjtfv 05/2022)

Ontario @
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 7

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE { 4561)
CERTIFICATE

BUSTNESS DEBTOR
314251 ONTARIO INC.
6JUN 2022

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

. o 2314251
81 CHURCHILL AVENUE TORONTO 1Y8

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST TORONTO

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF
8 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/

LE BEGISTRATEUR  _
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(crjitv 05/2022)

Ontario @




PROVINCE OF ONTARIO
RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE :
ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE (
CERTIFICATE

83

PSSRO60
8
4562)

YR EAR! BUSINESS DEBTOR
2314251 ONTARIO INC.

26JUN 2022

2470291 ONTARIO INC.

2470231
81 CHURCHILL AVE TORONTO M2N 1Y8

2470291 ONTARIO INC.

2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST

TORONTO

CONTINUED. .. 9

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF

PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR :

DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(crittv 05/2022)

Ontario @
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO
RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT

: PSSR060
RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 9
ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4563)
CERTIFICATE
BUSINESS DEBTOR

314251 ONTARIO INC.
6JUN 2022

EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED

LGN 2537682
81 CHURCHILL AVE TORONTO M2N 1Y8
EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED
2537682
2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST - TORONTO : 2E3
CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
REGISTRAR OF
CONTINUED. .. 10 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(critfv 05/2022)

| Ontario @
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 10

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4564)
CERTIFICATE

PR O SEAROH . BUSINESS DEBTOR

01
02
03 2667313 ONTARIO INC.
2667313
04 81 CHURCHILL AVE TORONTO 1ve
05
06 2667313 ONTARIO INC.
2667313
07 2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST TORONTO 2E3
08 BANK OF MONTREAL
09 475 QUEEN STREET SOUTH BOLTON ON L7E 2B5
10

ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS ON FILE

14
15
16 MANN LAW, BARRISTERS & SOLICITORS ;
CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
17 920 DERRY ROAD EAST MTSSISSAUGA ON L5T 2X6 . )
R FURTHER ENFORMATT TACT - THE - SECURED: PAR' \[ M«M\M&/\B
REGISTRAR OF
11 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR

DES SORETES MOBILIERES
(criifv 06/2022)

Ontario @
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 11

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4565)
CERTIFICATE

EARC BUSINESS DEBTOR
2314251 ONTARIO INC.

26JUN 2022

2314251 ONTARIO INC.
2314251

81 CHURCHILL AVENUE TORONTO

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2314251
2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST TORONTO 2E3
CERTIRIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
REGISTRAR OF
12 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(critfv 05/2022)

Ontario @
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PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT : PSSR060

RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE H 12

ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE ( 4566)
CERTIFICATE

BUSINESS DEBTOR
314251 ONTARIO INC.
6JUN 2022

2470291 ONTARIO INC.
2470291
1Y8

81 CHURCHILL AVE TORONTO

2470291 ONTARIO INC.
2470291
2E3

2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST - TORONTO

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF
13 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/

LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

{critfv 05/2022)

Ontario @




PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES REPORT
RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM PAGE
ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE

CERTIFICATE

PSSRO60
13
4567)

— e

EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED

2537682
81 CHURCHILL AVE TORONTO 1Y8
EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITED
2537682
2871 EGLINTON AVENUE EAST TORONTO 2E3
CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR
REGISTRAR OF
14 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/
LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(criitv 05/2022)

Ontario @



PROVINCE OF ONTARIO

RUN NUMBER : 178 MINISTRY OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES
RUN DATE : 2022/06/27 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRATION SYSTEM
ID : 20220627184123.13 ENQUIRY RESPONSE

CERTIFICATE

REPORT
PAGE

—

89

PSSRO60
14
4568)

TYPE OF SEARCH
SEARCH CONDUCTED ON
FILE CURRENCY

BUSINESS DEBTOR
2314251 ONTARIO INC.
26JUN 2022

TR

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE REGISTRATIONS LISTED BELOW IS ATTACHED HERETO.

FILE NUMBER REGISTRATION NUMBER REGISTRATION NUMBER REGISTRATION NUMBER
779008374 20211214 0849 1590 9230
778853466 20211207 1521 1590 8177
778853475 20211207 1522 1590 8178
747019602 20181220 1348 1862 9340
747020115 20181220 1357 1862 9352

5 REGISTRATION(S) ARE REPORTED IN THIS ENQUIRY RESPONSE.

REGISTRATION NUMBER

CERTIFIED BY/CERTIFIEES PAR

REGISTRAR OF
PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY/

LE REGISTRATEUR
DES SURETES MOBILIERES

(criie  05/2022)

Ontario @




Tab G



This is Exhibit “G” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022
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LAND

REGISTRY
OFFICE #65

PARCEL REGISTER (ABBREVIATED)

03543-0333 (LT)

FOR PROPERTY IDENTIFIER

91

PAGE 1 OF 4
PREPARED FOR kANIKAO1
ON 2022/06/28 AT 15:37:29

* CERTIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAND TITLES ACT * SUBJECT TO RESERVATIONS IN CROWN GRANT *

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: PT LT 3 CON 6, GEORGINA, PT 1, 65R14491; TOWN OF GEORGINA
PROPERTY REMARKS:
ESTATE/QUALIFIER: RECENTLY : PIN CREATION DATE:
FEE SIMPLE DIVISION FROM 03543-0016 2013/07/05
LT CONVERSION QUALIFIED
OWNERS' NAMES CAPACITY SHARE
2314251 ONTARIO INC. ROWN
CERT/
REG. NUM. DATE INSTRUMENT TYPE AMOUNT PARTIES FROM PARTIES TO CHKD
** PRINTOUT| INCLUDES ALIL DOCUMENT TYPES AND|DELETED INSTRUMENTS SINCE 2013/07/05 **
**SUBJECT, |ON FIRST REGISTRATION UNDER THE LAND TITLES ACT, TO
* % SUBSECTION 44 (1) OF THE LAND TITLES ACT, EXCEPT PARAGRAPH 11, PARAGRAPH 14, PROVINCIAL SUCCESSION DUTIES *
*x IAND ESCHEATS|OR FORFEITURE TO THE CROWN.
*x THE RIGHTS OF ANY PERSON WHO WOULD, BUT FOR THE LAND TITLES ACT, BE ENTITLED TO THE LAND OR ANY PART OF
* % IT THROUGH LENGTH OF ADVERSE POS$ESSION, PRESCRIPTIQN, MISDESCRIPTION OR BOUNDARIES SETTLED BY
*x CONVENTION.
* % ANY LEASE TO|WHICH THE SUBSECTION 70(2) OF THE REGISTRY ACT APPLIES.
**DATE OF CONVERSION TO|LAND TITLES: 1998/12/21 **
A18540A 1958/05/08 | BYLAW C
REMARKS: AREA OF SUBDIVISION CONTRQL (ADDED 99/02/17 @ 15:37 BY S. COLES, ADLR)
65R14491 1990/06/27 | PLAN REFERENCE c
YR1482704 2010/05/21 | NOTICE OF LEASE 2195428 ONTARIO INC. ULTRAMAR LTD. C
YR1503775 2010/06/24 | CHARGE *%% DELETED AGAINST THIS PROPERTY ***
SERVAXION INC. BANK OF MONTREAL
YR1503776 2010/06/24 | NO ASSGN RENT GEN *%% DELETED AGAINST THIS PROPERTY ***
SERVAXION INC. BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR1503775.
YR1860827 2012/07/26 | TRANSFER $1,700,000 | SERVAXION INC. 2314251 ONTARIO INC. C
REMARKS: PLANNING ACT STATEMENTS
YR1860828 2012/07/26 | CHARGE *x* DELETED AGAINST THIS PROPERTY ***
2314251 ONTARIO INC. BANK OF MONTREAL

NOTE: ADJOINING PROPERTIES SHOULD BE INVESTIGATED TO ASCERTAIN DESCRIPTIVE INCONSISTENCIES,
ENSURE THAT YOUR PRINTOUT STATES THE TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES AND THAT YOU HAVE PICKED THEM ALL UP.

NOTE:

IF ANY, WITH DESCRIPTION REPRESENTED FOR THIS PROPERTY.
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OFFIC

* CERTIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAND TITLES ACT * SUBJECT TO RESERVATIONS IN CROWN GRANT *

PARCEL REGISTER (ABBREVIATED)

TRY
E #65

FOR PROPERTY IDENTIFIER

03543-0333

(LT)

PAGE 2 OF 4

PREPARED FOR kANIKAO1
ON 2022/06/28 AT 15:37:29

CERT/
REG. NUM. DATE INSTRUMENT TYPE AMOUNT PARTIES FROM PARTIES TO CHKD
YR1860829 2012/07/26 | NO ASSGN RENT GEN *x* DELETED AGAINST THIS PROPERTY ***
2314251 ONTARIO INC. BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR1860828
YR1860830 2012/07/26 | NO ASSGN RENT SPEC *%% DELETED AGAINST THIS PROPERTY ***
2314251 ONTARIO INC. BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR1482704. DELETED BY YR2495561, DELETED BY IJAUREN ELLIS-SMITH 2017/05/24
YR1970509 2013/04/29 | NO ASSG LESSEE INT ULTRAMAR LTD. CST CANADA CO.
REMARKS: YR1482704.
YR2218505 2014/11/20 | DISCH OF CHARGE **% COMPLETELY DELETED ***
BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR1503775.
YR2471168 2016/05/12 | CHARGE *%% COMPLETELY DELETED **x
2314251 ONTARIO INC. HOME TRUST COMPANY
2372380 ONTARIO INC. 1407659 ONTARIO INC.
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA TRUST COMPANY
YR2471169 2016/05/12 | NO ASSGN RENT GEN *%* COMPLETELY DELETED ***
2314251 ONTARIO INC. HOME TRUST COMPANY
2372380 ONTARIO INC. 1407659 ONTARIO INC.
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA TRUST COMPANY
REMARKS: YR2471/168
YR2471170 2016/05/12 | NO ASSGN RENT SPEC *%% COMPLETELY DELETED **x*
2314251 ONTARIO INC. HOME TRUST COMPANY
2372380 ONTARIO INC. 1407659 ONTARIO INC.
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA TRUST COMPANY
REMARKS: YR1482704.
YR2471171 2016/05/12 | POSTPONEMENT **x* COMPLETELY DELETED ***
CST CANADA CO. HOME TRUST COMPANY
1407659 ONTARIO INC.
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA TRUST COMPANY
REMARKS: YR1970509 TO YR2471168
YR2485584 2016/06/09 | DISCH OF CHARGE *%* COMPLETELY DELETED ***
BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR186(0828.

NOTE: ADJOINING PROPERTIES SHOULD BE INVESTIGATED TO ASCERTAIN DESCRIPTIVE INCONSISTENCIES,

NOTE:

ENSURE THAT YOUR PRINTOUT STATES THE TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES AND THAT YOU HAVE PICKED THEM ALL UP.

IF ANY, WITH DESCRIPTION REPRESENTED FOR THIS PROPERTY.
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PARCEL REGISTER (ABBREVIATED) FOR PROPERTY IDENTIFIER
LAND PAGE 3 OF 4
REGISTRY
OFFICE #65 03543-0333 (LT)
* CERTIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAND TITLES ACT * SUBJECT TO RESERVATIONS IN CROWN GRANT *

PREPARED FOR kANIKAO1
ON 2022/06/28 AT 15:37:29

CERT/
REG. NUM. DATE INSTRUMENT TYPE AMOUNT PARTIES FROM PARTIES TO CHKD
YR2490143 2016/06/17 | DISCH OF CHARGE *%% COMPLETELY DELETED **x
BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR1860828.
YR2495561 2016/06/28 | DISCH OF CHARGE *%* COMPLETELY DELETED **x*
BANK OF MONTREAL
REMARKS: YR186(0828.
YR2683665 2017/06/12 | CHARGE **% COMPLETELY DELETED ***
2314251 ONTARIO INC. ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
YR2683683 2017/06/12 | POSTPONEMENT *x* COMPLETELY DELETED ***
CST CANADA CO. ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
REMARKS: YR1970509 TO YR2683665
YR2683970 2017/06/12 | DISCH OF CHARGE *%% COMPLETELY DELETED **x*
HOME TRUST COMPANY
1407659 ONTARIO INC.
THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA TRUST COMPANY
REMARKS: YR2471168.
YR2754660 2017/11/03 | APL CH NAME INST CST CANADA CO. COUCHE-TARD INC.
REMARKS: YR1970509
YR2756373 2017/11/08 | NO ASSG LESSEE INT COUCHE-TARD INC. PARKLAND FUEL CORPORATION
REMARKS: YR1482704.
YR2783431 2018/01/15 | CHARGE $300,000 | 2314251 ONTARIO INC. PARKLAND FUEL CORPORATION
YR2913569 2018/12/21 | CHARGE *%% COMPLETELY DELETED **x*
2314251 ONTARIO INC. MARK J. SHINER PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
2358769 ONTARIO INC.
GOLDSTEIN, DAVID
YR2956922 2019/05/02 | CHARGE **% COMPLETELY DELETED **x*
2314251 ONTARIO INC. ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
YR2956957 2019/05/02 | POSTPONEMENT *x* COMPLETELY DELETED ***
PARKLAND FUEL CORPORATION ROYAL BANK OF CANADA
REMARKS: YR1482704 TO YR2956922
YR2956958 2019/05/02 | POSTPONEMENT *%% COMPLETELY DELETED **x*

PARKLAND FUEL CORPORATION ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

NOTE: ADJOINING PROPERTIES SHOULD BE INVESTIGATED TO ASCERTAIN DESCRIPTIVE INCONSISTENCIES, IF ANY, WITH DESCRIPTION REPRESENTED FOR THIS PROPERTY.
NOTE: ENSURE THAT YOUR PRINTOUT STATES THE TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES AND THAT YOU HAVE PICKED THEM ALL UP.
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03543-0333

* CERTIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAND TITLES ACT * SUBJECT TO RESERVATIONS IN CROWN GRANT *

PREPARED FOR kANIKAQO1
(LT) ON 2022/06/28 AT 15:37:29

REG. NUM.

DATE

INSTRUMENT TYPE

AMOUNT

PARTIES FROM

PARTIES TO

CERT/
CHKD

REMARKS: YR2783

YR2957406

2019/05/03

431 TO YR2956922

DISCH OF CHARGE

REMARKS: YR29135609.

YR2957528

REMARKS: YR2683

YR3362192

YR3362193

2019/05/06

2022/01/04

2022/01/04

DISCH OF CHARGE

665.

CHARGE

NO ASSGN RENT GEN

REMARKS: YR3362192.

YR3366177

REMARKS: YR2956

2022/01/13

DISCH OF CHARGE

922.

$2,500,000

*** COMPLETELY DELETED ***

MARK J. SHINER PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
2358769 ONTARIO INC.

GOLDSTEIN, DAVID

**% COMPLETELY DELETED ***
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

*** COMPLETELY DELETED **x*
ROYAL BANK OF CANADA

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

NOTE: ADJOINING PROPERTIES SHOULD BE INVESTIGATED TO ASCERTAIN DESCRIPTIVE INCONSISTENCIES,
NOTE: ENSURE THAT YOUR PRINTOUT STATES THE TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES AND THAT YOU HAVE PICKED THEM ALL UP.

IF ANY, WITH DESCRIPTION REPRESENTED FOR THIS PROPERTY.
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«  TD Bank Group
Guarantee

This Guavantog is made as of the (o% day of December ,2021,

Wherens the undersigned (each herelnafler referred to as the "Guarantor") hias agreed to provide The Toronto-Dominion Bank (herelnafier
referred 1o as the "Bank”) with a guaranteo of the Obllgations (as heroltafior dofined) of '

2314251 ONTARIO INC., 2470291 ONTARIQ INC. sud RGLINTON PRTROLEUM LIMITAD

(the "Customer");

And whorcas the Guarantor has ngreed that if the guarantee hereln Is not enforccable, the Guarantor wiil fndemnlfy the Bank or be liable as
primary obligor.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the Bank dealing with the Customer now or in (he future and/ot for other good and valuable
conslderation, the recelpt and sufliolenoy of which ere hereby soknowledged, the Guarantor agrees with the Bank as follows:

1. Obligations Guaranteed

The Guaranor waconditlonally and lrrevocably gueranices payment of all debis and Hablliles, present or fuiure, direot or Indireat,
absolule or confingent, matured or not, wheresoover and howsoever Incurred of the Customer {o the Bank, whether atistng from
deallngs between the Bank snd the Customer or from othor doalings or proseedings by which the Bank may bs or become in any
manner whatsoover a ereditor of the Cusiomer, in any currency, whether inourred by the Customer alome or jolntly with another or
othets and whether as a indemnitor or surety, including Intorest thorcon and all amounis owed by the Gustomer for fees, costs and
oxporises (collectivoly reforred to as tho *Obllgations"),

2, Lxtent of Guavrantor's Liabllity ]
This {s an unllmited Guarantee snd the Guarantor's Hlabllity fo the Bank undex this Guarantes shall not be limited as to amount,

‘

3, Indemmlty/Primary Obligation

1£ (1) any Obligations ate not duly pald by tho Customer and are not recoverable under Seotlon 1 for any reason, the Guarantor swill, es
a separate and distinot obligation, indemnlfy and save harmless the Bank from and against all losses resulting from the faliure of the
Customer to pay sueh Obligations, and (It) any Obligatlons sre not duly pald by the Customer and are not recoverable under Section |
or the Bank Is not indennified under olause (1) aboye of this Scotion 3, for any reason, such Obllgations will, as a sepatate snd distinot
obligatlon, he pald by and resovorablo from the Quarantor as prlmary obligor,

The UabiTitles of the Guarantor under Section 1 and each of elauses ({) and (It) of this Sectlon 3 are separato and distinet from cach
offier, but the provislons of this Agreernent shall apply to eash of such Habil(tios unless the contoxt otherwlse requires,

4,  Nature of Guarautor's Liabillty

The liability of the Guarantor under this Quaraniee Is contlnuing, absolute and unconditlonal and will not be affected by any act,
omisston, event or olroumsianco that might vonstitute a logel or equitable defence {any and all such logal and equifablo defences sro
hereby expressly waived by the Guarantor) to or 4 dlscharge, limltation ox reduation of the Habllity of the Guarantor hereunder, other
than as a resull of ihe indefeasible payment In fult of the Obligations, Inctudlug!

() theunonforceabliity of any of tho Obligations for any rensen, including as a result of the act of aay govemmental authorlty;
Pago L of7 512400 (0216)
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(b)  any kvogularity, fraud, Hlogality, dofeot ot lack of authority or fonmality in Inourrlug the Obligations, notwithstanding any
Inquizy thal may or may not have been made by the Bank;

(o) fuliure of the Bank to comply with or perform eny agrecments reluting to the Obligations;

(d)  any disconlinuanoe, rencwal, extension, lncraase or reduction in the amount, ot any other variance of any loans or credils now or
hereafier made avallable to the Cuslomer by the Bank or guaraniged by the Customer 1o the Bank or any other change to any of
the ferms or condltlons of any of the Obligatlons (Inoluding, without imitation, respeetlng rates of Interest, foes or charges,
maturity dates), or eny waiver by the Bank respecting any of the Obllgatlons;

(&) thetaking of or the fallure by the Bank to take 8 guaranles from any other person;

.

{fy any release, compromlse, settlemont or any other deailng with any person, ncluding any other Guarantor;

(g) the reorganization of the Customey or Jts business (whether by amalgamation, merger, transfer, sals or otherwise); and ju the
oaso of an amalgamation or merger, tho Hablllty of the Quarantor shall apply to the Obligations of the resulilug or contlnuing
ontity and the lerm "Customer" shall Inolude suoh vesulting or continuing entity;

() the ourrent financial condiiion of the Customer and any change In the Cuslomer's financial condition;

(1) ey change in contre} or ownorship of the Customer, or if the Customer I3 a goneral or llmlted parinesship, any chango in the
meémbership of that parinietship or othor eutlty;

()  any change In the namo, ariloles or olber constating deouments of the Customer, or its objeots, busluess or sapltal simcture;

(k) the bankruptoy, winding-up, tlasolution, liquidation ot nsolvenoy of the Customec ot any prosecdings belug taken by or agalnst
the Customer with respeot thereto, and any stay of or moratorlum on proceedings by the Bunk agalnst the Customer as a result
thercofy

() = breach of any duty of the Bank (whether fiduolary or Ju negligence or otherwlse) and whether owed to the Guaranior, the
Customer or any ofher person; ‘

(m) any leok or limitation of powsr, eapacity or legal status of the Custonier, or, if the Customer Is an Indlviduat, the death of the
Customer;

(n) the Customer's account beng closed or the Bank ceasing to deal with the Costomer;

{0) eny taklog or failuce to take any seourity by the Bank, aay loss of or dlminution in value of any seolirlty, the Jnvalldity,
unenforceabllity, subordination, pestponement, release, discharge or substitwilon, In whole or In part, of any seoutily, or the
fallure to porfeot or maintain perfectlon or enforce any seourlty; or

(1)  any falture or dofay by the Bank In exerslsing atiy right or remedy rospeoting the Obligatlens or wnder any seourlty or guaranise,
Contlauing Guarantee .

The obligations of the Guarantor hereunder will cobsiftute and be continulng obllgations and will apply to and securs any ultimate
balance due or remalning due to the Bank and will not be considered us wholly or parttally satisfied by the payment or Hquidation at
any Hrae of ary sum of money for the Hine belng due or remalning unpaid fo tho Bank, Thls Guarantee will contlnne to be effective
even ifat any time ahy paynient of any of the Qbligations is rendered unenforeoable or Is resclnded ov nwst othorwise bo retumed by
the Bank as s tesult of the coonrrence of any action ov ovent, Ineluding the Insalvency, bankmptey ox reorganization of the Customor
or the Guarantor, all ag though such payment had not been made, ¢

Demand for Payment

The Guarantor shall aake payment to the Bank under this Guaranteo Immediately upon recelpt of a wiliten demand for payment from
the Bank, [fany Obligation iz not puld by the Customer when duo, tho Bauk may treat all Oblgations as due and payablo by the
Customer and may demend amediale payment under this Guatantes of all or sotne of the Obligations whethet such olher Obligatlons
woutd otherwlse be due atid payable by the Customer at such fime or whelfier or not any deinands, steps or proceedings have been
mads o faken by (he Baak agalnst the Customer or any other persen respeoting all or any of the Obllgatlons, If any stey of or
moralorlim on proceedings by the Bank agalust the Customer Is Imposed in tespeot of any Obligation, the Bank may nevertheless
domand immedinte payment of such Obligatlon fiom the Guarantor as If such Obligation was due and payable by the Custormer,
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9,

10

1L

12,

13,

14,

Intevest

If the Guarantor does not iake lmmedlate payment fu full of the Obligatlons when demand for payment has been mede by the Bank,
the Guarantor shall pay luferest on any unpald amount to the Bank at the highest rate of Intorest por anmum that is charged on any
Obligatlons for which payment has been demanded heraunder and whioh remain wnpeid,

State of Account

The records of the Bank In respeot of the Obligations will be ptima facle evidence of the balance of the amou}\t of the Obligalions that
are due and payable by the Customer fo ths Bank,

Application of Moncys Recelvod

The Bank may, withoul notlce snd demand of any klnd and at any iime, apply any money recelved from the Guarantor, the Customer
or anty other person (inofudlng atlsing from auy scourlty that the Bank may from time to time hold) or any balanes [n any account of
the Guarantor held al the Bank or any of the Bank's affiliates, to such patt of the Oblgatlons, whether due or to becameo due, as the
Bank In its solo and absolute dlscretion conslders approputats, or may, In lis sole and absolute discrelion, rofratn from applying any
such money, The Bank may also rovoke and alter any such application ln whale or Ja part, If any amounl that is to be applied i fn o
currenoy other than the currenoy of the Obligation to which such amount §s to be applied, tiien the amout that Is applied shatl be
converled from one citrrenoy to another usiug the rate of exchange for the conversion of such owrenoy as defermined by the Bank or
its agents and the Bank or fis agent may eam revenue on auch eoitversion,

3

No Set-off ox Conuntevclalm

The Guarantor will make all payments required to be made under this Guarsntee without olaiming or asserting any right of setoff or
counterolaim that tho Guarantor has or may have agalust the Custoner or the Bank, all of witloh rights the Guarantor watves,

Exhauating Recourse ,

The Bauk Is 1ot requlred to take any prossedings, exhaust its tecourse agalnst the Customer or sy other Guarantor or pexson or nwnder
any securlty the Bank may from time to thme hold, or take any other aciion, before belng entltled to demand payment fom the
Guarantor under tids Guarantee, and the Guarantor waives atl beuefits of discussion angd divislon,

No Representations
1
There ara no ropresentations, warranties, lorms, conditions, undertakings or collateral agreements, express, implied or stafutory,
botween tho parties oxoept as oxpressly sct forth oroln, ‘The Bank will not be bound by any representations or promisca made by
Customer to the Guarantor und possession of this Guarantee by the Bank wiil be concfusive evidence against the Guarantor that this
Guarantee was not defivered in escrow or pursuant to any agreement that It should not be effective until any condition precedent or
subsequent has been complled with, and this Guaranteo will be blnding on each Guarantor who has signed this Guaraniee
notwithstanding the non-excoutlon thereof by any proposed guarantor,

.

Postponement and Asslgument

The Guarantor hereby postpones paymont of all present and future debts and Habllitles of the Customer to the Guarantor, and as
seourity for payment of the Obligations, the Guarantor hereby asslpns such debts and Habilities lo the Bank and agrees that all moneys
recelved from the Customer by or on behalf of the Gnarantor shall be held In trust for the Bank and forthwith upon receipl pald over to
tho Bank, all without prejudice to and withow( In any way limithag or lessening the Hability of the Guarantor to the Bank under this
Guarantes, This assignment and postponement Is Independent of the guarantee, Indennity and primary obligor obllgations contained
{n thls Guarantee and wit remain In full foree and offeot until, in the case of the assipnment, the Habillty of the Guarantor under this
Guarantes has been dlscharged or terminated and, In the case of the postponcinent, until all ObHgatlons are performed snd
Indefeasibly pald In full,

Subrogation ,

The Guarantor will not be entitled 1o be subrogated to the rights of tho Bank agalnst the Customer, to be Indemuified by the Customer
or to ¢laim contribution from any other Guatantor vuntil the Guarantor makes Indefossible payment to the Bank of all amounts owlng
by the Guarantor to the Bavk under this Quarantee and the Obligations are Indefeasibly paid in full,
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16

i

18,

19,

20,

29

Bankruptey of Customer

Upon the bapkeuptoy or winding up or ollier distribution of assels of the Customer o of any surety or Guarantor for the Obligations,
{lie Bank's tights shail not be aflceted by the Bank's fallure to prove lts claim and the Bank may prove such clatm if and in any manner
a¢ Jt deems approplate dn ils sole dlscretion. The Bank may vatuo as it sces fit or refialt from valulng any seoutlty held by the Bank
withoul in any way reloasiug, reduoing or otherwise affecting the labllisy of the Guarantor to he Bank, nnd witll alt the Obiigations of
tho Customer to the Bank have been ludsfoasibly patd 1n sull, the Bank shall have the right to Include In lts claim the amount of ail
sums pald by the Guarantor to the Bauk under this Guarantee and to prove and xank for and tecelve dividends in respect of such olalm,
any and afl xight 1o prove and rank for such suims pald by the Guaranior and to recelve the full smount of all dividends In respect
thereto being hereby asslgned and fransferred to the Bank,

Gosts and Expenses

The Guarantor agreos to pay all costs and expenses, including legal feos, of enforcing this Guerantee {ncluding the charges and
expenses of the Bank's Jn-house lawyers, The Guarantor will pay all legal fees on & solicitor and own ofient basls,

Other Guarantess and Security

The Hablilfy of the Guarantor vuder any athier puacanies or guarantees glvon to the Bank In coonection with the Obligations aball not
be affeoled by this Guarantes, nor shall this Guarantee affeol or be affeoted by the endorsement by the Guavantor of any note or noles
of the Customer, the Intention being that the liabllity of the Guarantor under such other guaranies or gustantess and this Guarantee,
and under such othor note or notes and this Guaranice, shetl be cumulative, Nor shall the Bauk be requited to marshal in favour of the
Guaranfor other guaraniess granted by other persons or any seourity, money or othor property that the Bank may be entltled to recelve
or ray have a olalm upon,

Amendment and Walvers .

No amsadment to thig Guarantes will be valld or blndlsg vnless set forth In wirltlog and duly excouted by the Quarantor and the Bank,
No walver by the Bask of any bieach of any provision of this Guarantee will be effective or blading vuless made In wrlting and slgned
by tho Bank and, unless otherwlse provided In the wrliten waiver, will be limalted to the speolfic breach watved. No delay in the
excrolse of any right or remedy by tho Bank shall operate as a walver thereof. No fallure to exerolse & right or remady ox partlal
oxerolse of a right or romedy by the Bank shail preclude oties or further exerciso thereof or the exerolse of aty other right or remedy
by the Bank. :

Discharge

The Guarantor will not be released or discharged from its obligations hareundex except by a wrltten release or discharge signed by the
Bank,

General

This Guarantes shail be binding on the successots of the Guarantor or, If the Guarantor Is an Individual, the helrs, excontors,
adminlstators and other legal roprosontatives of the Guarantor, and shall enyire to the benefit of the successors and assigtis of the
Bank,

1€ more than oo Guarantor has sigoed this Guaraniee, cach Guarantor shall be jointly and sevarelly lable under this Guarantes,

To thie oxtent that any fimitation poriod applies (o any clalm for payment hereunder of the Obligations or remedy for the enforeament
of suoh payment, the Guarantor agrees thal any such limitation period is exoluded or waived, but if such exelusion and watver Is vol
permitted by applieable law, then any limliation perlod Is extended to the maxitaum length permiited by applicable law,

Any notles or demand which the Bank may wish to glve under this Guarantee may bo personalty served on the Guarantor or sent by
ordluary malf or eleotronlo mail to the last known address of the Guarantor, Any notice that ls sent by ordinary mail shafl be
conclustvely deemed lo have been recelved on the fifth day following the day on whieh It fs malled, Any notice that js sent by
eleotronio mall shall be conolusively deemed to have beon recoived on the day It s sent,

1f any provision of this Guarentcs Is detonnined by any court of competent Jurlsdiotion to be luvalld or unenforceable in any rospest,
suoh Invalldity or bnenforceabllity will not affeot the validity or onforceablilty of the remalnlng provislons of thls Guarantze,

.
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This Quarantee shall be governed by and construed in ascordance with the laws of the Proviuce of Outarlo

and the laws of Canada apptieablo thoroin,
Any word hotoln contuined Imposfing the slagular number shatl Includ the plural and any word importing & person shall nolude a
corporation, pertnershlp, firm and any other ontlty,

Subject to Seotion 17, this Guaranteo constitutes the ontiro agreement between (he Guarantor and the Bank with respeot to the subject
matter hereof and cancels and supersedes any prlor understsndings and agroements botweon the pariles with respeot thereto,

‘

Bach of the underslgned acknowledges receipt of a copy of this Guerantee,

WITNESS: ] ' Porsonsl Guaranico % t
P Sigmature of Guaranior; Xy

(authorized signature) prntaeme: MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ
Per;

(suthorized sigasture) Personnl Guaranteo

: 81 £ Guarantar:
[Name of Guatantot] ualiro of Guarantar
Pdnt nemot

Por;
(aulhorized slgnature)
Personal Gunxanteo

Pecs N a
{authorized signaturo) Slgnature of
[Name of Guatantos] Palntnemet
Pens Personn! Guaranies
(mutharized slgnature)
Slgnaturo of Guarentor;
Pert .
{suthortzed sTgnature) Print neso; -
[Name of Guasantor] _ Personal Guarantee ,
Port Slpnature of Guarantor:
(authotized signature)
Print name:
Pets .
© {authorlzed signatuse) Torsonal Guaranteo
[Name of Guarantor] Siguaturs of Guarantar;
Pes: Print nasie:
(nuthortzed slgtiature)
Personnl Guarantee
Per: g )
(authorized slgnature) Slgn of G t
[Name of Guarantor] Print nanne;

Porsonal Guaranies

Per:
{authorlzed signatwre)
Slgasturs of Guerantor;

B

(authoriz¢d signatire) Print name:
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. TD Bank Group
Guarantes

CDM
This Guarantee {s made as of tho day of December V2021

Wherens the underslgned (each herelnafier referrad to a3 the "Guarantor®) has agreed lo provide The Toronia-Dominlon Bank (heraluafier
roforred to as the "Bank") with s guaranies of the Obligatlons (as herelnafier defined) of
2314251 ONTARIO INGC,, 2470291 ONTARIO INC, and EGLINTON PETROLEUM LIMITBD
(the "Customer™);

And whoross the Guoranior has sgreed that if tho guarantes hereln §s not onforeenble, the Guarantor will indemntfy the Bank o1 be Hable as
primary obligor,

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the Bank dealing with the Customer now or in the future and/or for other goad and vatuable
consideration, the recelpt and sufficlonsy of whioh are hereby aoknowledged, the Guavantor agrees with he Bank ag follows:

1, Obligatlons Gusranteed

The Guarantor ungondiiionally and lrrovooably gustantces payment of all debts and Habllitles, present or futurs, direot or indireot,
absolule or contlugent, tnatured or not, wheresoever and howsoover incurred of the Customor to the Bank, whether arfsing from
dealings belweon the Bank and the Custamer or from other dealings or proceedings by which the Bank may be or become In any
manner whalsosver a creditor of the Custoiner, In any currenoy, whether Ineutred by the Customor alone or Jolntly with another or
others snd whellier as a indemnitor or surety, inoluding intorest thereon and all snoynts owed by Ihe Customer for foos, costs and
oxpenses (golleotively referred to as the "Obligations").

2, Exteut of Quarantor's Lizbiilty
This [s an unllmited Guarantes and tho Guaranior’s Mability (o the Bank under this Guatantes shall not be limlted as to amount,

3, Indemnity/Privtary Obligation © e

If (f) any Obligations aro not duly pald by the Customer and are not recoverablo under Scotion 1 for any reason, the Guarantor will, as
a sepatate and distinot obligafion, indomnify and save harmless the Bank from aud against all josses resulting from the falliire of the
Customer fo pay such Obligalions, and (il) any Obligations aze not duly paid by the Customer and are nof recoverable under Seotion
ox the Bank s not indemnifled under olause (i) above of this Sectlon 3, for any xeason, such Obligations will, as a separate and distinot
obligation, be pald by and recoverable from the Guarantor as ptimary obligor, :

The Habilities of the Guerantor under Sectlon 1 and cach of olansas (i) and () of this Seqtlon 3 are separato and distinet from cach
otlier, but the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to each of such liabiiitles untess the context otherwise requires,

4, Naturc of Guarantor's Liability

The llablilty of the Guarsntor under thils Gnarantee Is continuing, absolute and unconditional and wilt not bo affected by any act,
omisston, event or olroumstanco that might coustitute & logal or equitablo defence (any and all such logal and equitable defonces aro
heteby expressly walved by the Guarantor) fo or a discharge, Himitation or reduction of the llability of the Guarantor hereunder, other
than as a result of the indefeasible payment In fulf of the Obligations, fucluding:

{a) thounenforceabllity of any of the Obligations for any reason, inoluding as a result of the aot of sny govemmental authority;
Page L of7 . 512400 (0716)
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(b)  any lrrepularlty, fraud, Ulopality, defect or lack of authorlty or formality in fucuning the Obiigatlons, notwithslanding any
Inquiry that may or may not have been made by the Bank; '

(o) fallure of the Bank to comply with or porform any agrecments relallng to the Obligations;

(d) any discontinuancs, rencwal, oxtenslon, Inorease or reductlon fu the amount, or any ollier variaiee of any loans or orediis now or
hereafier made availuble to the Customer by tho Bonk or guarantced by the Guslomer to the Bank or any other ohange {0 any of
Uie terms or conditions of any of the Cbligations (lnoluding, without Imilatlon, respecting tates of interest, fecs o oharges,
maturlty dates), or any walver by the Bauk respecting any of the Obligations;

(&) the taklug of or the fallure by the Bank to lake a guaranteo (rom any other person;
() sy release, compromise, settloment or auy othor deafing with any person, lucluding any other Guaantor;

(8)  the reoxganization of the Customer or its business (whether by amalgamarion, merger, transfer, salé or otherwlse); and In the
case of an amolgemation or merget, the abillty of the Guarantor shall apply to the Oblgations of 1he resulting or continuing
entify and the term "Customer shall Include such resulting or cantinuing onlity;

) the onrrent finanolal conditfon of the Customer aud any change In the Customer’s finanslal condition;
y

() any changg In control or ownorship of the Customer, or if the Customer Is a goneral or Jinlted partnership, any change I tho
mombetship of that partuership or other entity;

()  any ohangs In the name, atiloles or other constaling dosuments of the Custonmter, or its objeols, busitiess of capltal structuro;

(k) the banknptey, winding-up, dissolution, liguidation or Insolvenoy of the Customer or any proceedings boing taken by ot against
the Customer with respect therato, and any stay of or moratorlum on procesdings by the Bank agalnst the Customer as a result
thereof} ’

(1)  abreach of sny duty of the Bank (whether fiduclary of In nogligotice or otherwise) and whether owed to the Guarantor, the
Customer or any other person;

(mn) any Jack or litnitatlon of power, capacity or legal status of the Customer, or, if the Custormer is an individual, the death of the
Customor;}

)

(n) the Customer's acoount beng olosed or the Bank ceasing to deal with the Custorner;

(o) auy taking or fallure to take any seourlty by the Bank, sny loss of or diminutlon {n value of auy security, the tuvatidity,
unenforceabllity, subordination, postponsment, release, discharge or substitution, Jn whole or in part, of any security, ox the
falture to petfeot or maintain perfeotion or enforce any seowrdty; or

)  any fallure or delay by the Bank In exerelsing any right or remedy respecting the Obligations or under any seourlty or guarontee,

5 Coulinulng Guarantee

The obligations of the Guatantor hereunder will constitute and be continuing obligations aud will apply to and secure any ultimate
balanes dus or remalning due to the Bank and will not bo consldered ns wholly or partlally satisfied by the payment or liquidation at
any time of any sum of money for the time being due or remalning unpald 1o the Bank, This Guatanfeo will continus o be effective
oven If at any fime any paymont of any of {he Obligatlons is rendered unonforcenble or Is resolnded or must otherwlse be returned by
the Bank as a result of the ocourronco of any actlon or event, inoluding the Insolvency, bankruploy or reorganization of the Custorner
or the Guarantor, all as thowgh such paymont had not been made, )

6, Domaud for Paymont
The Guarantor shall make paymont lo the Bank undor this Guarantee immediatoly upon recelpt of a wrltten demand for payment flom
the Bank, If any Obligation Is not pald by the Customer whot ¢uo, the Bank tay (rest all Obligations as due and payable by the
Customer and may demand Immediale payment under this Guarantes of all or somo of the Obilgatlons whether such other Obligations
wauld otherwisp be due and payable by the Cuslomer at such time or whether or not any demands, steps or proveedings hiave been
mado ot taken by the Bank against the Customer or any other person respectlng all or any of the Obligatlons, If any slay of or
moratorium oa procsedings by the Bank agalust the Customer Is Imposed In respect of any Obligation, the Bank may nevertheless
demand Jmmedlate payment of such Obligatlon from the Guarantor as if such Obligation was due and payable by 1he Customer
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9,

10,

1

12

13

14,

Tnterest

1f flie Quatantor does not make Immedlate payment [n full of tho Obligations whoen demand for payment has beon made by the Bank,
the Guarantor shall pay Interest on any unpald amount to the Bauk at the highest ralo of fnlerest per annum that Is charged on sty
Obllgations for which payment has been domanded hersunder aud which remaln unpatd,

Stato of Accoumt

The records of the Bank In respeot of the Obligations wilf be prima facle evidence of the balancs of the amount of e Obligations that
are duo and payable by the Custonmier to tho Bank,

Applestion of iviensys Reeelved

‘The Bank may, withowt nofice aud demand of any kind snd at any thme, apply any money recelved from the Guarantor, tie Cuslomer
or any other person {Including srsing from any seourity that the Bank may from fime to time hold) or any balance In any account of
the Guarantor held at the Bank or aay of the Bank's affilintes, to such part of the Obllgations, whether due or to become due, as the
Bavk ln{ts solo and absolute disoretlon considers appropriste, or may, In its sols and absofute disoretion, refrafn from applying ay
such money, The Bank may algo tovoke aud aller any suoh appfication in wholo or in pant, Ifany amount that s 1o be applled is fn s
ctirvenoy other than the curcency of the Obligatlon te which suoh amount is to bo applied, then the mmmount that Is appied shall be
converted from one ourrency to anothet wsing the rate of sxchangs for the converslon of such surrency as delormined by the Bank or
its agents and the Bank or its agent may earn yevonue on suoh conversion,

No Set-off or Counterelaim

The Guarantor will make all payments required (o bo made under this Guarantee without olalming or assovting any right of setoff or
counterolalm that the Guarantor has or may have sgaust the Custorner or the Bank, all of which rlghts the Guarantoc walyes,

Exhiausting Recour'se

The Bank ls not required to take any proceedings, exhaust Ha recourse against the Customer or any othor Guarantor or person or under
any seourity the Bank may from tlme te tino hold, or lake atty other actlon, before belng entitled to derand payment from the
Quarantor undor this Guarantes, and the Guarantor walves all benefils of disoussion and dlyision, !

No Representations

Theto ato no representatlons, wamaniles, terms, conditions, vnderlakings or collatoral agreements, express, Implied or siatutory,
between fhe pariies oxcept as oxpressly set forth horehn, The Bank whl not be bound by any represontations or promises mads by
Customer to the Guarantor and possession of this Guarautee by the Bank wilt be concluslve evldence against the Guaranior that ths
Guavantes was not delivered fu esorow or pursuant to any agreement that It should ot be effectlve uuti! any condition precedent or
subsequent has been complled with, and this Guarantee will be binding on each Guarantor who has slgned this Guazaniee
notwithstandlng the non-oxeoution thereof by any proposed guarantor,

Postponement and Assignment

The Guerantor hereby postpones paynient of all present and future debts and liabilitles of the Customer 14 the Guatantor, and as
seoutity for payment of the Obligations, the Guarantor horeby usslgns such debis and flabiilties to the Bank and agrees that all mencya
recslved from the Customer by or on behalf of the Guarantor shall be held In trust for the Bank and foxthwith upon recelpt patd over ta
the Bank, alt without prefudice to and without in any way limiting or lessenlng the liability of the Guatantor to the Bank under this
Guaranieo, This asslgament and postpo 15 independent of the guarantes, Indemnity and primary obligor obligations gontalned
in this Guarantee and will romain in foll force and offect untl], In the case of the assignment, the Jiabli{ty of the Guarantor under this
Guarantee has been discharged or torminated and, In the oase of the postpouement, until all Obligatlons are performed and
Indofensibly puld In full,

Subrogation

The Guaranior will not be entitled to bo subrogated to the xights of tho Bank agalnsl the Customer, to be indomnified by the Customer
ot {o ofalm contribution from any othet Guarantor uaill the Guarantor makes Indefeaslbls payment to the Bank of sl amounts owing
by the Guarantor to the Bank under this Guaxantes and the Obligations are fndefeasibly pald in full, !
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15, Bailwuptey of Customer ‘
1

Upoit the bankruptoy or winding up ot otlier distetbutlon of nssets of the Customer or of any surety or Guarentor for the Obligations,
tho Bauk's rights shafl not be affected by the Bank's fallure to prove i1 elalm and the Hank may prove snol olalm I aud In any manner
83 It desms appropriate In itg sole diseretlon, The Bank may value as {t sces £it of refraln from vatulog any secudty hold by the Bank
without In any way releasing, reduclug or othorwlse affecting the llabliity of the Guarantor o the Bank, and wntil all the Obligatlons of
the Customor to the Bank bave been Indofbasibly pald in full, the Bauk shall have the rlght to laclude {u lts claim the amount of it
sumns pald by the Guarantor to the Bauk undet thls Guarantee and {0 prove aad rank for and recetve dividonds In respeet of such olalm,
any end all rlght to prove and rank for such sums pald by the Guarantor and fo recetve the full smount of atl dividends in respeot
thoreto belng hereby assigned and wansferred to the Bank,

16, Costs and Expensos

The Guarantor aggeos to pay alf costs and expenses, lucluding logal feos, of onforolng this Guaranies Inoloding the charges and
expenses of the Bank's in-house lavvyers, The Guarantor will pay all legal fees on a solloltor and own cilent basis,

17, Other Guarantees and Securlty )
The Jability of the Guarantor under any other guatanieo or guarantces glven to {he Bank In connection with the Obligations shall not
be affeoted by this Guarantes, nor shal thls Gusranteo affect or be affected by the endorsement by the Guarantor of aty note of notes
of the Customer, the jutentlon being that the Jlabllity of the Guaranlor under such oflier guarantee or guarantees and this Guarantee,

and under such other note or notes and this G teo, shall be tative, Nor shall the Bank bo required to marshal in favour of the
Guarantor ollier guarantees granted by othor persous or any seourity, money or other propesty that the Bank may be eatitled to receive
or may have & ¢lalm upon, .

18, Amendwent and Walvers

No amendment to this Guaranies will bo valid or binding unless get forth fn writing and duly excouted by the Guazantor and the Bank,
No walver by the Bank of any breach of any provision of this Guatantes will bs effeative or binding untess made In writlng and signed
by the Bank and, unless othenwise provided {n the wrliten watver, will be limited to the specifio breach walved, No delay In the
exerolse of any right oz remedy by the Rank shall operate a3 a walver thereof, No fallure to exerslse a 1ight or remedy or partial
oxerolse of arlght ox remedy by the Bank shall preeluds other or fitthot oxeroisc thereof ox the exeroise of any other Hght or remedy
by the Bank,

19, Discharge

The Guarantor will nof be released or disoharged from fts obligations hevounder excopt by a written relense or discharge slgned by the
Bauk, .

20, Genoral

This Guarantec shall be binding on the s of e G tor or, if the Guarantor is an indlvidual, the helrs, oxeoutors,
 sdministeators and other legal xoprosentalives of the Quarantor, and shall enure o Lo benofit of the successars aud assigns of the
Bank.

I more thab one Guarantor has signed this Guarantee, each Guarantor shall be Jolntly aud severally Hable undsr this Guarantes,

To the extont that aay Himitation perlod applies ta any vl for payment heteunder of the Obligations or remedy for the enforcement
of such payment, the Guaranlor agrees that any such limitallon pertod Is excluded or walved, but 1€ such exolusfon and walver {s not
pormltted by applicable Iaw, then any limitation perlod is extended o the maximum length permitted by applicable law,

Any notles or demand whioh the Bank may wish lo glve under this Guaraniee may be personally served on the Guarantor or sent by
ordinary mat! or elestronlo mall to the last known addreay of the Guarantor, Auy notice that Is sent by ordlnary mall shafl bo
conotuslvely deemed to have been recelved on the fifth day followlng the day on which il is maifed, Any notice that Is sent by
sleatronie mall shall be conslusively deemed o have been recsived on the day 1t 13 sont,

Tf aty provision of this Guaranteo is determined by any eourt of campetent Jurlsdlotion to be Invalld or uncaforosable in any vespeot,
suoh Invalldlty or unenforoeabillty will not affect the validity or euforceabllity of the remaining provlsions of this Ouarantes,
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This Guarentes shall bo governed by and conatraed fu ecoordance with the laws of the Provineo of Ontatlo
and the Jaws of Canada spplicable thereln.

Auy word hereln contalned importing the siagular mumber shall inelndo the plural and any word importing a person shall include 1
cotporation, partnership, flrm and any ofher ontity, .

Subjeot to Sectlon 17, this Guatanteo consMtutes tlio entle agreement betweon the Guarantor and {ho Bavk with respeat to the subject
matter hereof and cancels and supersedes any prior understandings sud agreements between the pariles with respeot thereto,

Bach of the undersigned ackunowledges recelpt of 8 copy of thls Quarantes,

Personnl Guarandes
WITNBSS: . '
Ly -
Pe - = Slgnature of Q @"'
T
{euthorted signolun) pentanene: KAWSER ZAHAN
Per: fel .
eutharized STenatore) Personal Guarantoe
[¢]
[Name of Guarantor] Stgasturo of
Print name:
Per!
(authorized signature)
Rersonal Guarsnteo '
Pets
{authorized signature) Stgnatore of & *
[Name of Guarantor] Fring nomes .
Pert Personal Guaranieo

{(authorlzed stgnature)

Pen:

’ (avthorized signature)

PagaSol7

Signature of Guarantor;

FPrint name:

[Name of Guarantor] Personal Guaranles )
Pert Signature of G
(authorlzed slgnnture)
' Erint name;
Pen
-+ (authorized slgnatute) Personal Guarantee
[Name of Guarantor] Signatucs o Quarantor:
Pert Print namet
(authorlzed slgnature)
Personal Guaraniee
Per: N !
(ewihorlzed slgnature) Slgnature of G
[Name of Guarantot] Printname:
Per; Personal Guaraniee
(authotized signature)
Signature of Quarantor:
Pers \
{enthorlzed signatura) Print name;
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This is Exhibit «<J” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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2314251 ONTARIO INC.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited- See Review Engagement Report)

As at December 31, 2021
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2314251 ONTARIO INC.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at December 31, 2021
(Unaudited- See Review Engagement Report)
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Fareed Sheik LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
AUDIT = TAX » ACCOUNTING

INDEPENDENT REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of 2314251 Ontario Inc. that comprise the Balance Sheet
as at December 31, 2021, and the Statements of Income and Retained Earnings and Cash Flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Practitioner’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our review. We
conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements, which
require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements.

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review
engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily consisting of
making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures,
and evaluates the evidence obtained.

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those
performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Accordingly,
we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial statements do not
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 2314251 Ontario Inc. as at December 31, 2021, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for private enterprises.

Fareed Sheik LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants
Place: Mississauga

Date: May 10, 2022

3034 Palstan Road, Suite 100, Mississauga, Ontario, L4Y 2Z6 Tel: +1 (905) 896 4449



ASSETS

Current
Cash in bank
Inventory
Deposits and prepayments
Other assets

Fixed assets (note 3)
Goodwill

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current

Short term debt

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Balance Sheet
(Unaudited- See Review Engagement Report)
As at December 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2021

111

Dec. 31, 2020

Current portion of long term loan (note 4)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Long term
Long term loan (note 4)

Shareholder's advances (note 5)

SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

Share capital (note 6)

Retained earnings

Total Liabilities and equity

$ $
100,750 10,249
189,960 148,775
50,000 50,000
8,320 9,250
349,030 218,274
3,262,363 3,532,728
500,000 500,000
4,111,393 4,251,002
20,000 60,000
99,780 103,682
21,770 40,218
141,550 203,900
2,401,880 2,626,823
1,251,523 1,229,625
3,794,953 4,060,348
100 100
316,340 190,554
316,440 190,654
4,111,393 4,251,002

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Director




2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Statement of Retained Earnings
(Unaudited- See Review Engagement Report)
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As at December 31, 2021
Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020
$ $
Balance - at the beginning of the year 190,633 138,448
Net income for the year 125,707 52,106
Balance - at the end of the year 316,340 190,554




2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Statement of Income

(Unaudited - See Review Engagement Report)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

REVENUE
COST OF SALES

Gross profit

OPERATING EXPENSES
Advertising and promotion
Amortization

Credit card charges
Interest on bank loan
Vehicle running

Insurance

Professional fees

License and permits
Repair and maintenance
Office supplies

Salaries and benefits
Property taxes

Telephone

Utilities

NET PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

113

2021 2020
$ $
6,312,750 5,930,880
5,572,480 5,235,390

740,270 695,490

2,058 2,015
270,365 306,191
53,665 51,903
103,741 109,048
1,420 1,380
6,129 6,049
6,500 6,000
1,001 810
4,325 6,870
1,197 1,197
101,669 105,380
16,359 16,307
1,358 1,080
19,029 18,482
588,816 632,712
151,454 62,778
25,747 10,672
125,707 52,106
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2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Unaudited- See Review Engagement Report)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

1. LEGAL STATUS AND BACKGROUND
The company is incorporated under the business corporation act of Ontario. The company is Canadian
Controlled Private Corporation and engaged in running Gas Station and Convenience store.

In June 2018, the Gas station was rebranded from Ultramar to Esso brand and was closed for
renovation and change of pumps for about a month.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally acceptance accounting
principles that are applicable to a going concern. Under the going concern assumption, a company is viewed
as being able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting policies for
private enterprises and include the following significant accounting policies.

a) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
required management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments become necessary, they are reported in
earnings in the period in which they become known.

b) Revenue Recognition

The company recognized revenue at the time that persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, there are no
significant obligations remaining, the sales price is fixed and determinable, the service is delivered to the
external customer, there is a payment arrangement existence and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue
consist of lottery tickets and convenience stores good sold.

¢) Measurement of Financial Instruments

The company initially measure the financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value except for certain non-
arms' length transactions. Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the company is not exposed
to significant interest, currency or credit risk arising from the financial instruments. The fair value of financial
instruments approximates their carrying values, unless otherwise noted.

d) Inventory
Inventory is valued by the management at the lower of cost and net realizable value.



115

2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Unaudited - See Review Engagement Report)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued ... )

e) Fixed Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized at the following rates:
Rates Method
Buildings 4% Declining balance
Equipment 20% Declining balance

f) Cash and cash equivalent

Bank balances, including bank indebtedness with balances that fluctuate from positive to overdrawn, are
presented under cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. An
investment normally qualifies as a cash equivalent when it has short maturity of approximately three months
or less from the date of acquisition.

g) Income Taxes
The company uses the taxes payable method under which company reports as expense of the current year, the
cost of the current income taxes for the year determined in accordance with rules established by taxation
authorities.

3. FIXED ASSETS

Cost/ Accumulated Net Book Value
Addition Amortization 2021 2020
$ $ $ $
Land 1,500,000 - 1,500,000 1,500,000
Buildings 1,202,397 385,315 817,082 851,127
Equipment 1,579,412 634,131 945,281 1,181,601
4,281,809 1,019,446 3,262,363 3,532,728

4. LONG TERM LOAN

The corporation has obtained a term loan from a Bank which is repayable in 15 years. The facility is
secured by general security agreement, on the assets of the corporation and personal guarantees of the
shareholder.
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2314251 ONTARIO INC.

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Unaudited- See Review Engagement Report)
For the year ended December 31, 2021

5. SHAREHOLDER'S ADVANCE

The advances from shareholders is unsecured, consists of a non-interest bearing promissory note, and has no
specific terms of repayment. Any drawings by the shareholder have been deducted against the outstanding
balance, and the shareholder has waived any right of repayment within the following year, and accordingly,
the amount is classified as long-term.

6. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized
Authorized capital consists of unlimited number of common shares.

2021 2020
Issued $ S
100 common shares 100 100

7. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES
The company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as going concern and to provide
returns to the shareholders and benefits to other stack holders. The capital structure of the company
consists of the income, long term debt, amounts due to shareholder and share capital.

8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. Significant risks arising from
financial instruments are as follows:

Liquidity risk

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with its financial liabilities. The company is exposed to liquidity risk arising primarily form its loans
payable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or future cash flows will fluctuate
because of the changes in market interest rates. The company is exposed to interest rate risk on its
floating rate demand credit facilities.

9. COMPARITIVE FIGURES
Comparatives figures have been rearranged wherever necessary for the purpose of proper comparison.
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This is Exhibit “K” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
Sworn July og , 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)



Sorry we don't
have any gas. We
have had no gas
since January
and wedon't
know when we
will get it again.
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This is Exhibit “L” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022
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Kyle B. Plunkett
Direct: 416.865.3406
E-mail:kplunkett@airdberlis.com

July 11, 2022

DELIVERED BY COURIER AND EMAIL (hafiz797@gmail.com)

2314251 Ontario Inc.
81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario M2N 1Y8

Attention: Mohammad Abdul Hafiz
Dear Mr. Hafiz:
RE: The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”) loans to 13153100 Canada Inc. (the

“Debtor”) and as guaranteed by Mohammad Abdul Hafiz and Kawser Zahan
(the “Guarantors” and with the Debtor, the “Credit Parties”)

We are the lawyers for TD in connection with its lending arrangements with the Debtor.

The Debtor is indebted to TD with respect to certain credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) made
available by TD to the Debtor pursuant to and under the terms of a letter credit agreement made
among TD and the Debtor dated November 17, 2021 (as further amended, replaced, restated or
supplemented from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).

The following amounts are owing by the Debtor to TD for principal and interest pursuant to the
Credit Agreement as of July 11, 2022:

Loan Principal Interest Total

Operating line 60,164.96 57.68 60,222.64

Term Loan 2,338,478.97 1,441.91 2,339,920.88
2,400,143.52

Certain of the Credit Facilities are repayable on demand. There has been one or more defaults
under the Credit Agreement, pursuant to section 10 of Schedule “A” (the “Events of Default”).
As defined therein, Events of Default include, inter alia:

e S. 10(b): “If any representation, warranty or statement made hereunder or made in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Bank Security is false
or misleading at any time”; and

e S.10(l): “If, in the Bank’s determination, a material adverse change occurs in the financial
condition, business operations or prospects of the Borrower, any of the Borrower’s
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.”

TD hereby advises you that the submission of falsified or fraudulent financial statements to TD in
association with the Credit Agreement, without limitation of other defaulting actions by the Credit
Parties to TD, constitutes an Event of Default pursuant to the above provisions.
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Accordingly, on behalf of TD, we hereby make formal demand for payment of $2,400,143.52
together with accruing interest and any and all costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
any additional legal and other professional fees) incurred by TD (collectively, the
“Indebtedness”). Payment is required to be made immediately. Interest continues to accrue on
the Indebtedness at the rates established by the Credit Agreement and any other agreement, as
applicable. Please note that as a result of the seriousness of the aforementioned defaults, the
operating line will be capped at the above figure as of the date of this correspondence.

The Indebtedness and other obligations of the Debtor in connection with the Credit Facilities under
the Credit Agreement are secured by, inter alia:

a) a general security agreement dated December 6, 2021 which grants TD, amongst other
things, a security interest in any of and all of the Debtor's property, assets and
undertakings; and

b) a collateral charge/mortgage in the amount of $2,500,000 in respect of the real property
known municipally as 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario as legally described in PIN No.
03543-0333 (LT) (the “Real Property”).

If payment of the Indebtedness is not received forthwith, TD shall take whatever steps it considers
necessary or appropriate to collect and recover the amounts owing to it, including, without
limitation, steps to appoint an interim receiver, receiver or receiver and manager of the Debtor
and/or the Real Property, in which case TD will also be seeking all costs incurred in so doing.

On behalf of TD, we also enclose a Notice of Intention to Enforce Security for each of the Debtor
delivered pursuant to subsection 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) (the “BIA
Notice”). TD hereby reserves its rights to initiate proceedings within the ten (10) day period set
out in the BIA Notice, if circumstances warrant such proceedings. Please note that this file has
been transitioned to TD’s Financial Restructuring Group. Future correspondence with TD should
be directed to Amanda Bezner (amanda.bezner@td.com).

Yours truly,

AIRD & BERLIS LLP
R, Plantkets

Kyle B. Plunkett

KP/dI
Encl.

CC: Client
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NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY
(Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, Subsection 244(1))

DELIVERED BY COURIER AND EMAIL

TO: 2314251 Ontario Inc.
81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario M2N 1Y8

insolvent company / person
TAKE NOTICE that:

1. The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”), a secured creditor, intends to enforce its security on
the property, assets and undertakings of 2314251 Ontario Inc. (the “Debtor”), including,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all the equipment, accounts, proceeds,
books and records, inventory, leaseholds and all other personal property and real property
interests of the Debtor.

2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of, inter alia (the “Security”):

(a) a general security agreement dated December 6, 2021 which grants TD, amongst
other things, a security interest in any of and all of the Debtor’s property, assets
and undertakings; and

(b) a collateral charge/mortgage in the amount of $2,500,000 in respect of the real
property known municipally as 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario as legally
described in PIN No. 03543-0333 (LT).

3. As at July 11, 2022, the total amount of the indebtedness secured by the Security is the
sum of $2,400,143.52 in principal and interest, plus accruing interest and recovery costs
of TD (including, without limitation, TD’s legal and other professional fees).

4. TD will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry of the ten (10) day
period after this notice is sent, unless the Debtor consents to an earlier enforcement.

DATED at Toronto this 11" day of July, 2022.

The Toronto-Dominion Bank
by its lawyers, Aird & Berlis LLP

Per: X Dluntert
Kyle B. Plunkett

Brookfield Place, Suite 1800
181 Bay Street, Box 754
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9

Tel:  416-863-1500

Fax: 416-863-1515

49363176.2

Note:  This Notice is given for precautionary purposes only and there is no acknowledgement that any person to whom
this Notice is delivered is insolvent, or that the provisions of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act apply to the enforcement
of this security.
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This is Exhibit “M” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
SwornJuly 28 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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Kyle B. Plunkett
Direct: 416.865.3406
E-mail:kplunkett@airdberlis.com

July 11, 2022

DELIVERED BY COURIER AND EMAIL (hafiz797@gmail.com)

Mohammad Adbul Hafiz
81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario M2N 1Y8

Dear Mr. Hafiz:
RE: The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”) loans to 2314251 Ontario Inc. (the

“Debtor”) and as guaranteed by Mohammad Adbul Hafiz and Kawser Zahan
(collectively, the “Guarantors” and with the Debtor, the “Credit Parties”)

We are the lawyers for TD in connection with its lending arrangements with the Debtor.

The Debtor is indebted to TD with respect to certain credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) made
available by TD to the Debtor pursuant to and under the terms of a letter credit agreement made
among TD and the Debtor dated November 17, 2021 (as further amended, replaced, restated or
supplemented from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).

In your personal capacity, you became a guarantor of the obligations of the Debtor under an
unlimited guarantee dated December 6, 2021 (the “Guarantee”).

The following amounts are owing to TD for principal and interest pursuant to the Credit Agreement
as of July 11, 2022:

Loan Principal Interest Total
Operating line 60,164.96 57.68 60,222.64
Term Loan 2,338,478.97 1,441.91 2,339,920.88
2,400,143.52

Certain of the Credit Facilities are repayable on demand. There has been one or more defaults
under the Credit Agreement, pursuant to section 10 of Schedule “A” (the “Events of Default”).
As defined therein, Events of Default include, inter alia:

o S. 10(b): “If any representation, warranty or statement made hereunder or made in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Bank Security is false
or misleading at any time”; and

o S.10(l): “If, in the Bank’s determination, a material adverse change occurs in the financial
condition, business operations or prospects of the Borrower, any of the Borrower’s
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.”

TD hereby advises you that the submission of falsified or fraudulent financial statements to TD in
association with the Credit Agreement, without limitation of other defaulting actions by the Credit
Parties to TD, constitutes an Event of Default pursuant to the above provisions.
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Accordingly, on behalf of TD, we hereby make formal demand for payment of $2,400,143.52
together with accruing interest and any and all costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
any additional legal and other professional fees) incurred by TD (collectively, the
“Indebtedness”). Payment is required to be made immediately. Interest continues to accrue on
the Indebtedness at the rates established by the Credit Agreement, the Guarantee and any other
agreement, as applicable. Please note that as a result of the seriousness of the aforementioned
defaults, the operating line will be capped at the above figure as of the date of this
correspondence.

If payment of the Indebtedness is not received forthwith, TD shall take whatever steps it considers
necessary or appropriate to collect and recover the amounts owing to it, including, without
limitation, the commencement of legal proceedings against you in the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice, in which case TD will also be seeking all costs incurred in so doing.

Please note that this file has been transitioned to TD’s Financial Restructuring Group. Future
correspondence with TD should be directed to Amanda Bezner (amanda.bezner@td.com).

Yours truly,

AIRD & BERLIS LLP

R, Plankets
Kyle B. Plunkett

KP/dl

CC: Client
49364018.2

I 7 REE LT T W B e l
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This is Exhibit “N” referred to in the Affidavit of Amanda Bezner
Sworn July 28 2022

Commission for Taking Affidavits (or as may be)
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Kyle B. Plunkett
Direct: 416.865.3406
E-mail:kplunkett@airdberlis.com

July 11, 2022
DELIVERED BY COURIER

Kawser Zahan

81 Churchill Avenue
North York, Ontario
M2N 1Y8

Dear Mr. Ma:
RE: The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”) loans to 2314251 Ontario Inc. (the

“Debtor”) and as guaranteed by Mohammad Abdul Hafiz and Kawser Zahan
(collectively, the “Guarantors” and with the Debtor, the “Credit Parties”)

We are the lawyers for TD in connection with its lending arrangements with the Debtor.

The Debtor is indebted to TD with respect to certain credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) made
available by TD to the Debtor pursuant to and under the terms of a letter credit agreement made
among TD and the Debtor dated November 17, 2021 (as further amended, replaced, restated or
supplemented from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).

In your personal capacity, you became a guarantor of the obligations of the Debtor under an
unlimited guarantee dated December 6, 2021 (the “Guarantee”).

The following amounts are owing to TD for principal and interest pursuant to the Credit Agreement
as of July 11, 2022:

Loan Principal Interest Total

Operating line 60,164.96 57.68 60,222.64

Term Loan 2,338,478.97 1,441.91 2,339,920.88
2,400,143.52

Certain of the Credit Facilities are repayable on demand. There has been one or more defaults
under the Credit Agreement, pursuant to section 10 of Schedule “A” (the “Events of Default”).
As defined therein, Events of Default include, inter alia:

e S. 10(b): “If any representation, warranty or statement made hereunder or made in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the Bank Security is false
or misleading at any time”; and

e S.10(l): “If, in the Bank’s determination, a material adverse change occurs in the financial
condition, business operations or prospects of the Borrower, any of the Borrower’s
subsidiaries, or any of the Guarantors.”

TD hereby advises you that the submission of falsified or fraudulent financial statements to TD in
association with the Credit Agreement, without limitation of other defaulting actions by the Credit
Parties to TD, constitutes an Event of Default pursuant to the above provisions.
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Accordingly, on behalf of TD, we hereby make formal demand for payment of $2,400,143.52
together with accruing interest and any and all costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
any additional legal and other professional fees) incurred by TD (collectively, the
“Indebtedness”). Payment is required to be made immediately. Interest continues to accrue on
the Indebtedness at the rates established by the Credit Agreement, the Guarantee and any other
agreement, as applicable. Please note that as a result of the seriousness of the aforementioned
defaults, the operating line will be capped at the above figure as of the date of this
correspondence.

If payment of the Indebtedness is not received forthwith, TD shall take whatever steps it considers
necessary or appropriate to collect and recover the amounts owing to it, including, without
limitation, the commencement of legal proceedings against you in the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice, in which case TD will also be seeking all costs incurred in so doing.

Please note that this file has been transitioned to TD’s Financial Restructuring Group. Future
correspondence with TD should be directed to Amanda Bezner (amanda.bezner@td.com).

Yours truly,

AIRD & BERLIS LLP

R, Planter?
Kyle B. Plunkett

KP/dI

CC: Client
49364019.2

I Z REE LA B B W S e l
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Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

BETWEEN:
THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

Applicant

-and-

2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN

Respondents
CONSENT TO ACT AS COURT APPOINTED RECEIVER

msi Spergel inc., of the City of Toronto, Ontario hereby consents to act as Receiver without
security, over all of the assets, undertakings, and properties of the Respondent, 2314251 Ontario
Inc. as described in the form of the draft Order included with Applicant's Application Record
with such amendments as may be ordered by the Court, such amendments on notice to and

acceptable to msi Spergel inc.
Dated at Brampton, Ontario this 20" day of July, 2022.

msi Spergel inc., solely in its capacity as
Receiver and not in its personal capacity

Per: @J‘LD

Name: Mukul Manchanda
Title:  Managing Partner
| have authority to bind the Corporation.
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Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

THE HONOURABLE MR. ) TUESDAY, THE 30™
)
JUSTICE OSBORNE ) DAY OF AUGUST, 2022

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
Applicant
-and -
2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN

Respondents

ORDER
(appointing Receiver)

THIS MOTION made by the Applicant for an Order pursuant to section 243(1) of the
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the “BIA”) and section 101 of
the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the “CJA”) appointing msi Spergel
Inc. as receiver (in such capacity, the “Receiver”) without security, of all of the assets,
undertakings and properties of 2314251 Ontario Inc. (the “Debtor”) including the real property
municipally known as 26233 Highway 48, Sutton West, Ontario (the “Real Property”), was heard
this day at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of Amanda Bezner sworn July 28, 2022 and the Exhibits
thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicant, counsel for <*>, and no one
appearing for any other party on the Service List although duly served as appears from the affidavit
of service of €*> sworn August <*>, 2022 and on reading the consent of msi Spergel Inc. to act

as the Receiver,
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SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the
Applicants is hereby abridged and validated so that this motion is properly returnable today and
hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 243(1) of the BIA and section 101 of
the CJA, msi Spergel Inc. is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of all of the assets,
undertakings and properties of the Debtor including the Real Property and all proceeds thereof

(collectively, the “Property”).

RECEIVER’S POWERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not
obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality
of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the

following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

€)) to take possession of and exercise control over the Property and any and all

proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the Property;

(b) to receive, preserve, and protect the Property, or any part or parts thereof,
including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security codes, the
relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of independent security
personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the placement of such

insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;

(©) to manage, operate, and carry on the business of the Debtor, including the
powers to enter into any agreements, incur any obligations in the ordinary
course of business, cease to carry on all or any part of the business, or cease

to perform any contracts of the Debtor;



(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)
(h)

(i)

)
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to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants,
managers, counsel and such other persons from time to time and on
whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise
of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those
conferred by this Order;

to purchase or lease such machinery, equipment, inventories, supplies,
premises or other assets to continue the business of the Debtor or any part
or parts thereof

to receive and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter owing
to the Debtor and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in collecting such
monies, including, without limitation, to enforce any security held by the
Debtor;

to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor;

to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in
respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the
name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;

to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all
proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafter
instituted with respect to the Debtor, the Property or the Receiver, and to
settle or compromise any such proceedings. The authority hereby conveyed
shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review in respect of

any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;

to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting
offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and negotiating
such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its discretion may deem

appropriate;



(k)

(0

(m)

(n)

(0)

(P)
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to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts

thereof out of the ordinary course of business,

(1)  without the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction not
exceeding $100,000, provided that the aggregate consideration for

all such transactions does not exceed $500,000; and

(i) with the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction in which
the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds the
applicable amount set out in the preceding clause;

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario Personal
Property Security Act, or section 31 of the Ontario Mortgages Act, as the
case may be, shall not be required,;

to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey the
Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers thereof,

free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;

to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined
below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the
Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such

terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;

to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the
Property against title to any of the Property;

to apply for any permits, licences, approvals or permissions as may be
required by any governmental authority and any renewals thereof for and
on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the
Debtor;

to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in respect

of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
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the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property owned or
leased by the Debtor

(a) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights which
the Debtor may have; and

(9] to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the

performance of any statutory obligations,

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively
authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below),

including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors,
officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons
acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental
bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the foregoing, collectively,
being “Persons” and each being a “Person”) shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence
of any Property in such Person’s possession or control, shall grant immediate and continued access
to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such Property to the Receiver upon the

Receiver's request.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the
existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting records,
and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the business or affairs of the
Debtor, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data storage media
containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the “Records”) in that Person's
possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to make, retain and
take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting,
computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this
paragraph 5 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records, or the granting

of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due to the privilege
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attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions prohibiting such

disclosure.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a
computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service
provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give
unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully
copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto
paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the
information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy
any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this
paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate
access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including
providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and providing
the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that may be

required to gain access to the information.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall provide each of the relevant landlords
with notice of the Receiver’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least
seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal. The relevant landlord shall be entitled to
have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the landlord
disputes the Receiver’s entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of the lease,
such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any applicable
secured creditors, such landlord and the Receiver, or by further Order of this Court upon
application by the Receiver on at least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such secured
creditors.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or
tribunal (each, a “Proceeding”), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except
with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.
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NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the
Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or with
leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the

Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or
affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the
Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in
respect of any “eligible financial contract” as defined in the BIA, and further provided that nothing
in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business which the
Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from compliance
with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment, (iii) prevent
the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration

of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

11.  THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere
with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, licence
or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or leave of
this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the
Debtor or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including
without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized
banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to
the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the
Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor’s current
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telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each
case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this
Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or such
other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver, or as

may be ordered by this Court.

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of
payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any
source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the
collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this
Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be
opened by the Receiver (the “Post Receivership Accounts”) and the monies standing to the credit
of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for
herein, shall be held by the Receiver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any
further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

14.  THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall remain the employees of
the Debtor until such time as the Receiver, on the Debtor's behalf, may terminate the employment
of such employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities, including
any successor employer liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such
amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations
under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act.

PIPEDA

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to clause 7(3)(c) of the Canada Personal
Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the Receiver shall disclose personal
information of identifiable individuals to prospective purchasers or bidders for the Property and to
their advisors, but only to the extent desirable or required to negotiate and attempt to complete one
or more sales of the Property (each, a “Sale”). Each prospective purchaser or bidder to whom such

personal information is disclosed shall maintain and protect the privacy of such information and
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limit the use of such information to its evaluation of the Sale, and if it does not complete a Sale,
shall return all such information to the Receiver, or in the alternative destroy all such information.
The purchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue to use the personal information
provided to it, and related to the Property purchased, in a manner which is in all material respects
identical to the prior use of such information by the Debtor, and shall return all other personal

information to the Receiver, or ensure that all other personal information is destroyed.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to
occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively,
“Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a
pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of
a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation,
enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste
or other contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act,
the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario
Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (the “Environmental
Legislation”), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to
report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall
not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers
under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any

Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession.

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER’S LIABILITY

17.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result
of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, including, but not limited to,
any illness or bodily harm resulting from a party or parties contracting COVID-19, save and except
for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under
sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act. Nothing
in this Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA

or by any other applicable legislation.
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RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS

18.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their
reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges unless otherwise
ordered by the Court on the passing of accounts, and that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver
shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the “Receiver’'s Charge”) on the Property, as
security for such fees and disbursements, both before and after the making of this Order in respect
of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form a first charge on the Property in
priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in
favour of any Person, but subject to sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass its accounts
from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are hereby

referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

20.  THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at
liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its
fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the standard rates and
charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its

remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.
FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

21.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to
borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may consider
necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed $300,000
(or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order authorize) at any time, at such rate or
rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time as it may arrange, for the
purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred upon the Receiver by this
Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and is hereby charged
by way of a fixed and specific charge (the “Receiver’s Borrowings Charge”) as security for the
payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in priority to all

security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any
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Person, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver’s Charge and the charges as set out in sections

14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver’s Borrowings Charge nor any other
security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be

enforced without leave of this Court.

23.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates
substantially in the form annexed as Schedule “A” hereto (the “Receiver’s Certificates”) for any
amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

24.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver
pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver’s Certificates
evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a pari passu basis, unless otherwise agreed
to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver’s Certificates.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the
“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of
documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List

website at http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-

commercia/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute
an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to
Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of
documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further
orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the following
URL https://www.spergelcorporate.ca/engagements.

26.  THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance
with the Protocol is not practicable, the Receiver is at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any
other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by
forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or facsimile

transmission to the Debtor's creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as last


http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-commercia/
http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-commercia/
https://www.spergelcorporate.ca/engagements
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shown on the records of the Debtor and that any such service or distribution by courier, personal
delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be received on the next business day
following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business day after

mailing.

27.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant, the Receiver and their respective counsel are
at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders as may be reasonably
required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by forwarding true
copies thereof by electronic message to the Debtor’s creditors or other interested parties and their
advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service shall be deemed to be in satisfaction
of a legal or juridical obligation, and notice requirements within the meaning of clause 3(c) of the
Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-175 (SOR/DORS).

GENERAL

28.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for
advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

29.  THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting

as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

30. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give
effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.
All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to
make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this Court, as
may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in
carrying out the terms of this Order.

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and
empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located,
for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that
the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within
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proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside

Canada.

32.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have its costs of this motion, up to and
including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Applicant’s security or,
if not so provided by the Applicants security, then on a substantial indemnity basis to be paid by
the Receiver from the Debtor's estate with such priority and at such time as this Court may

determine.

33.  THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or
amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party

likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order.
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SCHEDULE "A"
RECEIVER CERTIFICATE

CERTIFICATE NO.

AMOUNT $

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that msi Spergel Inc., the receiver (the “Receiver”) of the assets,
undertakings and properties 2314251 Ontario Inc., including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the
“Property”) appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the
“Court”) dated the 30" day of August, 2022 (the “Order”’) made in an action having Court file
number CV-22-00685439-00CL, has received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate
(the “Lender”) the principal sum of $ , being part of the total principal sum of

$ which the Receiver is authorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with
interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the day
of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of per

cent above the prime commercial lending rate of The Toronto-Dominion Bank from time to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the
principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the
Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to
the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the
Order and in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself

out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4. All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at

the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5. Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating
charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver
to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written consent of the holder

of this certificate.
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6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with
the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the

Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any sum

in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the day of , 20

MSI SPERGEL INC. solely in its capacity
as Court-appointed Receiver of 2314251
Ontario Inc. and the Property, and not in its
personal capacity

Per:

Name:
Title:

49525763.1



THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

Applicant
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- and - 2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ
and KAWSER ZAHAN

Respondents
Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL

49525763.3

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

Proceedings commenced at Toronto

RECEIVERSHIP ORDER

AIRD & BERLIS LLP
Barristers and Solicitors
Brookfield Place
181 Bay Street, Suite 1800
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9
Fax: (416) 863-1515

Kyle Plunkett (LSO # 61044N)
Tel: (416) 865-3406

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com

D. Robb English (LSO # 19862F)
Tel: (416) 865-4748

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: renglish@airdberlis.com

Lawyers for The Toronto-Dominion Bank
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243(1) BIA (National Recei Lo 101 CIA(C ) Reced

CV-22-00685439-00CL

Court File No.

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE ———MR. ) WEEKDAYTUESDAY, THE #30™
)
JUSTICE ———OSBORNE ) DAY OF MONTHAUGUST, 20¥R2022
PEABRNTHE
Plaintiff
THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
Applicant
-and -
DEEENDANT
Defendant

2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN

Respondents
ORDER

(appointing Receiver)

THIS MOTION made by the Plaintiff*Applicant for an Order pursuant to section 243(1)
of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the “““BIA™”) and section
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101 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the ““CJA™”) appointing

HRECEFVER'S NAME}msi Spergel Inc. as receiver fand-managerf-(in such eapaeitiescapacity, the
"“Receiver"”) without security, of all of the assets, undertakings and properties of PEBTOR'S
NAME]2314251 Ontario Inc. (the ““Debtor"”) acquiredfor—orused—in—relation—to—abusiness

earried-on-by-the Debterincluding the real property municipally known as 26233 Highway 48,
Sutton West, Ontario (the “Real Property”), was heard this day at 330 University Avenue,

Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of PINAMEJAmanda Bezner sworn {1BATE}uly 28, 2022 and
the Exhibits thereto and on hearing the submissions of counsel for NAMES}Hthe Applicant,

counsel for <*>, and no one appearing for fNAME]any other party on the Service List although
duly served as appears from the affidavit of service of INAME]I<*> sworn fDATE}August <*>,

2022 and on reading the consent of fRECEFVER'SNAME]msi Spergel Inc. to act as the Receiver,

SERVICE

I. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of MetienApplication and
the MetionApplicants is hereby abridged and validated® so that this motion is properly returnable

today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.
APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 243(1) of the BIA and section 101 of
the CJA, RECEFVER'S NAME]msi Spergel Inc. is hereby appointed Receiver, without security,
of all of the assets, undertakings and properties of the Debtor acquired-for-orusedinrelationtoa
business—earried—on—by—the—Debter,—including the Real Property and all proceeds thereof
(collectively, the ““Property™”).
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RECEIVER’S POWERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not

obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality

of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the

following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

to take possession of and exercise control over the Property and any and all

proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the Property;

to receive, preserve, and protect the Property, or any part or parts thereof,
including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security codes, the
relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of independent security
personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the placement of such

insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;

to manage, operate, and carry on the business of the Debtor, including the
powers to enter into any agreements, incur any obligations in the ordinary
course of business, cease to carry on all or any part of the business, or cease

to perform any contracts of the Debtor;

to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants,
managers, counsel and such other persons from time to time and on
whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise of
the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those

conferred by this Order;

to purchase or lease such machinery, equipment, inventories, supplies,
premises or other assets to continue the business of the Debtor or any part or

parts thereof:

to receive and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter owing

to the Debtor and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in collecting such
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monies, including, without limitation, to enforce any security held by the

Debtor;
to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor;

to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in
respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the

name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;

to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all
proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafter
instituted with respect to the Debtor, the Property or the Receiver, and to
settle or compromise any such proceedings.* The authority hereby
conveyed shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review in

respect of any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;

to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting
offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and negotiating
such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its discretion may deem

appropriate;

to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts

thereof out of the ordinary course of business,

(i)  without the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction not

exceeding $—— 100,000, provided that the aggregate

consideration for all such transactions does not exceed

$—500.000; and




)
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(11) with the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction in which
the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds the

applicable amount set out in the preceding clause;

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario Personal
Property Security Act, for section 31 of the Ontario Mortgages Act, as the
case may be,}* shall not be required-and-in-each-case-the Ontarie Bull=Sales

Act shall notapply

to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey the
Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers thereof,

free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;

to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined
below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the
Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such

terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;

to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the

Property against title to any of the Property;

to apply for any permits, licences, approvals or permissions as may be
required by any governmental authority and any renewals thereof for and on
behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the
Debtor;

to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in respect
of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property owned or

leased by the Debtor;
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(qQ) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights which

the Debtor may have; and

() to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the

performance of any statutory obligations-,

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively
authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below),

including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors,
officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons
acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations,
governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the foregoing,

1199

collectively, being ““Persons"” and each being a ““Person”) shall forthwith advise the Receiver
of the existence of any Property in such Person'’s possession or control, shall grant immediate and
continued access to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such Property to the Receiver

upon the Receiver's request.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the
existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting records,
and any other papers, records and information of any kind related to the business or affairs of the
Debtor, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or other data storage media

1199

Records"”) in that Person's

1nee

containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the
possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to make, retain and
take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting,
computer, software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this
paragraph 5 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records, or the granting of
access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due to the privilege
attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions prohibiting such

disclosure.
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6. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a
computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service
provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give
unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully
copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto
paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the
information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy
any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this
paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate
access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including
providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and providing
the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that may be

required to gain access to the information.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall provide each of the relevant landlords
with notice of the Receiver’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least
seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal. The relevant landlord shall be entitled to
have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the landlord
disputes the Receiver’s entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of the lease,
such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any applicable
secured creditors, such landlord and the Receiver, or by further Order of this Court upon
application by the Receiver on at least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such secured

creditors.
NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or

1199

tribunal (each, a ““‘Proceeding"”), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except

with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

0. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the

Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or with
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leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the

Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or
affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the
Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in

1nee

respect of any ““eligible financial contract"” as defined in the BIA, and further provided that

nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business
which the Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from
compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment,
(ii1) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent

the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere
with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, licence
or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or leave of

this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the
Debtor or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including
without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized
banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to
the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the
Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor’s current
telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each
case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this

Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or such
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other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver, or as

may be ordered by this Court.

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of
payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any
source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the
collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this
Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be

1ee 1199

opened by the Receiver (the ““Post Receivership Accounts"”) and the monies standing to the

credit of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided
for herein, shall be held by the Receiver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or

any further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall remain the employees of
the Debtor until such time as the Receiver, on the Debtor's behalf, may terminate the employment
of such employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities, including
any successor employer liabilities as provided for in section 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such
amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations

under sections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act.

PIPEDA

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to clause 7(3)(c) of the Canada Personal
Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, the Receiver shall disclose personal
information of identifiable individuals to prospective purchasers or bidders for the Property and to
their advisors, but only to the extent desirable or required to negotiate and attempt to complete one
or more sales of the Property (each, a “““Sale"”). Each prospective purchaser or bidder to whom
such personal information is disclosed shall maintain and protect the privacy of such information
and limit the use of such information to its evaluation of the Sale, and if it does not complete a Sale,
shall return all such information to the Receiver, or in the alternative destroy all such information.

The purchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue to use the personal information
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provided to it, and related to the Property purchased, in a manner which is in all material respects
identical to the prior use of such information by the Debtor, and shall return all other personal

information to the Receiver, or ensure that all other personal information is destroyed.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to
occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively,

1199

"“Possession"”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a
pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of a
substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation,
enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste
or other contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act,
the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario
Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (the ““Environmental

199

Legislation"”), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to
report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall
not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers
under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any

Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession.

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER’S LIABILITY

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result

of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, including, but not limited to, any

illness or bodily harm resulting from a party or parties contracting COVID-19, save and except for

any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under sections
81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the Wage Earner Protection Program Act. Nothing in this
Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA or by

any other applicable legislation.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their

reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges unless
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otherwise ordered by the Court on the passing of accounts, and that the Receiver and counsel to the
Receiver shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the ““Receiver's Charge™”) on the
Property, as security for such fees and disbursements, both before and after the making of this
Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form a first charge on
the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory
or otherwise, in favour of any Person, but subject to sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the
BIA.®

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass its accounts
from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are

hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at
liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its
fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the standard rates and
charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its

remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.
FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to
borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may
consider necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed

$——300,000 (or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order authorize) at any

time, at such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time as it
may arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred upon the
Receiver by this Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and is
hereby charged by way of a fixed and specific charge (the ““’Receiver'’s Borrowings Charge"”)

as security for the payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in
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priority to all security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in
favour of any Person, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver’s Charge and the charges as set

out in sections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver’s Borrowings Charge nor any other
security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be

enforced without leave of this Court.

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates
substantially in the form annexed as Schedule "““A"” hereto (the ““Receiver’s Certificates"”) for

any amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver
pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver’s Certificates
evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a pari passu basis, unless otherwise agreed to

by the holders of any prior issued Receiver’s Certificates.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the
“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of
documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List
website at

srotocol/http://ww

w.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-commercia/) shall be valid

and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for substituted
service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules
of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the
Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further orders that a Case Website shall be
established in  accordance  with the Protocol with the following URL

“<@="https://www.spergelcorporate.ca/engagements.

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance

with the Protocol is not practicable, the Receiver is at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any


http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-protocol/
http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/eservice-commercia/
https://www.spergelcorporate.ca/engagements
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other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by
forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or facsimile
transmission to the Debtor's creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as last
shown on the records of the Debtor and that any such service or distribution by courier, personal
delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be received on the next business day
following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business day after

mailing.

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant, the Receiver and their respective counsel are

at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders as may be reasonably

required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by forwarding true
copies thereof by electronic message to the Debtor’s creditors or other interested parties and their
advisors. For greater certainty, any such distribution or service shall be deemed to be in

satisfaction of a legal or juridical obligation, and notice requirements within the meaning of clause
3(¢) of the Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-175 (SOR/DORS).

GENERAL

28.  27-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court

for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

29.  28-THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from

acting as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

30.  29-THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give
effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.
All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to
make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this Court, as may
be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in

carrying out the terms of this Order.

8]

1.  36-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and

empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located,
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for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that
the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within
proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside

Canada.

™
©

31—THIS COURT ORDERS that the PlaintiffApplicant shall have its costs of this
motion, up to and including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the
PlaintiffApplicant’s security or, if not so provided by the Plaintiff'sApplicants security, then on a
substantial indemnity basis to be paid by the Receiver from the Debtor's estate with such priority

and at such time as this Court may determine.

\98)

3. 32-THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or

amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party

likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order.
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SCHEDULE "A"
RECEIVER CERTIFICATE
CERTIFICATE NO.
AMOUNT §

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that {RECEINVER' S NAMEmsi Spergel Inc., the receiver (the
"“Receiver"”) of the assets, undertakings and properties {DEBTOR'S NAME} acquiredfor—or

used-inrelationto-a-business-earried-on-by-the Debter2314251 Ontario Inc., including all proceeds
thereof (collectively, the “Property”) appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice

(Commercial List) (the ““Court"”) dated the —30" day of August, 26—2022 (the

*Order™”) made in an action having Court file number —CV-22-00685439-00CL—— —, has

received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate (the “““Lender"”) the principal sum of
$ , being part of the total principal sum of § which the Receiver is

authorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with
interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the day of
each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of per cent

above the prime commercial lending rate of The Toronto-Dominion Bank-ef—— from time

to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the
principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the
Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to
the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the
Order and in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself

out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4. All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at the

main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5. Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating

charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver
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to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written consent of the holder

of this certificate.

6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with
the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the
Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any sum

in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the day of , 20

RECENVER'SNAMELMSI SPERGEL INC.
solely in its capacity

as Court-appointed Receiver of 2314251 Ontario
Inc. and the Property, and not in its personal

capacity

Per:
Name:
Title:




164

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK - and - 2314251 ONTARIO INC.. MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ
and KAWSER ZAHAN
Applicant Respondents

Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

(COMMERCIAL LIST)

Proceedings commenced at Toronto

RECEIVERSHIP ORDER

AIRD & BERLIS LIL.P
Barristers and Solicitors
Brookfield Place
181 Bay Street, Suite 1800
Toronto, ON MS5J 2T9
Fax: (416) 863-1515

Kyle Plunkett (L 1044
Tel: (416) 865-3406

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com

Tel: (416) 865-4748
Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: renglish@airdberlis.com
Lawyers for The Toronto-Dominion Bank



mailto:kplunkett@airdberlis.com
mailto:renglish@airdberlis.com

Tab 6



Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)
BETWEEN:
THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK
Applicant

and

2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ and KAWSER ZAHAN

Respondents

APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND
INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED AND SECTION 101 OF THE
COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.0. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

SERVICE LIST

As of August 18, 2022

2314251 ONTARIO INC. MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ
81 Churchill Ave 81 Churchill Ave

North York, ON M2N 1Y8 North York, ON M2N 1Y8
Attention: Mohammad Abdul Hafiz Email: hafiz797@gmail.com

Email: hafiz797@gmail.com

KAWSER ZAHAN JACK FRYMER PROFESSIONAL
81 Churchill Avenue CORPORATION
North York, ON M2N 1Y8 5255 Yonge Street, Suite 1300

Toronto, ON M2N 6P4

Jack Frymer

Tel:  (416) 446-1200

Fax: (416) 446-1201
Email: jfrymer@ynlclaw.com

Lawyers for 2314251 Ontario Inc.



mailto:hafiz797@gmail.com
mailto:hafiz797@gmail.com
mailto:jfrymer@ynlclaw.com

MSI SPERGEL INC. HARRISON PENSA

509 Consumers Road, Suite 200 130 Dufferin Avenue, Suite 1101
North York, ON M2J 4Vv8 London, ON N6A 5R2
Mukul Machanda Tim Hogan (36553S)
Tel:  (416) 498-4314 Tel:  (519) 661-6743
Email: mmanchanda@spergel.ca Email: thogan@harrisonpensa.com
Receiver Lawyers for the proposed receiver, msi Spergel
Inc.
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AIRD & BERLIS LLP
(CANADA) Brookfield Place
Ontario Regional Office 181 Bay St, Suite 1800
Tax Law Section Toronto, ON M5J 2T9
120 Adelaide St W, Suite 400
Toronto, ON M5H 1T1 Kyle Plunkett (61044N)
Tel:  (416) 865-3406
Diane Winters Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com
Tel:  (647) 256-7459
Email: diane.winters@justice.gc.ca D. Robb English (19862F)

Tel:  (416) 865-4748
Email: renglish@airdberlis.com

Lawyers for The Toronto-Dominion Bank

ONTARIO MINISTRY OF FINANCE BANK OF MONTREAL
Insolvency Unit 475 Queen Street South
33 King Street West, 6th Floor Bolton, ON L7E 2B5
Oshawa, ON L1H 8H5

Leslie Crawford

Tel:  (905) 433-5657

Email: leslie.crawford@ontario.ca
Email: Insolvency.Unit@ontario.ca



mailto:mmanchanda@spergel.ca
mailto:thogan@harrisonpensa.com
mailto:diane.winters@justice.gc.ca
mailto:kplunkett@airdberlis.com
mailto:renglish@airdberlis.com
mailto:leslie.crawford@ontario.ca
mailto:Insolvency.Unit@ontario.ca

PARKLAND FUEL CORPORATION
1155, boulevard René-Lévesque Ouest
32e étage

Montréal, QC H3B 0C9

Jonathan Chiasson
Tel:  (514) 499-6017
Email: jonathan.chiasson@parkland.ca

CANADA REVENUE AGENCY
1 Front Street West
Toronto, ON M5J 2X6

Pat Confalone

Tel: (416) 954-6514

Fax: (416) 964-6411

Email: pat.confalone@cra-arc.gc.ca

Sandra Palma
Email: sandra.palma@cra-arc.gc.ca



mailto:jonathan.chiasson@parkland.ca
mailto:pat.confalone@cra-arc.gc.ca
mailto:sandra.palma@cra-arc.gc.ca

EMAIL ADDRESS LIST

Kplunkett@airdberlis.com;
renglish@airdberlis.com;
mmanchanda@spergel.ca;
diane.winters@justice.gc.ca;
Insolvency.Unit@ontario.ca;
leslie.crawford@ontario.ca;
hafiz797@gmail.com;
jfrymer@ynliclaw.com;
thogan@harrisonpensa.com;
jonathan.chiasson@parkland.ca
pat.confalone@cra-arc.gc.ca
sandra.palma@cra-arc.gc.ca

49842049.1


mailto:kplunkett@airdberlis.com
mailto:renglish@airdberlis.com
mailto:mmanchanda@spergel.ca
mailto:diane.winters@justice.gc.ca
mailto:Insolvency.Unit@ontario.ca
mailto:leslie.crawford@ontario.ca
mailto:hafiz797@gmail.com
mailto:jfrymer@ynlclaw.com
mailto:thogan@harrisonpensa.com
mailto:jonathan.chiasson@parkland.ca
mailto:pat.confalone@cra-arc.gc.ca
mailto:sandra.palma@cra-arc.gc.ca

THE TORONTO-DOMINION BANK

Applicant

-and -

2314251 ONTARIO INC., MOHAMMAD ABDUL HAFIZ
and KAWSER ZAHAN

Respondents
Court File No. CV-22-00685439-00CL

49841194.1

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

Proceedings commenced at Toronto

APPLICATION RECORD

AIRD & BERLIS LLP
Barristers and Solicitors
Brookfield Place

181 Bay Street, Suite 1800
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9

Kyle Plunkett (LSO # 61044N)
Tel:  (416) 865-3406

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com

D. Robb English (LSO # 19862F)
Tel:  (416) 865-4748

Fax: (416) 863-1515

Email: renglish@airdberlis.com

Lawyers for the Applicant, The Toronto-Dominion Bank



	1 Notice of Application (issued August 12, 2022)
	2 Affidavit of Amanda Bezner (sworn July 28, 2022)
	Exhibit “A” – Corporate Profile – 2314251 Ontario Inc.
	Exhibit “B” – Letter Agreement (dated November 17, 2021)
	Exhibit “C” – Collateral Mortgage registered January 4, 2022
	Exhibit “D” – General Assignment of Rents registered January 4, 2022
	Exhibit “E” – General Security Agreement dated December 6, 2021
	Exhibit “F” – PPSA Search
	Exhibit “G” – Parcel register for 26233 Highway 48, Sutton, Ontario
	Exhibit “H” – Guarantee dated December 6, 2021 from Hafiz
	Exhibit “I” – Guarantee dated December 6, 2021 granted by Zahan
	Exhibit “J” – Financial Statements year ending December 31,2021
	Exhibit “K” – Photograph
	Exhibit “L” – Demand Letter/BIA Notice to 2314251 Ontario Inc.
	Exhibit “M” – Demand Letter to Hafiz
	Exhibit “N” – Demand Letter to Zahan

	3 Consent of Receiver
	4 Draft Order
	5 Blackline of Draft Order Against Model Order
	6 Service List



